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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM (THE “GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to
invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Creative China Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, include particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no
other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Creative China
Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | hereby present the annual
report of the Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2020.

REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2020 (“Year 2020”), the
Group recorded a revenue of approximately RMB45.7 million.
Revenue decreased by 5.1% over approximately RMB48.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2019 (“Year 2019”). The
Group recorded profit attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately RMB20.0 million, representing an increase of
approximately 1,138% as comparing to approximately RMB1.6
million in Year 2019. Program production, mobile live broadcasting
and e-commerce and artist management segments recorded
reportable segment profit. The significant increase for Year 2020
was primarily attributable to (1) transfer of original movie script
copyright; (2) online advertising; and (3) relevant business derived
from artist management.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s equity attributable to
owners of the Company amounted to approximately RMB67.5
million (as at 31 December 2019: approximately RMB38.1 million).

During the film and television industry craze between 2015 and
2017, the industry witnessed a spectacular boom with huge
influx of capital and historical supply. From 2018 to 2019, certain
policies were imposed, such as salary cap orders and back taxes
payments, led to capital flow ebb and devastated the industry
amid thousands of film and television companies close down.
Filming and production record-filings slumped across the country.
The ongoing global novel coronavirus disease (“COVID-19”)
pandemic in 2020 has led to uncertainties in the macroeconomic
environment and brought unprecedented challenges to the world.
The entertainment industry suffered disruptions early in the year
under the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, but has experienced
a gradual recovery since mid-2020. The Group believes crisis
creates opportunity. We successfully leveraged our own resources
within the film and television industry chain to expand the program
production segment to cover business related to TV serial
programs and movies.
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The film and television industry chain comprises original creation,
production, publishing, box office operation, and cinema/platform,
collectively representing the economic ecosystem in which
companies in the flm and television industry are interconnected.
In view of fierce competition as well as tight capital availability
in the market due to the ongoing tough policies implemented
by the relevant authorities, the Group exercised caution in
selecting segments with lower capital entry barriers within the
industry chain to expand its business. For a long time since
its establishment, the Group has been producing television
and online program content and provide one-stop production
services based on client requirements, including program pre-
production planning, creativity, production, editing, promotion,
as well as overall management and coordination of the entire
programme production process. In recent years, the Group has
leveraged its own production experience and related resources
to expand the program production segment to original creation,
adaptation, production, publishing and related services. In the film
and television industry chain, and in 2019 published its first serial
program and in 2020 transferred its self-developed original movie
script copyright to a renowned film and television company. The
Group will first focus on the three major businesses in the fim
and television industry chain, namely project planning and script
creation, production, and publishing. Subsequent to the Group’s
distribution of TV serial program in 2019, the Group commenced
in film and TV serial program planning and script creation in 2020,
providing a foundation for the Group to expand to production of
film and TV serial program business in the future.

The Group creates and designs event programs and produces
marketing and promotion plans based on client specifications,
and also collaborates with various working teams within the
industry. In recent years, we have expanded from providing
event organising services for public events (such as award
ceremonies, movie publicity events, commercial events)
and private events, to successfully organising numerous
celebrity concerts in Hong Kong, Taipei, Bangkok and other
Southeast Asian regions for artists including Wilber Pan
(& 1H), BTOB (Born to Beat), SEVENTEEN, NU’EST W, APINK,
Jessica Jung, Lee Joon-gi, NU’EST, and Jay Park. Due to the
pandemic, numerous concerts that had been scheduled to be held
in 2020 had to be cancelled and postponed, leading to a decrease
in the Group’s revenue from the event organisation segment.
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Over the years, the Group has dedicated efforts towards the
mobile live broadcasting and e-commerce segment, and has
established a dedicated information technology team responsible
for technical support such as research and development,
planning, operations and maintenance, design, and products. The
mobile live broadcasting and e-commerce segment possesses
smart mobile-end application development capacity, and has
successfully developed its own mobile video live broadcasting
technology, online transaction payment technology and technology
for simultaneously playing video and completing payment without
page redirection, which has been applied in “Great Star”, the
Group’s self-developed mobile-end application, and the Hong
Kong mobile application “Aiwoo”, an application providing
online fans and celebrities with online tools for engagement and
interaction, for which the Group obtained operating rights in the
PRC in 2019. Having our own professional information technology
team, the Group will expand into development of customised
applications.

With advancements in internet technology, the fan economy of the
entertainment industry has also experienced significant changes.
Based on industry experience and resources accumulated over
years of operations in the entertainment industry, the Group has
dedicated efforts in building a fan-focused, content-driven platform
for fan-celebrity interaction. In recent years, celebrities have turned
from maintaining public social media accounts to publishing paid
content, rewarding fans with exclusive online fan-service. Exclusive
paid services feature original and creative interaction rather than
regular and one-way content, which taps into the core fanbase
to create an impetus for sustainable development. The Group is
gradually optimising and integrating “Great Star” and “Aiwoo” with
self-developed technology, adding fan-celebrity online interaction
elements, which can be used to bridge promotion and planning
businesses for more of our contracted artists.

In preparation for the upcoming Tokyo Olympics, the Group has
created a fan page for our contracted world champion athletes
of the Group on the mobile application. The Group believes that
the broadcast of related exclusive information on the platform will
drive the mobile application’s traffic, in turn increasing the number
of active registered users, which will provide positive support
for the development of the mobile live broadcasting and online
entertainment e-commerce segment.
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The artist management segment, which the Group commenced in
2018, has introduced world champion athletes, renowned artists
and trainees to join the Group. During the year, we successfully
arranged engagements including commercial contracts,
endorsements, and promotions for our contracted world champion
athletes and renowned artists, which generated considerable
revenue for the Group.

OUTLOOK

With consistent strategy execution, based on the integrated sales
model, the Group leverages its own wealth of experience and
resources in content creation, promotion, planning, contracted
artists and internet mobile-end applications, continues to strive
to explore business opportunities to expand operations and
further develop sustainable businesses, including (1) production
and distribution of movies, serial programs, online drama, variety
programs; (2) develop original film and television content in
collaboration with various film and television production companies
and studios; and (3) expand of more athletes and artists resources.

In Year 2020, the Group committed more resources in preparation
for future businesses, including (1) entering into relevant creation,
pre-production planning and production management contracts
for a variety program, a movie, two online dramas and two serial
programs; (2) to facilitate on distribution of two serial programs;
(8) entered into cooperation agreements with renowned artists
to expand the artist management segment; (4) expanded and
promoted our fan-celebrity interaction platform; and (5) introduced
a handful of newly contracted traninees to the Group. Management
will work to facilitate project progress subject to actual pandemic
conditions.

Subject to uncertainties in the pandemic recovery situation, it
is expected that the earliest scheduled concerts to be held in
May 2021 as well as other planned concert tours in Hong Kong,
Taiwan and Southeast Asia will be postponed to the second half
of 2021 and 2022 at the earliest. The Group will arrange more
commercial activities for our newly contracted artists and athletes,
development of film and television projects, as well as expanding
efforts in research and development of the internet mobile and
entertainment e-commerce application, will allow the Group to
generate more revenue.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our appreciation
to the Group’s employees for their hard work and contributions
during the past year.

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has caused devastating
changes to consumption patterns and consumer behaviour, which
means 2021 will be an even more challenging year. With a solid
business foundation and through the efforts of our entire staff, |
believe that the Group will overcome these tough times, working
even harder to create greater shareholder value and revenue.

Philip Jian Yang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2021
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Unless otherwise specified, the figures stated in the
following review are extracted from the audited financial
figures of the continuing operations of the Group:

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2020 (“Year 2020”),
the Group recorded revenue of approximately RMB45.7
million, representing an decrease of approximately 5.1%
over approximately RMB48.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2019 (“Year 2019”). The decrease in revenue
was mainly due to the combined effect of (i) decrease
in revenue from program production and concert and
organisation segments; and (ii) increase in revenue from
mobile live broadcasting and e-commerce and artist
management segments.

Gross profit

For Year 2020, the Group recorded gross profit of
RMB39.6 million, representing an increase of approximately
124% over RMB17.6 million recorded in Year 2019. The
increase in gross profit was mainly due to the sale of an
original movie script copyright, publishing of advertisements
and commercial engagements being arranged for our
contracted artists and related content production.

Other income

Other revenue of the Group decreased from approximately
RMB1.0 million in Year 2019 to approximately RMBO0.4
million in Year 2020, mainly due to the absence of reversal
of financial component for the year.

Expenses

For Year 2020, selling and distribution costs amounted
to approximately RMB1.0 million, as comparing to
approximately RMB2.6 million (decreased by approximately
62.9%) from Year 2019, mainly due to less expenses
incurred from the mobile live broadcasting and e-commerce
segments.

For Year 2020, administrative expenses amounted to
approximately RMB13.6 million (Year 2019: approximately
15.7 million), representing a decrease of approximately
13.3%, mainly due to the decrease in professional fees and
a decrease in mobility leading to the decrease in related
travelling expenses.
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Income tax expenses

The Group’s income tax expenses amounted to
approximately RMB76,000 for Year 2020, and
approximately RMB260,000 for Year 2019. Income tax
expenses for Year 2020 were due to profits arising from
the sale of an original movie script copyright and publishing
of advertisements, which were set off with losses carried
forward, as well as payments on under provision of
enterprise income tax in Year 2019. Accordingly, no
significant provision was made for Hong Kong profits tax
and PRC enterprise income tax in Year 2020. Income tax
expenses for Year 2019 were arising from the program
production segment. PRC enterprise income tax for
subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC is calculated at 25%
on assessable profits during the year. Hong Kong profit
tax is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the
estimated assessable profit and 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profit above HK$2 million during the year. The
income tax expenses recognised in the relevant periods are
in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations.

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company
for the year

The Group’s profit attributable to owners of the Company
amounted to approximately RMB20.0 million, while for
Year 2019 the Group’s profit attributable to owners of the
Company was approximately RMB1.6 million (including
financial results from discontinued operations in Year 2019).
The increase in profit attributable to owners of the
Company was mainly attributable to (1) transfer of original
movie script copyright; (2) online advertising and (3) relevant
business derived from artist management.
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Financial resources, liquidity and capital structure

For Year 2020, the Group continued to finance its working
capital through cash flows generated from operating
activities, shareholders’ loan and shareholders’ equity. As
at 31 December 2020, the Group had net current assets
of approximately RMB109.3 million (as at 31 December
2019: approximately RMB75.6 million) including cash
and cash equivalents of approximately RMB11.4 million
(as at 31 December 2019: approximately RMB11.5
million). The increase in net current assets was due to the
Group’s involvement in creation, pre-production planning
and production management projects. The current ratio,
calculated as the ratio of current assets to current liabilities,
was approximately 2.03 times as at 31 December 2020 (as
at 31 December 2019: approximately 1.7 times). The capital
of the Group comprises solely of ordinary shares. Total
equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately RMB67.5 million as at 31 December 2020 (as
at 31 December 2019: approximately RMB38.1 million). The
gearing ratio was 16.35%. (For details, please refer to note
34 to the consolidated financial statements.)

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

The Group is principally engaged in the businesses
of (i) program production, film and television program
pre-production, distribution and related services, (i) concert
and event organisation, (i) mobile live broadcasting and
e-commerce; and (iv) artist management.

Program production and related services

The Group’s revenue from program production and related
services amounted to approximately RMB18.3 million for
Year 2020 and approximately RMB34.9 million for the
corresponding period last year. The decrease was mainly
due to the postpone of the negotiation of licensing the
broadcasting rights, amid the temporary suspension of the
entertainment industry operations during the beginning of
the year as a result of the pandemic of coronavirus disease
2019 (“COVID-19”), whereas the broadcasting rights of a
serial program has been licensed in 2019.

In recent years, the Group has leveraged its own production
experience and related resources to expand the program
production segment to original script creation, adaptation,
production, licensing, and related services. In the film and
television industry chain, and in 2019 distributed its first
serial program and in 2020 transferred its self-developed
original movie script copyright to a renowned film and
television company.
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Due to the novel coronavirus outbreak, the entertainment
industry was disrupted since early in the year with no actual
timeline for resumption yet. The outbreak has delayed the
licensing of broadcasting rights to two serial programs of
the Group which was expected to be completed during the
year. One of the serial programs was included on the list for
the celebration of the 70th anniversary of the PRC by the
National Radio and Television Administration. Management
will work to facilitate their publishing subject to actual
pandemic conditions.

During the year, the Group entered into agreements in
relation to the adaptation, creation, and pre-production
planning of films and television programs, including (1) two
serial programs of approximately 12 and 65 episodes of
urban and period drama respectively; (2) two online dramas
of approximately 36 episodes; (3) a movie of approximately
120 minutes; and (4) a reality variety program.

The Group actively collaborates with more film and
television production companies in the PRC engaging in
the creation of film and television intellectual property, in
order to obtain more potential resources and reserves of
television programs, online dramas and movies in future.
In the future, the Group will adapt, create and improve the
pre-planning of film and television projects, and facilitate
to promote the transfer of copyright of original script, and
cooperate with major online video platforms to produce
custom made and contractual movies and programs.

Concert and Event Organisation

Revenue from the event organisation segment decreased
from approximately RMB9.5 million to approximately
RMB1.2 million for Year 2020 (approximately 87.8%).
The decrease was mainly due to the global suspension of
concerts under the novel coronavirus outbreak.

The Group has entered into agreements to organise over
283 concerts (including K-pop artists and a renowned
top singer from the PRC), which are expected to be
rescheduled once the pandemic is under control.
As “K-pop” remains popular, we have been building
relationships with agencies for renowned Korean artists,
and we hope to re-introduce the Korean wave into
Mainland China at the appropriate time. We believe that the
business opportunities in the Mainland China market for
Korean artists (including fan meetings, concerts and other
commercial activities) will contribute additional income
sources for the Group at various levels, including but not
limited to ticketing sales, advertising sponsorships, internet
content promotion and sales of peripheral merchandise.
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The Group anticipates that concerts to be organised will
achieve positive results in future.

Mobile Live Broadcasting and E-commerce

Revenue from the mobile live broadcasting and
e-commerce segment amounted to approximately
RMB13.6 million for Year 2020, while no such revenue
was recorded for the Year 2019. Under the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic, revenue was generated from online
advertising on streaming media.

During the year 2020, the Group has entered into
an agreement in relation to a development of mobile
application. Due to mandatory quarantine and restrictions
being imposed in Mainland China. Hong Kong and Taiwan
under the pandemic, the transfer of mobile application has
been postponed. Subject to the situation of the recovery of
COVID-19, the management will use its best endeavor to
liaise with the customer.

With advancements in internet technology, the fan
economy of the entertainment industry has also
experienced significant changes. Based on industry
experience and resources accumulated over years of
operations in the entertainment industry, the Group has
dedicated efforts in building a fan-focused, content-driven
platform for fan-celebrity interaction. In recent years,
celebrities have turned from maintaining public social
media accounts to publishing paid content, rewarding fans
with exclusive online fan-service. Exclusive paid services
feature original and creative interaction rather than regular
and one-way content, which taps into the core fanbase to
create an impetus for sustainable development. The Group
is gradually optimising and integrating “Great Star” and
“Aiwoo” with self-developed technology, implementing fan-
celebrity online interaction elements, which can be used to
bridge promotion and planning businesses for more of our
contracted artists.

In preparation for the upcoming Tokyo Olympics, the Group
has created a fan-page for our contracted world champion
athletes by the Group on the mobile application. The Group
believes that the broadcast of related exclusive information
on the platform will drive the mobile application’s traffic,
in turn increasing the number of active registered users,
which will provide positive support for the development
of the mobile live broadcasting and online entertainment
e-commerce segment.
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On 20 July 2020, the Group and China General Chamber
of Commerce (“CGCC”), an organisation under the
State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the State Council, entered into a non-legally
binding strategic cooperation framework agreement (the
“Framework Agreement”).

Under the Cooperation Agreement, the Company and
CGCC might establish a cooperative company based
on the requirement of projects. The Group, as a partner,
shall responsible for integration of the operations
and implementation for all mobile live broadcast and
e-commerce online projects, including but not limited to
Internet e-commerce resources, celebrities and artistes
invitation, multi-channel network organisation operation and
maintenance, project training, event planning, marketing
and other related businesses.

CGCC is a national non-profit organisation registered with
the Ministry of Civil Affairs and has the status of a non-
profit organisation legal capacity. It is affiliated to the State-
owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission
of the State Council with members engaging in commodity
production, commodity circulation, food and beverage
and service industry sectors. CGCC has more than 3,400
and more than 80,000 direct members and indirect
members respectively. It manages 39 national professional
associations, including media shopping professional
committee*, chinese time-honoured brand committee*,
procurement association branch*, outlet association
branch*, shopping center association branch*, retail
supplier committee®, e-commerce association branch®,
commodity trading market committee®, trade and logistics
committee™, health and beauty Industry committee®,
wedding industry committee®, luxury jewellery committee®,
maternal and child industry association branch* and other
industry associations, covering enterprises and institutions
in commodity production, commodity circulation, catering
and service industries. CGCC is an alliance of the Asia-
Pacific Retailers Association and the member of the Forum
for International Retail Association Executives.

* For identification purpose only
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The Group has established an experienced team and
a good reputation and has a wide range of synergistic
resources through providing planning and promotion as
well as integration of resources and marketing services
to a number of domestic and foreign companies in
Mainland China. The cooperation with the CGCC further
acknowledge the capabilities and experience of the Group
and the team. The Group believes this is an extraordinary
opportunity to expand its market share. At the same time,
the Group and the CGCC will be able to mobilise their
respective advantageous resources, generate synergies,
empower future development and create values.

As of the date of this report, no legally binding arrangements
have been entered into.

The cooperation did not constitute a notifiable transaction
of the Company.

Artist Management

Revenue amounted to approximately RMB12.6 million for
the year ended 31 December 2020 and approximately
RMB3.8 million for the corresponding period last year.
The increase was mainly due to commercial activities for
our contracted world champion athletes and artists being
arranged through the Group, including advertisements,
commercials, promotions and endorsements.

In Year 2020, the Group entered into promotional services
contracts with several customers for arranging jobs for our
contracted artists. The management recognised relevant
contracts in a mix of gross and net basis based on the
facts and circumstances of specific transactions. The total
contracted amount was approximately RMB23.7 million for
the year. During the year, the Group recorded revenue of
approximately RMB12.6 million.
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On 18 November 2020, Beijing Octagons Impact
Communications Co. Ltd. (“Octagons Impact”), an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into an
equity transfer agreement (the “Transfer Agreement”) and a
trademark licensing agreement (the “Licensing Agreement”)
with two companies under a renowned artist of the PRC
(“Artist Company A” and “Artist Company B”, collectively
the “Artist Companies”), respectively. The artist and the
Artist Companies and its ultimate beneficial owners are
independent third parties of and not connected with the
Company and its connected persons. Octagons Impact
transferred 50% of its equity to Artist Company A at
consideration of RMB1, while Artist Company B licensed
to Octagons Impact the exclusive rights of approved
registered merchandise and/or services (excluding apparel)
(“Licensed Products”) under its registered trademark
at nil consideration. Artist Company B has the rights to
use such trademark for its own purposes. The licensed
geographical region covers Mainland China and Octagons
Impact has the priority to obtain the licensing rights if
other regions are subsequently added to coverage. The
licensing period is for a term of 10 years from the date
of the licensing agreement, 18 November 2020, to 17
November 2030. Octagons Impact will be responsible for
the entire marketing of the Licensed Products, including
development, production, and sales. The licensing scope
of each Licensed Products and its commercial value and
corresponding revenue being generated are subject to
separate agreements to be entered into by both parties.
The purpose of the Licensing Agreement is to specify the
intention and direction of cooperation between the parties
and to serve as a basis for both negotiations. As of the
reporting date, both parties have not entered into any
binding agreement in respect of any items. The transaction
is based on the net asset value of Octagons Impact being
net liabilities, nil revenue for the period as well as incurring
a loss, no specific design, production and sales history
for products to Octagons Impact prior to entering into
the agreement, and future working capital requirements.
Upon completion of the transaction, Octagons Impact has
become an associate of the Company. The disposal did
not constitute a notifiable transaction.
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The Artist Companies are limited companies incorporated
in Mainland China engaging in entertainment industry
businesses, investment and asset management. The Artist
Companies are controlled by a renowned actor and singer
of Mainland China. He participated frequently in variety
programs and was the lead in various serial programs
of the PRC published by renowned online platforms and
television stations of the PRC.

In the past, the Group has been successful in providing
planning, promotional, advertising, resource integration
and marketing services in Mainland China to several
domestic and foreign companies, and has established
an experienced team and good reputation as well as
having extensive synergistic resources in this segment.
In this cooperation with the Artist Companies, the
Group will devote its wealth of resources from its own
businesses and collaborate with his celebrity brand to
leverage the resources to achieve synergy. We hope
to leverage on the experience of the artist as well as
his reputation and influence in the entertainment and
film and television industry in the PRC, discover quality
young artists and trainees through Mainland variety
programs and commercial activities, and in turn build an
idol group in the PRC, expanding the artist management
segment through variety program and serial program
appearances, commercial performances and commercial
endorsements, which will synergise with the development
of other segments, and through commercialised operating
model planning, expand event organisation, commercial
performances, variety performances, training and
promotion, and even development and sales of derivative
peripheral products, thus achieving synergistic business
opportunities in program production, planning, promotion,
event organisation, expansion of film and television
segment, e-commerce and so on for the Group.

The equity transfer was completed on 30 November 2020.

The Group also introduced a renowned artist and various
young trainees to join the Group during the period. The
young trainees are professional street dancers who have
won awards in national street dance competitions. With the
International Olympic Committee added breakdance as an
official Olympic event in 2024, the Group believes that the
popularity of breakdance, whether as a competitive sport,
variety entertainment or to create new opportunities for
commercial activities, will be pushed to new heights.

Creative China Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2020

on and Analysis

BARARRPBEAMAKY 2 BREERFLERRIRE
TEEYR REANMBEER - ZBARRRPEKRENS
BB RRTFAES - B ZR2EAFEALHEETER
BRAHEHNPESEEN R MEMATRSHTRE -

AEBBEEFEAMKINAZRBEARIA FHRH RS
EEEREREAEHERY  EXBTEHCEL TER
CENERLRFNOE  YHEREZNHBRER - BX
HEARNRAE  AEEBUABSXEBNEEER  Ba
HPAERE  UBEABZNERELHFRNIE - BBZ
EANERAERRRERTZRITENNBERTES
HERBNMAREHE LB RS AEZRBEEFTEA
REREBE - BMITERTENEGER - BRGEHA T
REBRE FRERBBRET  {MEAZEALLEHR
B FTEHHAEBER  BBARXELRALAE - AR
A BERD  ABEY  BIIREE - UETERES
BmMFENEESS  EERRERAKENE B EE - K
3 HE RHER PREEXEFHROBEXBSES
15 [R 3 R A

BEEEEN T _TFT—A=1THTK °

AN - RERBR ARSI A EFEA RS FERE L
B FERBERBEGRSEL  EN2EHELENSE
BIE - FEERRMNCRZERN T _FMLEREER
BERTA2ERA A AKEREEHLEHRNT R
TEREVE  SEREFEABHBINNTOEE - I
BRI -



As the 2020 Tokyo Summer Olympics is set to be held in
July 2021, the commercial value of world champion athletes
will increase. The Group believes that signing renowned
world champion athletes would generate significant
revenue for the Group. The Group will continue to seek
opportunities for artists to work with clients or brands, as
well as manage and promote our artists, trainees and star
athletes, in order to create greater commercial value and
revenue for the Group.

Despite various external challenges facing the Group’s
businesses, the Group is confident that under the
leadership of our experienced management and the strong
teams formed by the seasoned staff, the Group will be able
to overcome any and all challenges. The Group believes
that our businesses will continue to improve with the
support of various business opportunities currently under
exploration.

Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of 28
employees (2019: 30). The decrease was mainly due staff
resignations in the fourth quarter while suitable candidates
for replacements have yet to be found. The Group
remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and the prevailing market situation. Their
remuneration packages are normally renewed on an annual
basis, based on performance appraisals and other relevant
factors. The Group may pay discretionary bonuses to its
employees based on individual performance.

Foreign exchange risks

Regular sales and purchases of the Group are mainly
conducted in RMB. The Group will review and monitor the
risk relating to foreign exchanges.

Capital expenditure

The Group paid approximately RMB37,000 for the addition
of property, plant and equipment during Year 2020 (Year
2019: approximately RMB1.3 million (for continuing
operations)).
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Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had capital
commitments of RMB52.3 million (Year 2019: Nil) (Note 36).

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities.

Significant investments, material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies

Save for the share subscription and the equity disposal of
Octagons Impact disclosed above, there were no other
significant investments held as at 31 December 2020 (as
at 31 December 2019: nil) nor other material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries or affiliated companies made
by the Group during Year 2020 (Year 2019: significant and
connected transaction relating to disposal of 19.25% of
equity interest of Capital Land Digital Entertainment Co.
Ltd.).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board and the management of the Company are
committed to establishing good corporate governance
practices and procedures. The Company believes that
good corporate governance provides a framework that is
essential for effective management, successful business
growth and a healthy corporate culture, thereby leading to
the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

The Board has adopted the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM
Listing Rules. Continuous efforts are made to review
and enhance the Group’s risk management and internal
controls and procedures in light of changes in regulations
and developments in best practices. To us, maintaining
high standards of corporate governance practices is not
just complying with the provisions but also the intent of
the regulations to enhance corporate performance and
accountability.

The Board is pleased to report compliance with the code
provisions of the CG Code for the year ended 31 December
2020, except where otherwise stated.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules as the code of conduct for dealing in
securities of the Company by the directors (the “Required
Standard of Dealings”). The Company has confirmed,
having made specific enquiry of the directors, all the
directors have complied with the Required Standard of
Dealings throughout the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board comprises:

Executive directors:
Mr. Philip Jian Yang (Chairman)
Ms. Yang Jianping

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Yang Shiyuan

Mr. Ge Xuyu

Mr. Wang Yong

Independent non-executive directors:
Ms. Fu Yuehong

Mr. Yau Yan Yuen

Mr. Tan Song Kwang
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Report

An updated list of directors and their role and functions is
maintained at the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange and the independent non-executive directors are
identified by name in all corporate communications.

Each independent non-executive director has given
an annual confirmation of his/her independence to the
Company, and the Company considers them to be
independent under Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, nine Board
meetings and one annual general meeting (“2020 AGM”)
were held and the attendance of each director is set out as
follows:

Name of director

EEHR

Mr. Philip Jian Yang 5 &5t 4
Ms. Yang Jianping $52F 2+
Mr. Yang Shiyuan St iz 54
Mr. Ge Xuyu BEF 54

Mr. Wang Yong ;T B 5t

Ms. Fu Yuehong & B4T 22+

Mr. Tan Song Kwang FR¥2 3 55 4
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen SRR %4

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

All the Directors (including the independent non-executive
directors) have acquired a proper understanding of the
Company’s operation and business and are fully aware
of his/her functions and responsibilities under statute
and common law, the GEM Listing Rules and other
applicable legal and regulatory requirements. Every director
has given the Company the details on the number and
nature of offices held in other companies and significant
commitments at the time of his/her appointment.
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during the year ended 31 December 2020
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The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the
Group and be collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Group by directing and supervising the
Group’s affairs. The Board focuses on formulating the
Group’s overall strategies, authorising the development
plan and budget; monitoring financial and operating
performance; reviewing the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems; supervising
and managing management’s performance of the Group;
and setting the Group’s values and standards. Though
the Board delegates the day-to-day management,
administration and operation of the Group to management,
all the directors continue to give sufficient time and
attention to the Company’s affairs. The delegated functions
are reviewed by the Board periodically to ensure that they
accommodate the needs of the Group.

Apart from the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee (as defined below), the
Company did not set up any other board committees for
dealing with any matters during the year.

The Company has in force appropriate insurance coverage
on Director’s and officer’s liabilities arising from the Group’s
business. The Company reviews the extent of insurance
coverage on an annual basis.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established
and the Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions such as developing and reviewing the
Company’s policies, practices on corporate governance,
training and continuous professional development of the
directors and senior management, the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, etc.

The Board holds meetings from time to time whenever
necessary. At least 14 days notice of regular Board
meetings would be given to all directors and they can
include matters for discussion in the agenda as they think
fit. The agenda accompanying Board papers would be
sent to all directors at least 3 days before the date of every
Board meeting in order to allow sufficient time for the
directors to review the documents. The Chairman would
also ensure that all directors are properly briefed on matters
arising at board meetings.
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Minutes of every Board meeting are circulated to
all directors for their perusal and comments prior to
confirmation of the minutes. The duly signed minutes are
open for inspection by any director. The Board also ensures
that it is supplied in a timely manner with all necessary
information in a form and of a quality appropriate to enable
it to discharge its duties.

Every Board member has full access to the advice and
services of the company secretary with a view to ensuring
that Board procedures, and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed. The Board members are enabled
to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense, to assist them
to discharge their duties. They are also entitled to have full
access to Board papers and related materials so that they
are able to make an informed decision and to discharge
their duties and responsibilities.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Philip Jian Yang is the Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company and is responsible
for the overall operations, management, business
development and strategy planning of the Group.

The Chairman also takes the lead to ensure that the
Board works effectively and acts in the best interest of the
Company by encouraging the directors to make active
contribution in Board’s affairs and promoting a culture of
openness and debate.

The Board is of the view that although Mr. Yang is both
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer, the balance of
power and authority is ensured by the operation of the
Board, which comprises experienced individuals who
would meet from time to time to discuss issues affecting
operation of the Company.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

The current Articles of Association of the Company (the
“Articles”) provide that at each annual general meeting,
one-third of the directors for the time being shall retire from
office by rotation and that every director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every 3 years.
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The non-executive directors are not appointed for a specific
term but they are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting in accordance with
the Articles. Each independent non-executive director is
required to inform the Company as soon as practicable if
there is any change that may affect his independence and
must provide an annual confirmation of his independence to
the Company. Up to the date of this report, no independent
non-executive director has served the Company more than
9 years.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To assist directors’ continuing professional development,
the Company recommends directors to attend relevant
seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. Directors also participate in continuous professional
development programs such as external seminars
organised by qualified professionals, to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills in relation to their contribution
to the Board. Records of the training received by the
respective directors are kept and updated by the company
secretary of the Company.

The individual training record of each director received for
the year ended 31 December 2020 is summarised below:

Name of director

EEHR

Mr. Philip Jian Yang 15 &/ 5c 4
Ms. Yang Jianping 52 2 1
Mr. Yang Shiyuan Stz 54
Mr. Ge Xuyu BBF L4

Mr. Wang Yong ST B 5t

Ms. Fu Yuehong {8241 %+

Mr. Tan Song Kwang FR#2 ¢ 58 4
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen Ef iR 5t 4

All directors also understand the importance of continuous
professional development and are committed to
participating any suitable training to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) was established on 3 November 2015,
currently comprising 3 independent non-executive
directors, namely, Mr. Yau Yan Yuen, Ms. Fu Yuehong and
Mr. Tan Song Kwang. Mr. Yau Yan Yuen is the chairman of
the Audit Committee. No member of the Audit Committee is
a member of the former or existing auditor of the Company.
The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available
at the Company’s website and on the website of the Stock
Exchange.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are
to review and supervise the financial reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems of the Company
and to provide recommendations and advices to the Board
on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
external auditor as well as their terms of appointment.

According to the current terms of reference, meetings of
the Audit Committee shall be held at least four times a year.

Five audit committee meetings were held for the year
ended 31 December 2020. The attendance of each
member is set out as follows:

Name of members of Audit Committee

BERZEEREMR

Mr. Tan Song Kwang BRYANE 5t 4E
Ms. Fu Yuehong {& 4T 2+
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen B3R 4

At the audit committee meetings during the year, in
performing its duties in accordance with its terms of
reference, the work performed by the Audit Committee
includes:

(@ review and supervise the financial reporting process
and internal control system of the Company and its
subsidiaries;

(b) recommendation to the Board, for the approval
by shareholders, of the re-appointment of external

auditor and approval of their remuneration;

(c) determination of the nature and scope of the audit;
and
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(d) review the financial statements for relevant periods
and discuss corporate governance practice.

Draft and final versions of the minutes of the Audit
Committee meetings will be sent to all committee members
for their comment and records within a reasonable time
after the meetings and the full minutes will be kept by the
company secretary who is also the secretary of the Audit
Committee.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to perform its duties and is enabled to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expense, to discharge its responsibilities.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) was established on 3
November 2015, currently comprising three directors,
namely, Ms. Fu Yuehong, Mr. Tan Song Kwang and Ms.
Yang Jianping. Ms. Fu Yuehong is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee. The terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are available at the Company’s
website and on the website of the Stock Exchange.

The roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
include to make recommendation to the Board on the
overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all
directors and senior management of the Group, having
the delegated responsibility to determine the specific
remuneration packages of all executive directors of the
Group and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office
or appointment, and making recommendations to the
Board of the remuneration of the non-executive directors.

During the year, one remuneration committee meeting
was held and the remuneration of the directors and
senior management has been discussed. The members’
attendance is shown as follows:

Name of members of Remuneration Committee

FHEEEREHR

Ms. Fu Yuehong {B 24T &+
Mr. Tan Song Kwang BRI 58 4
Ms. Yang Jianping %5 2+
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The emolument payable to directors depends on their
respective contractual terms under the service contracts
and the appointment letters, and as recommended by
the Remuneration Committee. Details of the directors’
emolument are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties and is enabled to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense, to discharge its
responsibilities.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) was established on 3 November
2015, currently comprising the five directors, namely, Mr.
Philip Jian Yang, Mr. Yau Yan Yuen, Mr. Tan Song Kwang,
Ms. Fu Yuehong and Mr. Ge Xuyu. Mr. Philip Jian Yang
is currently the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available at the Company’s website and on the website of
the Stock Exchange.

The roles and functions of the Nomination Committee
include reviewing the structure, size and composition of
the Board on regular basis, identifying individuals suitably
qualified to become members of the Board, assessing the
independence of the independent non-executive directors
and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors. In considering
the nomination of new directors, the Board will take into
account the qualification, ability, working experience,
leadership and professional ethics of the candidates,
especially their experience in program production and
event organisation and/or other professional areas and the
diversity criteria set out in the board diversity policy of the
Company.

Under the nomination policy, the committee may search
for candidates for directors on an extensive scale in the
Company, its subsidiaries and the job market, gather
information of the preliminary candidates and then shall
submit to the board of directors its recommendations on
candidates for directors and relevant materials prior to the
election of new directors.
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One nomination committee meeting was held during the
year ended 31 December 2020. No change has been
proposed to the structure, size and composition of the
Board during the meeting and the Nomination Committee
had also confirmed the independence of independent
non-executive directors who would be retired and offer
themselves for re-election at 2020 AGM and the diversity of
the Board.

The attendance of each member is set out as follows:

Name of members of Nomination Committee

REZEEREHSR

Mr. Philip Jian Yang 15 &5t 4

Mr. Tan Song Kwang FR#2 ¢ 58 4
Mr. Ge Xuyu BfBFL4E

Ms. Fu Yuehong {8 24T+

Mr. Yau Yan Yuen Ef iR 5t 4

The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to perform its duties and is enabled to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense, to discharge its
responsibilities.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets
out the approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced
development of the Company and also to enhance the
quality of performance of the Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through
the consideration of a number of factors, including but
not limited to age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives as stated in the above. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.
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As at the date of this report, the Board comprises eight
directors. Two of them are women. Three of the directors
are independent non-executive directors and independent
of management, thereby promoting critical review and
control of the management process. The Board is also
characterised by significant diversity, whether considered in
terms of professional background, gender and skills.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The management provides such explanation and
information to the Board and reports regularly to the Board
on financial position and prospects of the business of the
Company so as to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of the financial and other information put
before the Board for approval.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities (as set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report) for preparing the
financial statements of the Group that give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group. The Board was
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and the
Board has prepared the consolidated financial statements
on a going concern basis. The responsibility of the external
auditor is to form an independent opinion, based on their
audit, on those consolidated financial statements prepared
by the Board and to report their opinion to the shareholders
of the Company. A statement by auditor about their
reporting responsibility is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report.

Risk Management and Internal Control systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company and reviewing
their effectiveness. The Board oversees the overall risk
management of the Group and endeavours to identify,
control impact of the identified risks and facilitate
implementation of coordinated mitigating measures. The
risks and the relevant measures have been disclosed in
the report of the directors on page 58 to 89 of this annual
report. The risk management and internal control systems
of the Company are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failures to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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Each department of the Company would choose certain
material risk events in its field every year and assess and
grade the possibility of occurrence and influence of risk
events to determine the scope of material risk of the year
together with the management of the Company. Each
functional department prepares counteractions to deal with
material risks in its field and report the execution situation
regularly.

The Company does not have an internal audit function
and is currently of the view that there is no immediate
need to set up an internal audit function within the Group
in light of the size, nature and complexity of the Group’s
business. It was decided that the Board would be directly
responsible for internal control of the Group and for
reviewing its effectiveness. Procedures have been designed
for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or
disposition, ensuring the maintenance of proper accounting
records for the provision of reliable financial information for
internal use or for publication, and ensuring compliance
with applicable laws, rules and regulations. The situation
will be reviewed from time to time.

The Board reviews the risk management and internal
controls annually. The Board has conducted a review
of, and is satisfied with the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems for the year
ended 31 December 2020 as well as the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programs and budget of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function.

With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside
information, the Company has formulated its guidelines,
with an aim to ensure that the insiders abide by the
confidentiality requirement and fulfill the disclosure
obligation of the inside information.

Corpora

ARBSEIPFINFFEHGREBEEIE TEANRR
= YREREFOBRLEARELREZEELFTGELD
B UMEARFREEERAZFIEARRNEE - &
R A PTG Rt IR IR H 4R v ERRBREREE 7% R
ERHREBRBOBITIENR

AEEY EABBELZNELARREENAREELE 2R
BB RERN - BENSNASERRLADEZ
WiE - AEERETEEHEFEREARE 2 AREEY

FEMEBEE - WEHIFIEF AR IEEERGEEEFEA NN

€ ﬁ@ﬁ%??%ﬁlEﬁﬁuEf?L&%Eﬁi_T aﬁfzé§*+fFPﬁ4ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ‘R
TT*ﬁu—JL

E=2EFRTEREERANBERESE HE_T T

FHoA=+T—RALFE EFeCRiAREENRAE
ERFIEHRR - WRERTENEE - BTHERRE
B BHIE B RARRM S AR LM mEREE - Am
BARRER

FARAREENEZENEE  ARRERRIEATALE
BREERLETARBENNERGHIEHE@NES -

FERAISERERAT T _TEFERS

30



31

Dividend Policy

The Board has approved and adopted a policy for the
Company’s dividend distribution (the “Dividend Policy”).

The Company targets to provide sustainable returns to our
shareholders with maintaining the flexibility of resources
to meet the financial and business requirements of the
Company. The Board shall consider the Group’s financial
results, cash flow status, investment and operational
requirements, prospects and other factors to decide
whether to propose a dividend and determine dividend
payout ratio.

The distribution of dividend is also subject to compliance
with applicable laws and regulations including the law of the
Cayman Islands and the Company’s Articles of Association.
Furthermore, the Company shall consider any banking or
other funding covenants by which the Company is bound
from time to time.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy
pursuant to the Group’s financial and operational status
from time to time and there can be no assurance that a
dividend will be proposed or declared in any given year.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the fees for the

services provided by to the Company’s auditor are set out
as follows:
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ARFH B FREREAIHEELR TR - ARFERER
MEEERNARRPBEERERK - EFEHEELSE
ERE  BRERAN REREEFFR - RKHEREM
AEREEMBEREREESED KBS MEERILE -

AAF SRR EETRAENET IR - DENSRS
ERTHEBRERERRANTZAMERZEA - [
AR E L AR FNE T A RO EFRTRE MR
ALY -

EE IR REBASENS L EERRNERREBER M
MMREEET— FRFKEIRAE °

BB A &

BE_ZT_TF+_A=1T—BLLFE NREZHEH
REREBEREIILT

RMB’000

ARETIT

Audit services 1% AR5 845
Non-audit services FEEAZ AR 16
861

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the non-audit
service provided by the Company’s auditor relates to the
professional services rendered regarding the PRC tax of the
Company during the year.

Creative China Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2020

REE-ZE-_ZTF+-A=+—HILFE  KRaZHA
REMIFEZRG HEBARRRFRNTEREEES
EST




COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Lai Man Sze was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company on 17 April 2020. The selection,
appointment or dismissal of the company secretary
is approved by the Board. Ms. Lai is an employee of
the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Company’s affairs. The biographical details of Ms. Lai are
set out under the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management”.

For the year under review, Ms. Lai has confirmed that she
has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an
opportunity for communication between the shareholders
and the Board. An annual general meeting of the Company
shall be held in each year and at the place as may be
determined by the Board. Each general meeting, other than
an annual general meeting, shall be called an extraordinary
general meeting (‘EGM”).

Right to convene EGM

Any one or more members holding at the date of the
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition sent to the Company’s
principal office as set out in the manner below, to require
an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition.

The written requisition must state the purposes of the
meeting, signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposit it to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company at the
Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at
23/F, Yue Thai Commercial Building, 128 Connaught Road
Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong, and such may consist
of several documents in like form, each signed by one or
more requisitionists.

Corpora
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Report

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch
share registrars in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation
that the request is proper and in order, the company
secretary of the Company will ask the Board to convene
an EGM by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the
statutory requirements to all the registered members. On
the contrary, if the request which has been verified is not in
order, the shareholders will be advised of this outcome and
accordingly, an EGM will not be convened as requested.
If within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of
the requisition the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s), may convene a meeting in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed by the Company to the requisitionist(s).

The notice period to be given to all the registered
members for consideration of the proposal raised by the
requisitionist(s) concerned at the EGM varies according to
the nature of the proposal, as follows:

(@  Atleast 14 clear days’ notice in writing (and not less
than 10 business days) if the proposal constitutes an
ordinary resolution of the Company;

(b) At least 21 clear days’ notice in writing (and not
less than 20 business days) if calling for an annual
general meeting or the proposal constitutes a special
resolution of the Company in EGM.

Right to put enquiries to the Board
Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board.
All enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post to the

principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
for the attention of the company secretary.
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Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to purpose
new resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman
Islands Companies Law (2011 Revision). However,
shareholders are requested to follow Article 58 of the
Company’s Articles for including a resolution at an EGM.
The requirements and procedures are set out above.
Pursuant to Article 85 of the Articles, no person other than
a director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended
by the directors for election, be eligible for election as a
director at any general meeting unless a notice signed by
a member (other than the person to be proposed) duly
qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which such
notice is given of his intention to propose such person
for election and also a notice signed by the person to
be proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have
been lodged at the head office or at the registration office
provided that the minimum length of the period, during
which such notice(s) are given, shall be at least 7 days and
that (if the notices are submitted after the despatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election)
the period for lodgment of such notice(s) shall commence
on the day after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election and end no later than
7 days prior to the date of such general meeting. The
written notice must state that person’s biographical details
as required by Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing Rules. The
procedures for shareholders of the Company to propose a
person for election as director is posted on the Company’s
website.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has established a range of communication
channels between itself and its shareholders, investors
and other stakeholders. These include the annual general
meeting, the annual, interim and quarterly reports, notices,
announcements and circulars and the Company’s website
at www.ntmediabj.com.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, there had been
no change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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INTRODUCTION, APPROACH TO ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (“ESG”)

Creative China Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group” or “We”) is engaged in the
businesses of program production and related services,
concert and event organisation and related service, mobile
live broadcasting and e-commerce, entertainment contents
on demand system (discontinued during the year ended
31 December 2019) and artist management. The Group’s
business in event organisation mainly concentrated in
Mainland China, we also organise concerts in Hong Kong,
Taiwan and Southeast Asia.

The Group believes sustainability is a key to achieve
continuous success, and we have developed sustainable
development strategy with aims to create sustainable
values to shareholders, and to lower the Group’s impact
on the environment continuously. The Group recognises
the importance of integrating ESG aspects into its risk
management system and has taken corresponding
measures in its daily operation and governance perspective.

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
“ESG Report”) summarises the initiatives, programs and
performance of the Group in regards to ESG as well as
demonstrates its commitment to sustainable development.

THE ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group conducts a top-down management approach
in regards to ESG issues. The Board oversees and sets
out ESG strategies for the Group, while taking an ultimate
responsibility for ensuring the effectiveness of the Group’s
ESG policies. Designated staff were assigned to enforce
and supervise the implementation of the relevant ESG
policies.

REPORTING PERIOD

Unless otherwise stated, this ESG Report cover the ESG
activities, challenges and measures taken by the Group for
reporting period during the year ended 31 December 2020
(the “Reporting Period” or “Year 2020”) in the Group’s
business operation in Mainland China and Hong Kong.
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REPORTING SCOPE

Unless stated otherwise, this ESG Report mainly covers
the Group’s major operating revenue activities under direct
management control, including its provision of program
production and related services, concert and event
organisation and related services, mobile live broadcasting
and e-commerce services and entertainment contents on
demand system services (discontinued during the year
ended 31 December 2020) and artist management.

The Group will continue to assess the major ESG aspects
of different businesses to determine whether it needs to be
included in the ESG reporting scope.

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with
the ESG Reporting Guide as set out in the Appendix 20
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “ESG
Reporting Guide”).

For the Group’s corporate governance practices, please
refer to page 20 to page 34 for the “Corporate Governance
Report” contained in this annual report.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group values its stakeholders and their views relating
to its businesses and ESG issues. In order to understand
and address stakeholders’ concerns, the Group
communicates with its key stakeholders, including but not
limited to: investors and shareholders, governmental and
regulatory authorities, suppliers, employees, customers,
peers and industry chamber of commerce, societies, non-
governmental organisation (“NGOs”) and communities via
through different channels such as conferences, electronic
platforms and financial reporting etc. In formulating
operational strategies and ESG measures, the Group takes
into account the stakeholders’ expectations and strives
to improve its performance through mutual cooperation
with the stakeholders, resulting in creating greater value
for the community. The following table indicates the
relevant stakeholders of the Group and the communication
channels between the Group and its stakeholders:
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Stakeholders Communication channels Expectations
#iE BRRE HiEE
Investors and shareholders o Annual general meeting ° Publish the latest corporate
TEERBR RREAFRE information
e Financial reports MEAMTESIER
B HRE e Financial results
e Announcements and circulars iR e
N R o Corporate sustainable development
e Investor meetings TEIFEER

KwEEeR

Governmental and regulatory
authorities

B R EE#E

Suppliers
fHrem
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Regular working meetings
THTIFE#

Regular performance reporting
EHIERAIR

Written response to public
consultation
EMEEEARENR

Suppliers’ management meetings
and events
HEBEEEENEE

On-site inspections

B ER
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Compliance with relevant laws and
regulations

BPRBEARER

Corporate social responsibility
TtELHEREF

Fair competition

ATHF

Business ethics and reputation
EEBEREEE

Win-win cooperation

BEHR
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Stakeholders Communication channels Expectations
BHE BRRE HRE
Employees ° Employee opinion survey o Health and safety
BT BETERASE fEEREZ 2
° Channels for employees to express Equal opportunity
their opinions (forms, opinion box TEe
and etc.) o Remuneration and benefits
BIREERNEB(RR  BRME e Ry
%) e Career development
e Regular management R
communication and performance
evaluations
TEHIR B IR WA THERIRATZ
° Employee communication and
broadcasting
8 TBMERE
Customers o Customer satisfaction survey o Perform product and service
B EPREERE responsibilities
e Company’s website BITER KRB EE
NaEA8uh e Customer Information and Privacy
Protection
B EERILEIRE
Peers and industry chamber of o Industry conferences and seminars Business ethics and reputation
commerce TEGENREE P RBEENEEE
CESPSAEES e Industry chamber of commerce e Fair competition
conference NEFF
TEEESR
Societies, NGOs and communities e Community investment ° Giving back to society
FBE - FEIUTHIE N iR e HRIRE Bl &
° ESG reports ° Environmental protection
RIE - g RERRE RIBIRE
o Compliance operations
B E

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

ERERTMG

The management and employees who are responsible
for the key functions of the Group have participated in
preparing the ESG Report, assisted the Group in reviewing
its operation, identifying relevant ESG issues and assessing
the importance of these relevant issues to our businesses
and stakeholders. We compiled a questionnaire in
reference to the identified material ESG issues to collect
data from relevant departments and business units of the
Group.
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The following table summarises the Group’s material ESG
issues as set out in this ESG Report:

and Governance Report

TE/ARE HEREARMEMBAETEBEANIR
5 HENEREEZRE

The ESG Reporting Guide Material ESG aspects of the Group Page
RIE - HERERBMERED AEERE HERERERER B
A. Environment
A BB
A1. Emissions Air Emissions
Al HER JBE R 41
Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions
RERB(DAERE DN 43
Waste Treatment
RE Y B 12 44
A2. Use of Resources Energy Consumption
A2. EIREH BEIRERE 46
Water Management
FKER 48
Use of Packing Material
BEMEER 48
A3. Environment and Natural Environmental Impact Management 49
Resources REFEER
A3. BERRARER Noise Pollution
R E SR 49
Outdoor Lightings
FHNE 49
B. SOCIETY
B. #®&
B1. Employment Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal
Bi. &fE REL - BT REE 50
Remuneration and Benefit
e ISR 52
Diversity, Equal-opportunity and Anti-discrimination
Ztlb » FPERERRIER 52
B2. Health and Safety Occupational Health and Safety
B2. fEEZLE BERENZE 53
B3. Development and Training  Technology and Training
B3. #EKIEHI Bty K s5 3 53
B4. Labour Standards Prevention of Child Labour or Forced Labour
B4. ST AR DiEET REHST 54
B5. Supply Chain Management Environmental and Social Risk Management of Supply Chain
B5. ftrEsEER HERRE R e RRER 55
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The ESG Reporting Guide Material ESG aspects of the Group Page
B HERERBmEES AEERE HEREREZHE BE™
B6. Product Responsibility Quality and Safety of Services
B6. EmE(E REGHEEBHET S 56
Intellectual Property (“IP”) Management and Privacy
S ERE (B ERE ) B IR REFL 56
Social Moral Standards
HEEERE 57
B7. Anti-corruption Prevention of Corruption and Fraud
B7. R&ES DN IN= WP 73S 58
B8. Community Investment Contributions to Society
B8. ttEIEE HE R 59
During the Reporting Period, the Group has confirmed that RBERRE - AEERRAEREREE e hEAEERY

appropriate and effective management policies and internal
control systems for ESG issues are in place and confirmed
the information disclosed in this ESG Report complies with
the ESG Reporting Guide.

CONTACT US

Your comments and suggestions on this ESG Report or
towards the Group’s performance in respect of sustainable
development through the following methods are welcome:

Mail address: 23/F, Yue Thai Commercial Building,

128 Connaught Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong
Phone: (852) 2153 1221

Fax: (852) 2153 3936
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A. ENVIRONMENT

A1. Emissions

The Group is committed to ensuring the sustainable
development in our environment and community and
recognises the Group’s responsibilities towards the
potential environmental impacts associated with business
operations. We integrate environmental consideration
factors into our decision-making processes.

As a company in the media and entertainment industry,
the core businesses of the Group, mainly rely on electronic
and internet technology and related equipment and do
not involve any manufacturing processes in the course
of business. Therefore, during the Reporting Period,
the Group did not generate significant emissions, water
pollutants and hazardous wastes, except for GHG
emissions and non-hazardous waste generated by our
offices during operation.

The Group recognises that the threat of global warming
and climate changes are the major environmental issues to
the world. Within our environmental policy framework, we
continually look for different opportunities to pursue less
carbon emission operation, environmentally friendly media
production, reducing energy use and recycle of materials
used in daily operation.

The Group has complied with relevant environmental
laws and regulations, including but not limited to “Air
Pollution Control Ordinance”, “Water Pollution Control
Ordinance”, “Waste Disposal Ordinance” of Hong Kong
as well as “Environmental Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, the “Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Prevention and Control of Water Pollution”, the
“Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Atmospheric Pollution”, the “Law of the
People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control
of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste” of Mainland
China. During the Reporting Period, the Group has not
identified any material non-compliance of environmental
laws and regulations relating to the air and GHG emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste that would have a
significant impact on the Group.
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Air Emissions

The Group is principally engaged in media and
entertainment and does not involve any direct
manufacturing processes in the course of business.
Therefore, the air emissions generated during business
operations is not significant. However, we are still
committed to minimizing the emissions generated during
business operations as much as possible. The Group’s air
emissions are primarily attributable to vehicle emissions, so
we have implemented the below measures to reduce the
air emissions generated from vehicle emissions:

° Optimise the operation procedure to improve the
laden ratio of motor vehicles and lower the vacancy
rate;

° Perform monthly maintenance on vehicles to
effectively reduce fuel consumption, thereby reducing
the carbon emission and air emission; and

° Eliminate substandard trucks in accordance with
the regulations of National Emission Policy (National
Standard V) to purchase regular diesel and gasoline
for vehicles and conduct annual inspection to ensure
the National Emission Standards are met.

GHG Emissions

The consumption of petrol (Scope 1), electricity at the
offices (Scope 2) and paper at the offices (Scope 3) are the
largest sources of GHG emissions of the Group.

In addition to the vehicle energy saving measures
mentioned in the section “Air Emissions” at this level,
we have actively adopted the following measures to
mitigate the GHG emissions in our operations. At the
office operation, we promote everyone to turn off the air-
conditioning system at night or when leaving office, keeping
the office temperature at 25°C in summer and using LED
lights or energy-saving light in the office, etc.
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The Group will also issue environmental-related
memorandum to its staff to raise their awareness of
environmental preservation. Moreover, notices and posters
relating to the environmental information have been
placed in the offices to promote the best practice of the
environmental management. During our removal of new
office, we have ensured teleconference or video conference
facilities are equipped in the offices that reduce business
travel and meetings needed so as to reduce carbon
emissions.

During the Reporting Period, the total GHG emission
of the Group decreased approximately 49.72% from
approximately 91.34 tonnes CO,g in 2019 to approximately
45.93 tonnes CO,e in Year 2020. A summary of GHG
emissions is as follows:
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GHG Scope! Unit 2020 2019
BAEREEE B —ERIERF —E-NF
Direct GHG emission (Scope 1)
— petrol consumption Tonnes CO,e
HEAERBEYR(EE)

— FUBDHRE —EkRER 23.25 22.97
Indirect GHG emission (Scope 2)
— electricity consumption Tonnes CO,e
R =EREEEN(&BE2)
—EBJHEME —SiemEE 21.52 67.24
Indirect GHG emission (Scope 3)
— paper consumption Tonnes CO,e
R = REBEEN(&BE3)
—#REA —SiemEE 1.16 1.13
Total GHG emission (Scope 1, 2 and 3) Tonnes COe
RERBEHENAE (SEE - 2K&3) —&ft ﬁ;fg 45.93 91.34
Intensity? of total GHG emission
(Scope 1, 2 and 3) Tonnes CO,e/employee
RERBHMEE(8E - 2R3)HE? —@LE s BE 1.64 3.04
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Notes:

1. GHG emissions data is presented in carbon dioxide
equivalent and was in reference to, including but not
limited to, the reporting requirements of the “GHG Protocol
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard” issued
by the World Resources Institute and the World Business
Council for Sustainable Development, the “Guidelines to
Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions
and Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential
or Institutional Purposes)”, the latest published Baseline
Emission Factors for Regional Power Grids in China,
"How to prepare an ESG Report? — Appendix II: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the HKEX,
“Global Warming Potential Values” from the IPCC Fifth
Assessment Report, 2014 (AR5) and “2019 Sustainability
Report” issued by HK Electric Investments Limited.

2. As of 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of 28
employees; as of 31 December 2019, the Group had a total
of 30 employees. This data will be also used for calculating
other intensity data.

Waste Treatment

The Group adheres to waste management principle and
strives to properly manage and dispose wastes produced
by our business activities. Our waste management practice
has been complied with relevant laws and regulations
relating to environmental protection.

Due to the Group’s business nature, we did not generate
significant amount of hazardous waste. Despite the
foregoing, the Group must appoint a qualified chemical
waste collector to manage the wastes if any hazardous
wastes are generated, in order to comply with the
environmental-related laws and regulations.

The non-hazardous wastes generated by the Group’s
operations mainly consist of paper, toner cartridges and ink
cartridges.
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During the Reporting Period, the total non-hazardous waste
emission of the Group increased approximately 0.26% from
approximately 270.05 kg in 2019 to approximately 270.75
kg in Year 2020. A summary of non-hazardous waste
emission is as follows:
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RBERE - ARENEZSEMEHERER S —NLFY
270.05F B HN40.26% FE —F — TFFH270.75F % -
EEEYHERERMES0T

Non-hazardous waste type Unit 2020 2019
BERVER B —ERIERF —E-NF
Paper Kg

ek T 240.95 236.25
Toner cartridge® Kg

i Fr 28.8 32.80
Ink cartridge* Kg

25 T 1.00 1.00
Total non-hazardous waste emission Kg

BEEVHNEE T 270.75 270.05
Intensity of total non-hazardous waste emission ~ Kg/employee

BEEVHNEEEE F=/IE8 9.67 9.00
Notes: it

3. The weight for one toner cartridge is approximately 0.8 kg.

4. The weight for one ink cartridge is approximately 0.2 kg.

We regularly monitor the consumption volume of paper,
toner cartridges and ink cartridges and have implemented
a number of reduction measures. We also encourage
our staff to sort and recycle the wastes to achieve the
objectives in mitigating wastes, reusing and recycling in its
operations. The Group maintains high standard in waste
reduction, educates its employees the significance of
sustainable development and provides relevant support in
order to enhance their skills and knowledge in sustainable
development.

Moreover, we also encourage employees to participate in
daily waste reduction management, including:

° Promote green information and electronic
communication, such as e-mail and electronic

workflows, to implement “paperless system” concept;

. Place “Green Message” reminders on office
equipment;
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o Reuse old envelopes and use double-side printing,
while paper for single-side printing would be only
adopted when handling official documents and
confidential documents when necessary; and

° Recommend the use of recycled paper.
A2. Use of Resources

The Group strives to optimise resource usage in business
operations, and continues with initiatives to introduce
resource efficiency and eco-friendly measures to the
Group’s operations. The Group has established policies
and measures in governing the efficient use of resources,
aiming to achieve higher energy efficiency and reduce
unnecessary use of materials. All offices have implemented
effective energy conservation measures to reduce
emissions and resource consumption.

Energy Consumption

Due to the business nature of the Group, the volume
of energy consumption, electricity consumption and
water consumption are considered as relatively low, in
particular water consumption is very imited. As mentioned
in the section A1, the Group has formulated policies and
procedures relating to the environmental management,
including energy management. Office electricity
consumption and vehicle petrol consumption account for
the major energy consumption for the Group.
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During the Reporting Period, the total energy consumption
of the Group decreased approximately 35.72% from
approximately 176,991.87 kWh in 2019 to approximately
113,761.66 kWh in 2020. A summary of consumption in
petrol and electricity is as follows:
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RBEE > AEENRREFBEER _Z—ILED
17699187 T R B L #136.72% &2 — T —ZF F 4
118,761.66 T FLBF o /R EREEMEESHENT ¢

Energy Type Unit 2020 2019
RERES B —E-BF —B-hE
Petrol® kWh

FUH® FEREF 87,199.66 83,491.87
Electricity kWh

E FEREF 26,562.00 93,500.00
Total energy consumption kWh

REIREREAE FERE 113,761.66 176,991.87
Intensity of total energy consumption kWh/employee

BERHERERE TRE EE 4,062.92 5,899.73
Note: 1#Eit -

5. The actual petrol consumption in Year 2020 and 2019 was
approximately 9,852.38 litres and 8,640 litres, respectively.

On top of the measures of mitigating the energy
consumption mentioned above, the Group strives to
utilise telephone or video conference to minimise face-
to-face meeting in order to reduce petrol consumption
in traveling and unnecessary business trips. The Group
encourages resources saving in daily office operation and
proactively fosters a low-carbon corporate culture, which
further increases our employees’ awareness in energy
conservation.

Water Management

The Group does not consume significant water in
our business activities. Regardless of limited water
consumption, we still promote behavioral changes at office
and encourage water conservation. Pantry and toilets are
posted with environmental messages to remind employees
of water conservation, which results in enhancing our
employees’ awareness in water conservation. Due to the
geographical location of the Group’s operation and nature
of business, there is no issue in sourcing water.
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As the water used in the Hong Kong office is managed
by the property, the relevant actual water consumption is
not recorded and the total water consumption includes
only the Beijing office. During the Reporting Period,
the total water consumption was slightly decreased
by approximately 0.9% from approximately 107 cubic
meters in 2019 to approximately 106 cubic meters in
Year 2020, but the intensity of total water consumption of
cubic meters per employee was increased by 6.2% from
approximately 3.79 cubic meters in 2019 to approximately
3.57 cubic meters in 2020. The reasons are that there are
two staff resigned near the year end and coupled with the
active implementation of water conservation measures
by the Group, the total water consumption decreased
slightly during the Reporting Period. A summary of water
consumption (equivalent to wastewater discharge) is as
follows:

Environmental, Social a
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Water Consumption Unit 2020 2019
FKE By —B-EHF —E-NF
Total water consumption Cubic meters

BFEKE SLTK 106.00 107.00
Intensity of total water consumption Cubic meters/employee

wrEKERE MHEAREE 3.79 3.57
Use of Packing Material BEMFIEH

Due to our business nature, the Group did not have
physical products for sale and therefore did not involve any
use of packaging materials. Therefore, this disclosure is not
applicable to the Group.
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A3. Environment and Natural Resources
Environmental Impact Management

The Group recognises the responsibility in minimising the
negative environmental impact of our business operations,
in order to achieve sustainable development for creating
long-term values to our stakeholders and community as
a whole. The Group pursues the best practices in the
environment protection and focuses on the impact of
the Group’s businesses to the environment and natural
resources. In addition to complying with the relevant
environmental laws and regulations as well as to protect
the environment, the Group has integrated the concept of
environmental protection into its internal management and
daily operations, with the aim of achieving environmental
sustainability.

Noise Pollution

Most of the Group’s production are conducted in the
studios with good soundproof facilities. However, we strive
to continuously monitor if the business operations incur
any potential impact to the environment, necessary noise
pollution practices are implemented during our program
production and concert and event organisation activities
to minimises such impact to the environment. The Group
regularly reviews its environmental protection policies and
has adopted the necessary precautionary measures and
actions to reduce significant impact on the environment
and natural resources, and ensure that the Group complies
with relevant laws and regulations.

Outdoor Lightings

The Group strives to minimise any unnecessary interference
to the natural landscape and animal habitat in the
process of programs production and concert and event
organisation, in order to maintain the natural beauty of
the environment. During outdoor production and concert
and event organisation, the lightings are adjusted to avoid
disturbing neighborhood whenever possible. Most of the
programs are also shot in the indoor area.
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B. SOCIETY
B1. Employment

For our industry, human resources are regarded as the
Group’s the largest and most valuable assets and the
foundation in supporting the development of the Group.
They provide the driving force for continuous innovation
to the Group. The Group established relevant policies
to support our human assets. These policies covering
recruitment, compensation, promotion, working hours and
holidays, diversity and equal opportunity, etc. The Group’s
Staff Handbook contains polices in regards to recruitment,
promotion, discipline, working hours and leave. The human
resources department has been responsible for ensuring
all employees have fully understood the contents of the
handbook.

The Group has complied with all laws and regulations on
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare,
including but not limited to the “Companies Ordinance”,
the “Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance”,
“Minimum Wages Ordinance”, the “Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance” of Hong Kong and the “Company Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Labour Contract Law
of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Regulations on
Labour Security Supervision” of Mainland China. During the
Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance incident with local employment-related laws
and regulations in that would have a significant impact on
the Group.

Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal

The Group has actively implemented the strategy of
strengthening enterprise through talents, established
and been continuously improving the talent recruitment
and selection system. In the recruitment process, the
Group has standardised the recruitment process and
principle, adhered to the employment principles of morality,
knowledge, ability, experience and fithess applicable
to job positions as well as the principles of openness,
fairness, competitiveness and on a selective basis, so as to
continuously attract and recruit talents.
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The Group conducts classified management for employees,
specifies the basis and process of management for staff
promotion, transfer and demotion, regulates the departure
and dismissal process, and protects the interests of both
employees and the Group.

In addition, unreasonable dismissal of staff under any
circumstances is not allowed in the Group. The dismissal
process will only be conducted on a reasonable basis and
will ensure that adequate communication has been made
prior to the formal dismissal.
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As of 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of 28 HE_Z :$¢+ BA=+—H A&EEHBFAH28%E
employees, which are divided as follows: 8- HEHWT
Approximately
Number of percentage
employees of total
L4 AEH
BT A BHBEDL
By gender
PR E b
Male
B 11 39%
Female
i 17 61%
By age
PES & )
Aged below 30
30BRA R 6 21%
Aged 30-50
30-505% 16 58%
Aged above 50
5057 A £ 6 21%
By employment type
UERERES
Full-time employee
ERET 26 93%
Temporary and part-time employee
Wi N B E T 2 7%
By region
Rty & &l 2
Mainland China
REIAHD 22 79%
Hong Kong
B 6 21%
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Remuneration and Benefit

The management regularly reviews the Group’s
remuneration and benefits policies in reference to the
market standards and is committed to safeguarding the
rights and interests of the staff. Remuneration and benefits
have been adjusted on an annual basis in accordance
with the employees’ individual performance, contribution
and market conditions. The Group has established KPIs
for performance evaluation. Based on the result, the
Group offers rewards to employees in encouraging their
achievement.

The Group earnestly safeguards the legitimate rights and
interests of labour, in accordance with the requirements
of the laws and regulations of the “Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China” of Mainland China and the
“Employment Ordinance” of Hong Kong, respects the
rights of employees to rest and take leave, and regulates
the working hours and their rights for various types of rest
times and holidays. We implements the paid annual leave
system for employees and overtime wage is paid for labour
exceeding statutory working hours in accordance with the
relevant laws and regulations of the “Regulation on Paid
Annual Leave for Employees”.

Diversity, Equal-opportunity and Anti-discrimination

The Group strictly complies with various national and local
government laws and regulations by adopting a fair, just
and open recruitment process and developing relevant
system files to eliminate discrimination in the recruitment
process, whose employees faces no discrimination
regardless of race, social status, religion, nationality,
disability, age, marital status, gender, pregnancy, sexual
orientation, membership of the union, political connection
and etc., and thus allowing employees to enjoy fair
treatment in every aspect including hiring, salary, training,
promotion, determination of labour contract, retirement or
other aspects related to employment, with an endeavour to
attract professionals with diverse backgrounds to join the
Group. We strive to provide equal opportunities in every
aspects, committed to maintaining the employee diversity
and strongly prohibit any unfair treatment.
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B2. Health and Safety

Occupational Health and Safety

The Group highly values the health and safety of employees
and strive to provide a healthy, safe and comfortable
working environment for employees. We have been trying
to eliminate potential health and safety hazards in the
working environment and conduct safety management in
every aspect to secure the personal safety and health of
employees during work. We have set up an occupational
health and safety management system to provide a safe
working environment for employees. The objective of the
system is for monitoring and reviewing the safety and health
of employee periodically, and performing regular checking
in the office to ensure the safety of working environment.

The Group has complied with all laws and regulations
related to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards, including
but not limited to, the “Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance” and “Employees’ Compensation Ordinance”
of Hong Kong and “Law of the People’s Republic of China
on Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases”, the
“Law of the People’s Republic of China on Work Safety” of
Mainland China. During the Reporting Period, the Group
was not aware of any non-compliance incident with local
health and safety related laws and regulations in that would
have a significant impact on the Group.

B3. Development and Training
Technology and Training

As technology is growing fast nowadays, knowledge
on technology is one of the competitive advantages of
the Group. The Group places great emphasis on the
establishment of the enterprise’s internal management
training and development system, employees are regarded
as the Group’s largest and most valuable assets and the
core of the competitive advantage. We provide staff with
training courses for upgrading skills, technology knowledge
and development as needed and meet the different needs
of employees at all levels through diversified training
models, including introduction training and management
personnel training.
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The Group encourages and supports employees to
participate in personal and professional training to fulfill the
needs of emerging technologies and new equipment. The
Group also encourages the culture of sharing of knowledge
and experience.

Employee can utilise technology for training. Employee
was being encouraged to use online resources and media
for technology training to catch up with the latest use of
technology and support their own growth.

B4. Labour Standards
Prevention of Child Labour or Forced Labour

The Group strictly prohibits employing any child labour
or forced labour in its operations in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. The Group has established a well-defined
recruitment process which examines the background of
candidates and a formal reporting procedure for handling
any exception. During the recruitment process, the age
of the applicant is verified against the identity documents
of the applicant. In addition, the Group conducts regular
reviews and inspections to prevent any child labour or
forced labour in operation.

In the meantime, the Group also avoids engaging vendors
and contractors which are already known to be employing
child labour or forced labour in their operations.

The Group has complied with all the relevant laws and
regulations related to the prevention of child labour or
forced labour including but not limited to, the “Employment
Ordinance” of Hong Kong and the “Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, “Provisions on the Prohibition
of Using Child Labour” of Mainland China. During the
Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with child and forced labour-related laws
and regulations that would have a significant impact on the
Group.
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B5. Supply Chain Management

Environmental and Social Risk Management of
Supply Chain

The Group understands the importance of supply chain
management in mitigating the indirect environmental and
social risks. We are aware of the environmental and social
practices of the suppliers, and try to engage suppliers with
responsible acts to the society in view of green supply chain
management. The Group has established and implemented
the Supplier Management Policy in order to strengthen the
selection of suppliers. We welcome qualified, competent
and high-quality suppliers to join.

The Group’s procurement department is responsible for
organising the supplier evaluation work in two ways which
include the ongoing project evaluation and the annual
assessment. The evaluation results will serve as the basis
of supplier management. Suppliers need to quickly respond
to the assessment result, and adopt effective measures
to improve the services provided within prescribed period.
The Group has the rights to terminate the cooperation with
service providers who violate the rules or do not meet the
targets.

The Group has formulated Supplier Selection Policy
and preserve a Supplier Registration. In the selection of
new suppliers, the Group has compared at least three
different companies, taking account of their operational
and compliance records as well as their commitment
level on top of cost consideration. Prior to conducting
business with suppliers, we carry out annual reviews and
evaluations in various aspects including occupational health
and safety, employee rights protection, environmental
protection and corporate social responsibility. This ensures
that our operations comply with national standards or
relevant regulations and that we have no child or forced
labour issues. The assessment results will be used
as a benchmark for the continuation or termination of
cooperation in the future.

The Group considers the principle of environmental
protection. For example, in the course of selecting
suppliers for each project, we assess whether the materials
used by the suppliers in the activities are hazardous to the
environment and whether they can effectively conserve
energy and minimise carbon emissions.
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The Group maintains close liaison with its suppliers to
monitor its performance to ensure that it is consistent with
its service commitment.

B6. Product Responsibility

We have always maintained communication with customers
to ensure that we understand and satisfy customers’
needs and expectations, and hope to understand
customers’ satisfaction to continuously improve our
production quality. We strictly comply with relevant laws
and regulations, including but not limited to, the “Trade
Descriptions Ordinance” of Hong Kong as well as the
“Law of the People’s Republic of China on Protection of
Consumer Rights and Interests”, the “Advertising Law of
the People’s Republic of China”, the “Interim Measures
for Administration of Internet Advertising”, the “Product
Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China” of Mainland
China and other laws and regulations relevant to consumer
rights. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not
aware of any significant matters that violated the laws and
regulations relevant to product and service quality.

Quality and Safety of Services

As a media and event producer, we define quality of
the production content as the key to improve customer
satisfaction. The Group pays high attention to both quality
and safety of the service. The Group has established
relevant quality and safety inspection policies for different
projects, communicates with our customers and confirms
their project expectation and direction prior to launching
any project, and actively coordinates projects with
customers in the process of providing services.

IP Management and Privacy

The Group’s daily operations involve the use of the
IP owned by customers, suppliers or the Group itself.
Therefore, the protection of IP rights is an extremely
important task for the Group. When the Group engages
with its customers or suppliers, it will include the protection
of IP in the contractual terms. The Group’s legal department
will also review all the contracts in operation and ensure
that the contractual terms protect both parties’ IP rights.
The Group also requires technical professionals to sign
strict confidentiality agreements. Confidential information
of our customers is only accessible to employees who are
responsible for the corresponding project.
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The Group has established data privacy policy to handle
various data and information to ensure the compliance with
local laws and regulations. Confidential personal data is
stored at security server with access control.

During the Reporting Period, the Group complies with
relevant laws governing the confidentiality of data and
IP, including but not limited to “Trade Marks Ordinance”,
“Copyright Ordinance”, “Patents Ordinance” of Hong Kong
as well as “Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
“Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
“Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China” of
Mainland China.

Social Moral Standards

Media and broadcasting companies have social
responsibilities on its content propagated to the public as
its huge impact to the vast amount of audience. Based
on the nature of the business, most of the content on the
internet channel is online live broadcast or produced by
different Internet users. According to the relevant laws and
regulations such as “Beijing Self-Discipline Convention
on Network Performance (Live Broadcasting)” and other
standards, the Group has established strict rules on these
contents.

In order to ensure the compliance with the national
regulations, the Group regularly checks the content of
its broadcasts and program production activities. The
Group is committed to providing positive messages for
the community. Content such as violence, pornography,
hatred, superstition, gambling, etc. is strictly forbidden.

The Group has complied with all relevant laws and
regulations, including but not limited to the “Provisions
on the Administration of Online Publishing Services”
circulated by the State Administration of Press, Publication,
Radio, Film and Television and the Ministry of Industry
and Information Technology, the “Regulation on Internet
Information Services of the People’s Republic of China”
promulgated by the State Council. During the Reporting
Period, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations.
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B7. Anti-corruption

The Group strives to achieve high standards of ethics in our
business operations. Fraudulent events such as corruption,
bribery, and collusion are strictly prohibited. The Group has
complied with all relevant laws and regulations related to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, including
but not limited to, “Prevention of Bribery Ordinance” of
Hong Kong and the “Corruption Ordinance of the People’s
Republic of China” of Mainland China. During the Reporting
Period, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance
incident with local prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering relevant laws and regulations, nor
any concluded corruption cases.

Prevention of Corruption and Fraud

The Group has implemented the Prevention of Commercial
Bribery Management Policy, strengthened its internal
control mechanism, anti-corruption and anti-bribery work
so as to achieve the business philosophy of “abiding by
the law, integrity and quality service”. For projects with
higher monetary value, the Group makes an open bidding
invitation to at least three suppliers. Different level of
approval and authorisation is required according to the size
of the tender agreement.

The policy also includes the establishment of an inspection
team and the establishment of a channel for evaluation
the cases. It is strictly forbidden to use the business
opportunities or powers to obtain personal interests or
benefits. Employees should comply with the rules stated in
the Staff Handbook in performing business activities.

The Group has established Whistleblowing Policy and
procedures for all levels and operations. Staff can raise
concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties
such as misconduct and malpractice in any matter related
to the Group. The Group also encourages employees
and all persons with whom the Group does business,
including customers and suppliers, to report the suspected
misconduct within the Group voluntarily.
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B8. Community Investment

Contributions to Society

The Group encourages employees to participate in charity
events, volunteer works, and environmental protection
activities in order to make contributions to our society. We
believe that our employee could build up positive value
and to be socially responsible through participate in those
activities.

The Group enhances the quality of life of community
through arts and culture activities. As the culture
development, the community can gain a deeper
understanding of history and culture and enjoy higher
appreciation of the present and future cultural activities and
to a greater level of enjoyment.

As a moral and responsible enterprise, the content of
the broadcasts and organised events are produced
in accordance with the Group’s policy of considering
community interests and fully complied with the national
regulations and rules, which further promotes positive
news to the community and restricts any negative content,
including violence, pornography, hatred, superstition,
gambling, to be broadcasted.

The Group will consider from time to time to make

donations to charities when the Group records after-tax
profits and has sufficient funds.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Philip Jian Yang, aged 58, is an Executive Director
and the President and Chief Executive Officer of our Group.
Mr. Yang is the son of the founders of the Group. Mr. Yang
has been primarily responsible for the overall operations,
management, business development and strategic planning
of our Group. Prior to joining our Group, he was appointed
as the general manager of Beijing Zhonglu Intelligence
Cultural Development Co., Ltd. in November 1994. Mr.
Yang graduated from the Business Institute of Beijing
(currently Beijing Technology and Business University)
with a bachelor’s degree in business administration and
commerce in July 1983.

Ms. Yang Jianping, aged 66, is an Executive Director and
a Deputy Chief Executive Officer of our Group. Ms. Yang
has been primarily responsible for the management of
the Group’s finance, human resources and administrative
matters. Ms. Yang graduated from Beijing Open University
with a bachelor’s degree in finance and accounting in July
1988. She attained the qualification of an intermediary
accountant in December 1992.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yang Shiyuan, aged 45, is a Non-Executive Director
of the Company. He was re-designated from an executive
director to a non-executive director on 25 March 2019.
Mr. Yang has been responsible for supervising the Group’s
business in large-scale performance events, such as
awards ceremonies and movie premieres. He joined the
Group in October 2002 as a project assistant and was
promoted to the position of project manager in August
2004. From October 2009 to the date of re-designation as
a non-executive director, he served as a project director in
the Group.
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Mr. Ge Xuyu, aged 54, was appointed as a Non-Executive
Director of our Group on 21 April 2015. Mr. Ge has been
primarily responsible for seeking investment and acquisition
opportunities and managing the investment project of the
Group. Mr. Ge has been serving as the general manager
of Mongolian Desert Resources LLC since December
2010. He is currently certified as a senior accountant in
the PRC. During May 1983 to February 2002, he worked
at China Construction 4th Engineering Bureau 6th Corp.
Limited holding financial positions and was promoted to
senior accountant in August 2001. From February 2003 to
December 2010, he served as a deputy general manager of
Shenzhen Dongrunda Investments Development Co., Ltd..
Mr. Ge graduated from Anhui Open University majoring in
financial accounting in 1990. He obtained the qualification
as an accountant in October 1994.

Mr. Wang Yong, aged 52, was appointed as a Non-
Executive Director of our Group on 21 April 2015. Mr.
Wang has been primarily responsible for supervising our
Group’s overall management and strategic planning. Mr.
Wang has been working as a deputy managing director at
Beijing Tianyi Jinxiu Co., Ltd. since 2003.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Fu Yuehong, aged 59, was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of our Group on 10
July 2019. She is the president of Beijing Commercial
Association. Ms. Fu graduated from the Beijing Institute
of Business (now known as Beijing Technology and
Business University) with a bachelor’s degree in business
and economics in 1983. She is a senior economist and
also holds a bachelor’s degree in law in China University
of Political Science and Law. She had been the deputy
minister of finance and minister of Marketing of Beijing New
Yansha Group*, and was the chairman of Beijing Capital
Retailing Group Co., Ltd. (stock code: 600723), a company
listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange, from February 2015 to
June 2018. She has extensive experience in management,
finance and marketing.

Biographical Details of Directors an
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Mr. Tan Song Kwang, aged 53, was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of our Group on
3 November 2015. Mr. Tan has been a director of the
Financial Advisory Department of Stratus Capital Pte Ltd.
since 2005 and an independent director, chairman of the
nomination committee and member of the remuneration
and audit committees of Oriental Group Ltd. (SGX: 5FI)
from February 2004 to December 2016. From May 2012 to
January 2014, he served as an independent non-executive
director, chairman of the remuneration committee, member
of the nomination and audit committees of China Paper
Holdings Ltd (SGX: C71). Mr. Tan graduated from National
University of Singapore with a bachelor’s degree in arts,
majoring in economics and sociology, in 1991.

Mr. Yau Yan Yuen, aged 33, was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Group on 18
July 2018.Mr. Yau has joined Wai Hung Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 3321) since February 2018 and
appointed as Chief Financial Officer on 21 February 2018.
Mr. Yau is responsible for the overall financial management
of Wai Hung Group Holdings Limited. Mr. Yau graduated
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a
bachelor’s degree of business administration (Honours) in
professional accountancy in October 2011. He has been a
certified public accountant registered with the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since January
2018. Prior to joining Wai Hung Group Holdings Limited,
Mr. Yau worked in the audit and assurance department
at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu since September 2011 and
he left Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as an audit manager in
February 2018.

Note:

Each of the Directors does not have any relationship with any other
Directors and any member of our senior management.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Fu Chung Yiu, aged 45, was appointed as chief
financial controller of the Group on 3 April 2018. Mr. Fu
holds a bachelor’s degree of science in actuarial science
from London School of Economics and Political Science.
Mr. Fu has over 17 years’ experience in financial, merger
& acquisition, risk and investment management. He
previously worked in Chevalier Asset Management Limited
(a wholly own subsidiary of Chevalier International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 025)) and UBS Group AG as assistant
manager and associate director respectively. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Fu was a director of an advisory
company.

Ms. Lai Man Sze, aged 40, was appointed as company
secretary of the Group on 17 April 2020. Ms. Lai has been
a certified public accountant registered with the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since September
2008. She holds a bachelor’'s degree of commerce in
finance and accounting from University of New South
Wales, Australia. Ms. Lai joined the Company in March
2020 as a finance manager. Ms. Lai has over 15 years of
extensive experience in the field of accounting, auditing
and financial management. She worked at Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, an international professional services firm in
Hong Kong.

Biographical Details of Directors an
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The board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”)
is pleased to present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 31
to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s financial performance for the year ended 31
December 2020 is set out in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on page 108 of this annual report
and the financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2020 are set out in the consolidated statement of financial
position on page 110 of this annual report.

The financial position of the Company as at 31 December
2020 is set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020. The
dividend policy of the Group is set out in the section
headed “Corporate Governance Report” on page 20 to 34
to this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital
during the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in
note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2020 are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
in page 112 and note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
The Company’s reserve available for distribution as at 31

December 2020 was approximately RMB39.3 million (as at
31 December 2019: RMB36.8 million).
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CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group did
not made any charitable contributions (2019: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the Group’s property, plant and equipment during
the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in note 17
to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

A review of the financial performance and business of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2020 and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development
are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to
19 of this annual report.

USE OF PROCEEDS

Disposal of 19.25% of equity interest of Capital Land
Digital Entertainment Co. Ltd

On 28 August 2019, the Group entered into equity
transfer agreements with three different purchasers for the
disposal of 19.25% of equity interest of Capital Land Digital
Entertainment Co. Ltd., and the disposal was completed
on 31 December 2019. The total consideration in cash
was RMB15,400,000 and the net proceeds was amounted
to RMB14,735,000. As at 31 December 2020, the net
proceeds from Disposal has been utilised as follows:

- approximately RMB4,635,000 has been utilised to
finance the production of TV serial programs

- approximately RMB3,149,000 has been utilised to
pay for concert organisation expenses

- approximately RMB4,951,000 has been utilised for
repayment of shareholders’ loan
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The remaining of approximately RMB2,000,000 will be
used in paying for concert organisation expenses. Due
to the pandemic of COVID-19, most of the concerts are
tentatively to start resume at the earliest of the end of
2021 or early 2022, and the use of proceed for concert
organisation is expected to be postponed.

The details of the Disposal can be referred to the circular of
the Company dated 24 September 2019.

Share subscription

On 23 January 2020, pursuant to the subscription
agreement entered into between the Company and
Mr. Wu Jian (“Mr. Wu”, an independent third party of
the Company under GEM Listing Rules) on 10 January
2020 (the “Subscription Agreement”), the Company
completed the issuance of 158,064,516 new ordinary
shares of the Company (with aggregate nominal value of
HK$1,580,645.16) (the “Subscription Share(s)”) to Mr. Wu
at the subscription price of HK$0.062 (the “Subscription
Price”) per Subscription Share (the “Subscription”). The
closing price quoted on the Stock Exchange per ordinary
share of the Company as at the date of the Subscription
Agreement was HK$0.075. The gross proceeds from
the Subscription is HK$9,800,000 and the net proceeds
from the Subscription is approximately HK$9,790,000
after deducting the related expenses. The net issue price
was approximately HK$0.062 per Subscription Share.
Upon the completion of the Subscription, Mr. Wu owns
158,064,516 ordinary shares of the Company, representing
approximately 9.99% of the issued share capital
immediately after the completion of the Subscription.
The Directors consider that the Subscription represents
a good opportunity to raise funds for the development
and production of serial programs which the Company
has entered into and to strengthen the capital base of the
Company. As at 31 December 2020, the net proceeds
from the Subscription has been fully utilised as follows:

- approximately HK$5,843,000 has been utilised to
finance the production of TV serial programs

- approximately HK$2,067,000 has been utilised to
pay for concert organisation expenses

- approximately HK$1,880,000 has been utilised for
general working capital of the Company
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A number of factors may affect the results and business
operations of the Group, major risks are summarised
below.

Reliance on limited number of customers

The Group derived a significant portion of our revenue
from a limited number of customers. For the year ended
31 December 2020, the five largest customers of the
Group contributed 90.2% of total revenue to the Group.
There is a risk that these significant customers to cancel
or early terminate the contract and no assurance that
these significant customers will continue their business
relationship with the Group or that the revenue generated
from the customers will increase or be maintained in the
future. The Group will continue to expand the customer
base to mitigate the risk.

Intense competition

The television broadcasting content production market
is highly fragmented. New players are entering into the
market, while existing big players are growing. The Group
is facing pricing pressure from the television station
customers which have the sole decision making to which
program to be played. The Group also faces threat of
substitution by films, television series and competition
programs which take up higher proportions of audience
rating compared to television broadcasting contents such
as variety shows.

The robust sector in the event organisation is very
competitive. Apart from competition with other event
organisers, television stations, online video networks and
film distributors with high backward integration ability, many
corporations setup their own in-house public relations,
which have the ability to organise their own events such as
annual parties. Further, companies that are well-established
in other related fields such as public relations agencies,
also are the potential competitors of the event organisation
segment of the Group.
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Uncertainties of market demand of recently
developed business

The Group had made material investment in the mobile
live broadcasting and e-commerce business. The Group
believes this business has huge potential under the fast
growing internet platform and the huge demand in the pan-
entertainment sector. However, the instability in determining
reliable estimates on the fast changing users’ behaviors
make no assurance that our optimistic expectation on
these businesses can be realized. Further, its regulatory
control are not fully sophisticated. The Group’s operations
of “entertainment contents + social media + e-commerce”
of mobile live broadcasting and e-commerce business
require quick reaction to the rapid market changes,
therefore the Group has not yet been affirmed that the
value of this business model will be realized in the short
term.

Mobile live broadcasting and e-commerce is not
necessities, the demand of these businesses may fall
significantly if the economy in the PRC faces material
downturn with the decrease in purchasing power of
potential consumers. In addition, the consumption trend
and demand of the internet and pan-entertainment can
be changed quickly, the Group may require to deploy
resources continuously to attract and retain the customers’
loyalty. The management of the Group will closely monitor
the operation and the market changes of this segment.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

Discussions on the Group’s relationships with its
employees, customers and suppliers is contained in the
section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” on pages 35 to 64 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES
Discussion on the Group’s environmental policies is
contained in the section headed “Environmental, Social

and Governance Report” on pages 35 to 64 of this annual
report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC and Hong Kong while
the Company itself is listed on GEM. The establishment
and operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws
and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong. During the
year ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this
report, the Group has complied with all the relevant laws
and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis
to existing shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last 5 financial years is set out on page
219 of this annual report.

PURCHASES, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries have
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 December 2020.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2020 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive directors

Mr. Philip Jian Yang (Chairman)
Ms. Yang Jianping

Non-executive directors

Mr. Yang Shiyuan

Mr. Ge Xuyu

Mr. Wang Yong

Independent non-executive directors
Ms. Fu Yuehong

Mr. Yau Yan Yuen
Mr. Tan Song Kwang
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One-third of the Directors shall retire from office by
rotation and re-election at an annual general meeting of
the Company in accordance with the Articles, providing
that every director shall be retired at least once every three
years.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Philip Jian Yang has entered into directors’ service
contract with the Company for an initial fixed term of three
years commencing from 18 November 2015 (the “Listing
Date”) renewable automatically until terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party
on the other expiring at the end of the initial term or any
time thereafter.

Ms. Yang Jianping has entered into a service contract
with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years
commencing from 6 April 2017 renewable automatically
until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other expiring at the
end of the initial term or any time thereafter.

The non-executive directors of the Company were not
appointed for a specific term but their respective terms
of office are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Articles. The rotation clause sets up
a mechanism to ensure that all Directors of the Company
shall retire at least once every three years and be eligible
for re-election.

Each of our independent non-executive directors has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company.
Each letter of appointment is for an initial term commencing
on the date of the letter of appointment and shall continue
thereafter subject to a maximum of three years unless
terminated by either party giving at least one month’s
notice in writing.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors has or
is proposed to enter into a service contract/letter of
appointment with the Company or any of the subsidiaries of
the Company (other than contracts expiring or determinable
by the Group within one year without the payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation)).
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Board has reviewed the risk
management and internal controls and the audited annual
results of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2020 and has provided advice and comments thereon.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles provides that Directors and officers of the
Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by
reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about
the execution of their duty. Directors and officers liability
insurance is arranged to cover the Directors and officers
of the Company against any potential costs and liabilities
arising from claims brought against them.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No Directors of the Company had a material beneficial
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of
significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the
year.

Save as disclosed under the heading “Continuing
connected transactions” and “Connected transaction”
below and “Related party transactions” in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements, there is no contract
of significance to the business of the Group between
the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, or a controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, to which the
Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries was a part, during the year. During
the year, no contract of significance for the provision of
services to the Group by a controlling shareholder or any of
its subsidiaries was made.

Save as the continued connected transactions and
connected transactions disclosed in this report, the related
party transactions of the Group constituted fully exempted
connected transactions under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and
the senior management of the Group are set out on page
65 to 68 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2020, the interest and short position
of the Directors of the Company and chief executive of the
Group in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFQO”)), as recorded in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors
of listed issuers as referred to in Rules 5.46 of the GEM
Listing Rules were as follows:

() Long positions in ordinary shares of the
Company
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Percentage of
the Company’s
issued share

Capacity and Number of capital
Name of Director nature of interest shares BRITRE
BEEEW ERMtE BoEE BOEIHE
Goldbless International Limited Beneficial owner o 382,500,000 24.18
(“Goldbless”) BEmia Am
SEBEBRERAR(£%E])
Mr. Wang Yong Interest of controlled corporation 382,500,000 2418

EBRE

Note: The entire issued share capital of Goldbless is owned
by Mr. Wang Yong. Under the SFO, Mr. Wang Yong is
deemed to be interested in all the shares registered in
the name of Goldbless.
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(i) Long positions in ordinary shares of US$1.00
each in Youth Success Holdings Limited (“Youth

(i) BREEB1ZTEERNER

Success”)

Number of Percentage of
Name of Director shares shareholding
EEEB RHEE REBNBEDI L
Mr. Philip Jian Yang e 1,273 12.73
1R 55 A e
Ms. Yang Jianping M2 150 1.50
BT o)
Mr. Yang Shiyuan o3 148 1.48
T3 5 A (92
Notes: Bt -

1. Mr. Philip Jian Yang holds the shares of Youth
Success through Ever Ring Holdings Limited which is
wholly-owned by him.

2. Ms. Yang Jianping holds the shares of Youth Success
through Rich Promise Investments Limited which is
wholly-owned by her.

3. Mr. Yang Shiyuan holds the shares through State
Trade Global Limited which is wholly-owned by him.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none
of the directors and chief executives of the Company had
any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors
of listed issuers as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

1. BRIELEFEBEZERANEXERERARSA

Youth Success#Jf% 5 °

2. BRFILLIEBHR2EREMNELINEERAEE
Youth SuccessHIRL) °

3. BRI EFEBHE 2 E ¥ H K State Trade Global
Limited# 5 Youth SuccessHIL 17 °

BREXFEBREN RZTE_TF+_A=+—H0 #&
ARBEEREBITHRABRAR B K EEMRBERECE
&R ESZ LB GROIFEXVED) S ERRD - BREkG RME
FHRBARCARBEE S M E R FIB2GFENEAR
AERCH - HREGEM LM AR A5 .461% T LW 31T A
EEETRHGNRERERANEANA LB R EES
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FERAISERERAT T _TEFERS

78



79

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2020, the following persons (other than
a Director of the Company or chief executive of the Group)
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required
to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:

FERRRAEMATRARBRG RERR G HERR
09}

RZZE-ZHF+-_A=1+—8 REFHFIABKHE
3BIRAFENELCMATRLE » THAL(RRARESHA
SETETHRABRINRAR BN KA A

SL B JUAS .
HIOKR

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company

Name of Shareholder

BREE

Capacity and nature of interest

EEMtE

REAREBEROER

Number of
shares

R EE

Percentage of
the Company’s
issued share
capital
2RITRE
BHEIHE

Youth Success

Guang Rui Investments Limited
(“Guang Rui”)

RIREAR AR (eI ])

Mr. Yang Shaogian (“Mr. Yang”)

B E(HBELED

Ms. Mu Sufang (“Ms Mu”)

eEFLL((frt))

Mr. Wu Jian
RExE

Creative China Holdings Limited

Beneficial owner M 7: deemed interest
under shareholders voting
agreement (o 1)

BB AT RIBERRRRMERR SR
A RE L Wiy

Beneficial owner; interest in controlled
corporation ™ 7; deemed interest under
shareholders voting agreement (Mt

BB A NI EBRER) 1B
AR RIE E R AR A s ()

Interest in controlled Corporation % 7;
interest of spouse ™*2; deemed interest
under shareholders voting
agreement (ot )

PP AE RS BBRERS a2
REBEBREE BHEBAR A A

Interest in controlled Corporation M ;
interest of spouse ™*2; deemed interest
under shareholders voting
agreement o 7

PP AE RS BB a2
IRIERR RIS AR S AR

Beneficial owner
EnEEA
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866,868,000

879,840,000

879,840,000

879,840,000

158,064,516

54.81

55.63

55.63

55.63
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Notes:

1. Youth Success and Guang Rui owns 406,890,000 shares
and 12,972,000 shares respectively, representing 28.58%
and 0.91% of the issued share capital of the Company (as
at 31 December 2020). The issued share capital of Youth
Success is legally and beneficially owned as to 83.54%
by Guang Rui. Under the SFO, Guang Rui is deemed to
be interested in all the Shares registered in the name of
Youth Success. The entire issued share capital of Guang
Rui is legally and beneficially owned as to 60% by Mr.
Yang and 40% by Ms. Mu. By virtue of the shareholders
voting agreement entered into by Mr. Yang, Ms. Mu, Youth
Success, Mr. Li Lin, Alpha Master Global Limited (“Alpha
Master”), Ms. Yang Qi, Qiao Tian Limited (“Qiao Tian”), Mr.
Wang Yong and Goldbless, Youth Success is deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by Alpha Master, Qiao Tian
and Goldbless in aggregate by virtue of the SFO.

2. Ms. Mu is the spouse of Mr. Yang, therefore she is deemed
to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Yang is
deemed to be interested, and vice versa.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, no
other interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the share option scheme on 3
November 2015 (the “Share Option Scheme”) and, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for
10 years from the date of its adoption and enables the
Company to grant share options to the eligible persons
(including any executive director, non-executive director
and independent non-executive director, advisor and
consultant of the Group) (the “Eligible Person(s)”) as
incentives or rewards for their contributions to the Group.
No share option was granted, exercised, expired or
lapsed since its adoption by the Company and there is no
outstanding share option under the Share Option Scheme.

1. Youth Success K ¥ I 9 5l # & 406,890,000 & &
12,972, O0ORRAR 1 » fh 72 A2 817 A% 7<28.58% £2.0.91%
(R=—Z=-_ZF+=-F=+—H) ° Youth SuccessH) & &
fTHleSmﬁ‘ﬁfﬁﬁm&&EE%ﬁS&M% RIEES KBAEK
il » YeIsuAR B LAYouth Success 3 & 2 HIFTA LD
HEEED -  MENEHEBHTRABBEEREL TSR
BEREREEAB0%KLA0% o RIEB LA « B2t - Youth
Success * 2RS4~ Alpha Master Global Limited ([ Alpha
Master|) ~ #BE 21 » n_ﬂ,iﬁﬁﬁ A(M@X]) IBXE
N IR BRI ZE R - Youth Successikik &5 M 2
BEIEGIAR AR Alpha Master BREEESHFEORG
AR o

2. EBERETRBELENER Bt REEARBEERER
BERGNMERNPEEELS  RZTFA -

BREXFIEBEEN  R2F-_FTFE+_A=1+—H #E
KRR SARB AR O E b s R B R E A A )
RIEE 7 KB GG F 3361 AF ENELMA -

Edive Bl

ARRER-E—RF T+ A=ZHERMABREE([BER
restall) [ﬁ,%jj*ﬁ_ufﬁﬁjzfmm\ ARSI R B
HIEET 0B A X - BEEABIEARRRIARAAER
AL (BREASEIANTES  FTEF  BIIFHIT
EERER)([AEBALTDELBERE FREFHAN
SEPFMEERMERREH - B AR AZRABAMEBIA
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The total number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon the exercise of all share options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes adopted by the Group from time to time
(the “Other Schemes”) must not, in aggregate, exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue of as at the Listing
Date, the date which the Company listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”) provided
that the share options lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the Shares Option Scheme or Other Schemes will not
be counted for the purpose of calculating the Scheme
Mandate Limit. On the basis of 1,200,000,000 Shares in
issue on the Listing Date, the Scheme Mandate Limit will
be equivalent to 120,000,000 Shares, representing 10%
of the Shares in issue as at the Listing Date and 7.59% of
the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of this
report.

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to
be issued upon exercise of the share options granted to
each Eligible Person under the Share Option Scheme and
Other Schemes (including both exercised and outstanding
Options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue from time to time, and
provided that if approved by shareholders of the Company
in general meeting with such Eligible Person and his
associates abstaining from voting, the Company may make
a further grant of share options to such Eligible Person (the
“Further Grant”) notwithstanding that the Further Grant
would result in the shares of the Company issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all share options granted and
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and Other
Schemes to such Eligible Person (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding Options) in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of the Further Grant
representing in aggregate over 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time.

Upon acceptance of the share option, the Eligible Person
under the Share Option Scheme shall pay HK$1.00 to the
Company by way of consideration for the grant. The share
option will be offered for acceptance for a period of 28
days from the date on which the share option is granted.
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The subscription price for the shares of the Company
subject to the Share Options Scheme will be a price
determined by the Board and notified to each Eligible
Person and shall be the highest of (i) the closing price
of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant
of the share options, which must be a trading day of the
Stock Exchange; (i) the average closing price of the shares
of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five trading days of the Stock
Exchange immediately preceding the date of grant of the
share options; and (jii) the nominal value of a share of the
Company.

An share option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a
period to be determined and notified by the Board to each
Eligible Person provided that the period within which the
share option must be exercised shall not be more than 10
years from the date of the grant of share option.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2020
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning
the management and administration of the whole and
any part of the Company’s business were entered into or
existed during the year ended 31 December 2020.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, for the
continuing operations, revenue from the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for approximately 90.2% of total
revenue and sales to the largest customer included therein
amounted to approximately 23.8% of total revenue. The
Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
94.3% of total direct costs during the year ended 31
December 2020 and purchases from the largest supplier
included therein amounted to approximately 65.2% of total
direct costs.
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None of the Directors or any of their close associates
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules), or any of the
shareholders of the Company (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest
in the Group’s five largest customers or its five largest
suppliers during the year ended 31 December 2020.

PENSION SCHEME ARRANGEMENTS

A Mandatory Provident Fund (the “MPF Scheme”) has
been set up for employees in Hong Kong, in accordance
to the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance. All employees
in Hong Kong are required to join the MPF Scheme and
the employees and its employer are each required to
contribute 5% of their gross earnings with a current ceiling
of HK$1,500 per month to the MPF scheme. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF scheme
is to make required contribution under the scheme. No
forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution
payable in the future. The contribution charged to the
statement of comprehensive income represents the
contribution payable to the funds by the Group.

Employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
required to participate in defined contribution retirement
schemes operated by local municipal governments.
Contributions are made to the schemes in accordance to
certain percentage to the applicable employee payroll.

COMPETING INTERESTS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, none of the
Directors, the controlling shareholders of the Company and
their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) as at 31 December 2020 had any interest
in any business which competes or is likely to compete,
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group or any
other conflicts of interest with the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, at
least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was
held by the public as at the date of this report.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance report is set out on
page 20 to 34 of this annual report.

Creative China Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2020

BE_Z_TF+_A=1t—HULFE EFIFFZE
M EEBEA(EERGEM LR A AR BEMA AR
(BEFMMRA - FHAARRFDHEITRAS%IA L) BERA
KEAAFFSAEIAHBEETHEA T E DS

RRETEIZ B

AEEEREHEREEFEGD - BEBEERILEH
AR E([BRETE]) - MERBRERELAS NS
BERE - REBBESFE M BEXREFEERA
& BIRBFMo% SIS BN - B ATAE A1,500%8
TERLER - AREERES A E T 2B EEREE
TR 2 3R - SRTE ST &I B0 Wz AT HURHE
ARFEZERAHER - REARERANKz@ESH
F o RAKERNERES ZH -

ARFNFEZHBEAR 2 RAASRE N TRTRLL
R BRI - BRETAEAE L HMEETE

DL RBREET &I

BEER

HEZZ-ZFF+_A=+—HILFE  EF -  AQAZE
BIRREMFEES B2 BETHEA(EERLGEMETRAN R
CECEF+ At HBEEEMERNSEEREE
SEERFRAUERFNEST R R AAEEF T
Al E AR 5 E 28 o

ERERABRERE

REARBCAASZERRBESEHM  RARER
H - ARREHEBTRATRDBE2BBHARALIEA °

ARRZ BREARERNAFRF20EI4H -



CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Beijing Emphasis Media Co., Ltd.* (“Emphasis Media”),
Starry Knight Entertainment Co., Ltd.* (“Starry Knight”),
Beijing Joy Star Production Co., Ltd.* (“Joy Star”), Beijing
New Image Media Co. Ltd.* (“New Image”) and Beijing
Great Wise Media Co., Ltd.” (“Great Wise”) (collectively
defined as the “PRC Contractual Entities”) are deemed to
be the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company pursuant
to the Contractual Arrangement.

Summary of the information in relation to the Contractual
Arrangement are as follows.

Information on the PRC Contractual Entities and their
Registered Owners

At the date of this report, Emphasis Media is owned as
to 10% by Mr. Yang and as to 65.33% by New Element,
with the remaining 26.17% equity interest is held as to
12% by Mr. Li Lin, 5% by Ms. Yang Qi, 4% by Mr. Sun Rui,
1.5% by Mr. Yang Shiyuan, 1.5% by Ms. Yang Jianping
and 0.67% by Mr. Wan Shuxing (collectively referred as
“Relevant Shareholders”).

Each of Starry Knight, New Image and Great Wise is
wholly-owned by Emphasis Media.

Joy Star is held as to 97% by Ms. Mu and 3% by Mr. Yang.
Business Overview of the PRC Contractual Entities
Emphasis Media, New Image and Great Wise are principally
engaged in the provision of program production services in
the PRC.

Starry Knight and Joy Star are principally engaged in the

provision of program production and event organisation
services and artist management in the PRC.

* For identification purpose only
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The PRC Contractual Entities hold certain licences and
permits required for the operation of abovementioned
principal business (including The Permit to Produce and
Distribute Radio or Television Programs and operate as
a performance brokerage enterprise with the relevant
licence). According to the Guidance Catalogue of Industries
for Foreign Investment (2015 Version), radio and television
program production and operating companies falls within
the prohibited foreign-invested industry, and the production
of television programs (limited to Chinese-foreign
contractual joint ventures) and performance brokerage
fall within the restricted foreign-invested industry. The
principal activities of the Group are provision of program
production and event organisation services in the PRC, the
sectors where foreign investment is subject to significant
restrictions under PRC laws and regulations. Accordingly,
we cannot directly acquire any equity interest in the PRC
Contractual Entities, which hold certain licences and
permits required for the operation of the principal business
of the Group.

As a result, New Talent Media Company Limited* (“New
Talent Media”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, has entered into a series of agreements (the
“Contractual Arrangements”) narrowly tailored to provide
New Talent Media with control over the PRC Contractual
Entities and grant New Talent Media the right to acquire the
equity interests of the PRC Contractual Entities when and
to the extent permitted by the PRC laws and regulations.

Summary of the Major Terms under the Contractual
Arrangement

The Contractual Arrangements consist of: (a) the Business
Operating Agreements, (b) the Powers of Attorney, (c) the
Equity Interest Pledge Agreements, (d) the Exclusive Option
Agreements, (e) the Exclusive Technology Consultation and
Service Agreements and (f) the Spouse Undertakings (in
the case that the Relevant Shareholder is a natural person).

* For identification purpose only
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Business Operating Agreements

Each of the PRC Contractual Entities and its Relevant
Shareholders entered into Business Operating Agreements
with New Talent Media on 18 May 2015 (the “Business
Operating Agreements”), pursuant to which at the request
of each of the PRC Contractual Entities, New Talent Media
may opt to serve as the performance guarantor for each
of the PRC Contractual Entities in any business operating
contracts, agreements or transactions that they entered into
with third parties. In such case, as a counter-guarantee,
each of the PRC Contractual Entities shall agree to pledge
all its operational account receivable and assets to New
Talent Media. If New Talent Media decides to serve as the
performance guarantor for any PRC Contractual Entities,
New Talent Media will enter into a written agreement with
the counterparties of such PRC Contractual Entities to
assume the guarantor’s responsibilities. As such, the PRC
Contractual Entities and the Relevant Shareholders will take
all necessary actions to implement the counter-guarantee
arrangement with New Talent Media.

Under the Business Operating Agreements, each of the
PRC Contractual Entities and its Relevant Shareholders
agree that, without obtaining New Talent Media’s written
consent, each of the PRC Contractual Entities shall not
engage in any transaction which may materially affect its
asset, obligation, right or business operation, including but
not limit to:

(i) Borrowing or assuming any liabilities from any third
parties;

(i) Selling to or acquiring from any third parties any assets
or rights, including but not limited to any intellectual
property rights;

(i)  Providing real rights of securities in relation to assets
or intellectual property rights to any third parties;

(iv)  Transferring any operational agreements to any third
parties.

RBEEGH

EHEAOERREABRRRN _F-AFAA+/\BF]
M EBREHE (XK ERZ]) Bt BHPEANE
BrER  BREXCERAUEENTEAOERRE=T
AUMEARBREAH  HRERARZFFREBOER
A REBAT  (ERRER  PEANEBRRAERE
WX CELRER ARG ERE REE - HERXER
EEIFEANERNBHOERA - BRXCELE/EZ
TEANERNETFIVERBE  WAEERANE
£ At - PEIAHOER MR KRIUL RITEH R
B BREERIERZE -

REXHEEHE STEEHNEBRERBRRAE
ELARBSEEXLBRNEMART - FTEANER
HIRRFEAEAFEREE BF - BAREBEE
M5 BRETRR :

0 EEXEEAE=TAEENEE:

(i) MEAFE=THEREERBETAEEIER
FEETBRA A ERE

@

(i)y  BEESABMEE IR =T REESZ R

(V) RMEAISE =TT B R & e

TEAIEZRERAT T _THEFERSE 86



87

Further, each of the PRC Contractual Entities
and its Relevant Shareholders agree to follow any
recommendations or guidance from New Talent Media
in relation to each of the PRC Contractual Entities’
employment matters, daily operations and management,
as well as financial management policies. Each of the PRC
Contractual Entities and its Relevant Shareholders agree
to appoint New Talent Media’s nominees as its board
directors, and each of the PRC Contractual Entities will
appoint the recommended New Talent Media’s staff as its
general manager, chief finance officer, and for other senior
management roles. If any of abovementioned staff leave
New Talent Media, whether voluntarily or not, their roles in
each of the PRC Contractual Entities will be terminated.

In addition, each of the PRC Contractual Entities and its
Relevant Parties agree to use New Talent Media as the
first resort for any performance guarantee or guarantees
for working capital borrowings. In such case, New Talent
Media has full discretion in deciding whether to provide
such guarantees, and the PRC Contractual Entities can
resort to other third parties if such request is turned down
by New Talent Media.

The relevant Business Operating Agreements have a
term of ten years and will be automatically renewed upon
expiration unless otherwise notified by New Talent Media.
The relevant Business Operating Agreements shall be
terminated prior to expiration when the business period of
either New Talent Media or the PRC Contractual Entities
expires or is terminated by any other reasons except that
all rights and obligations of New Talent Media or any PRC
Contractual Entities under such agreements have been
transferred. If any agreement between New Talent Media
and any PRC Contractual Entities is terminated or expired,
New Talent Media will have the right but not the obligation
to terminate all agreements between New Talent Media
and any PRC Contractual Entities, including but not limited
to the Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements.
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Powers of Attorney

Each of the Relevant Shareholders entered into a power
of attorney on 18 May 2015 (the “Powers of Attorney”).
Pursuant to the Powers of Attorney, each of the Relevant
Shareholders irrevocably appoints designee(s) of our
Company, being the Directors or officers of the Company
who are not related to the shareholders of the PRC
Contractual Entities or his/her successor to act as his/her/
its attorney on his/her/its own behalf to exercise all rights
in connection with matters concerning his/her/its rights
as shareholder of the PRC Contractual Entities, including
but not limited to (i) selling or transferring all or part of his/
her/its equity interests; (i) exercising shareholders’ voting
rights, including nomination and election of director and
nomination and appointment of general manager; (iii)
signing meeting minutes and resolutions; (iv) approving
filing documents with the relevant companies registry and/
or other government authorities in relation to the business
operations of the PRC Contractual Entities; and (v) other
matters decided or executed by the shareholders.

Further, the Powers of Attorney shall remain effective for
ten years from the execution date or it can be terminated
upon the termination of the Business Operating Agreement.
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Equity Interest Pledge Agreements

The Relevant Shareholders and New Talent Media entered
into equity interest pledge agreements on 18 May 2015
(the “Equity Interest Pledge Agreements”). Under the Equity
Interest Pledge Agreements, the Relevant Shareholders
agreed to pledge all their respective equity interests in the
PRC Contractual Entities to New Talent Media, as a security
interest, to guarantee the performance of contractual
obligations and the payment of outstanding debts of the
Relevant Shareholders and the PRC Contractual Entities
under the Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements, Business Operating Agreements and such
other agreements to be entered into under the Contractual
Arrangements. The pledge in respect of a PRC Contractual
Entity takes effect upon the completion of registration
with the competent SAIC and shall remain valid until one
year after all the contractual obligations of the Relevant
Shareholders and such PRC Contractual Entity under
the relevant Contractual Arrangements have been fully
performed and all the outstanding debts of the Relevant
Shareholders and such PRC Contractual Entity under the
relevant Contractual Arrangements have been fully paid.
During the valid period of the pledge, absent prior written
consent of New Talent Media, the Relevant Shareholders
shall not create or agree to create any new pledge or
any other security on the equity interests of the PRC
Contractual Entities, nor assign or transfer any of the equity
interests of the PRC Contractual Entities or any rights or
obligations under this agreement.

The Equity Interest Pledge Agreements will be terminated
after one year upon fulfilment of all contractual obligations
of the Relevant Shareholders and such PRC Contractual
Entity under the relevant Contractual Arrangements.
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Exclusive Option Agreements

Each of the PRC Contractual Entities and its Relevant
Shareholders entered into exclusive option agreements
with New Talent Media on 18 May 2015 (the “Exclusive
Option Agreements”), pursuant to which the Relevant
Shareholders irrevocably, exclusively and unconditionally
grant exclusive options to New Talent Media which entitles
New Talent Media to elect to purchase, when permitted
by the then applicable PRC laws, all or any part of the
equity interests of the PRC Contractual Entities from the
Relevant Shareholders and/or all or any of assets of the
PRC Contractual Entities by itself or through its designee(s).
In the event that any of the options is exercised by New
Talent Media, the transfer price of the relevant equity
interests and assets shall be the legal minimum price
under the then-applicable PRC law. Any of such transfer
is subject to approval and registration with government
authorities. Subject to applicable PRC laws, each of the
Relevant Shareholders shall transfer all the consideration
he/her/it receives in relation to such sale of equity interest
in the PRC Contractual Entities at nil consideration as a
gift to New Talent Media or the designee(s) of New Talent
Media after receiving such consideration, after deduction of
applicable taxes and governmental fees.

Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreements, the PRC
Contractual Entities and the Relevant Shareholders shall not
sell, transfer, pledge or dispose of in any other manner the
legal or beneficial interest in any assets, business or income
of the PRC Contractual Entities. The PRC Contractual
Entities and the Relevant Shareholders undertake to
maintain the asset value of the PRC Contractual Entities
and not to take any action which may affect their business
operations or asset value. Absent prior written consent
of New Talent Media, the PRC Contractual Entities and
the Relevant Shareholders shall not (i) in any manner
supplement, change or amend the articles of association
of the PRC Contractual Entities, increase or decrease their
registered capital or change their structure of registered
capital in any other manner; or (i) engage in transactions
that could materially affect the assets, liabilities, rights or
operations of the PRC Contractual Entities, including (a)
incur debts, except those incurred in the ordinary course
of business or disclosed to and consented by New Talent
Media; (b) execute any material contracts with a value
above RMB100,000, except those entered into in the
ordinary course of business; (c) provide loans or guarantee;
(d) merge or consolidate with, acquire or invest in any
entity; and (e) distribute dividends or profits to the Relevant
Shareholders.
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In addition, each of the Relevant Shareholders will take
appropriate measures to maintain its shareholding in the
PRC Contractual Entities, including (i) not to, sell, transfer,
pledge or dispose of in any other manner, or allow any
other security interest to be created on the legal or
beneficial equity interest in the PRC Contractual Entities
without the prior written consent of New Talent Media,
except for the Equity Interest Pledge Agreements, and
procure the shareholders’ meeting of the PRC Contractual
Entities not to approve such matters; (i) for each exercise
of the equity purchase option, to cause the shareholders’
meeting of the PRC Contractual Entities to vote on the
approval of the transfer of equity interests and any other
action requested by New Talent Media; and (i) to relinquish
the pre-emptive right (if any) the Relevant Shareholder is
entitled to in relation to the transfer of equity interest by any
other Relevant Shareholders to New Talent Media. Each
of the Relevant Shareholders will transfer to New Talent
Media or its designee(s), by way of gift, any profit, dividend,
transfer proceeds or any other interest arising from the
equity interests held by such Relevant Shareholder in the
PRC Contractual Entities. The PRC Contractual Entities
and the Relevant Shareholders shall, at the request of
New Talent Media, appoint any person nominated by New
Talent Media in its sole discretion as directors of the PRC
Contractual Entities. Each of the Relevant Shareholders
irrevocably undertakes that whenever requested by
New Talent Media, such shareholder will transfer,
unconditionally all of the equity interests held by him/her/it
in the PRC Contractual Entities to New Talent Media or its
designee(s) at a price equal to the price as determined in
the circumstances where New Talent Media exercises its
option under the Exclusive Option Agreements.

The relevant Exclusive Option Agreements have a term of
ten years and will be automatically renewed upon expiration
unless otherwise notified by New Talent Media. The
relevant Exclusive Option Agreements shall be terminated
prior to expiration when the business period of either New
Talent Media or the PRC Contractual Entities expires or is
terminated by any other reasons except that all rights and
obligations of New Talent Media under such agreements
have been transferred to a third party.
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Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements

New Talent Media entered into exclusive technology
consultation and service agreements with each of the
PRC Contractual Entities on 18 May 2015 (the “Exclusive
Technology Consultation and Service Agreements”),
pursuant to which each of the PRC Contractual Entities
agreed to engage New Talent Media as their exclusive
provider of technical and management consulting services
and other technology and consultancy services requested
by each of the PRC Contractual Entities from time to
time to the extent permitted under PRC laws in each of
exchange for service fees. In light of the services that New
Talent Media agreed to provide to the PRC Contractual
Entities pursuant to the Exclusive Technology Consultation
and Service Agreements, the service fees, subject to New
Talent Media’s adjustment, are equal to 100% of each
of the PRC Contractual Entities’ net profit after tax. In
addition, New Talent Media may at its absolute discretion
lower the service fees with reference to the operation cost
and financial budget relating to business development plan
of each of the PRC Contractual Entities. New Talent Media is
also entitled to make any other adjustments of the service
fees at the end of every quarter in accordance with the
quarterly revenue and profit of each of the PRC Contractual
Entities under HKFRSs.

In addition, absent the prior written consent of New
Talent Media, the PRC Contractual Entities shall not
assign or transfer any of the rights and/or obligations
under the Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements to any third party. Unless otherwise required
by the applicable PRC laws, the PRC Contractual Entities
shall not be entitled to terminate the Exclusive Technology
Consultation and Service Agreements either.
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The Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements also provide that New Talent Media has
the exclusive proprietary rights to all intellectual property
rights developed or created during the performance
of the Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements. The PRC Contractual Entities shall assign
their intellectual property rights to New Talent Media upon
request of New Talent Media. Our PRC Legal Adviser is of
the opinion that (i) it is legal for New Talent Media to hold
these intellectual property rights pursuant to the terms
of the Exclusive Technology Consultation and Service
Agreements; and (i) that New Talent Media and the PRC
Contractual Entities are not in violation of the requirements
of Patent Law of the PRC, Trade Mark Law of PRC and
Copyright Law of the PRC regarding the ownership of
intellectual property rights.

The relevant Exclusive Technology Consultation and
Service Agreements have a term of ten years and will
be automatically renewed for consecutive terms of one
year upon expiry unless otherwise notified by New Talent
Media. The relevant Exclusive Technology Consultation and
Service Agreements shall be terminated prior to expiration
in the event that (a) the business period of either New
Talent Media or the PRC Contractual Entities expires or is
terminated by any other reasons except that all right and
obligation of New Talent Media under such agreements
has been transferred to a third party (b) New Talent Media
unilaterally terminates such agreements by advance written
notice.

Spouse Undertakings

The spouse of each of the individual Relevant Shareholders,
if applicable, has signed an undertaking on 18 May
2015 (“Spouse Undertakings”). Pursuant to the Spouse
Undertakings, each of the spouses unconditionally and
irrevocably undertakes that:

()  the spouse has been made fully aware of the
Contractual Arrangements and consented that such
Relevant Shareholder is the sole beneficiary of all the
rights and interests and solely assumes obligations
under the Contractual Arrangements; further, he/she
does not and will not have any interests or rights
under the Contractual Arrangements, nor assumes
any obligations thereunder;
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(i)  all the equity interests held by such Relevant
Shareholder in the PRC Contractual Entities shall be
deemed as assets solely owned by such Relevant
Shareholder, not mutual assets jointly owned by him/
her and the related Relevant Shareholder;

@iy the spouse will not participate in the operation or
management of the PRC Contractual Entities, nor will
claim any interests or rights in the equities of the PRC
Contractual Entities;

(iv)  the spouse has confirmed that the performance and
further amendment or termination of the Contractual
Arrangements by such Relevant Shareholder do
not require his/her authorisation or consent; in the
event of divorce (as the case may be), such Relevant
Shareholder has sole discretion to decide how to
dispose of his/her interests in the PRC Contractual
Entities; and

(v) in the event that the spouse obtains any interests
in the PRC Contractual Entities, he/she will be
subject to and abide by the terms of the Contractual
Arrangements as if he/she was a signing party to
such Contractual Arrangements, and at the request
of New Talent Media he/she will sign any documents
in the form and substance consistent with the
Contractual Arrangements.

Revenue and Assets in relation to the Contractual
Arrangement

During the year ended 31 December 2020, revenue
attributable to the PRC Contractual Entities (i.e. the
Contractual Arrangement) was approximately RMB35.5
million. As at 31 December 2020, the total asset and net
asset attributable to the PRC Contractual Entities was
approximately RMB197.8 million and RMB53.4 million
respectively.

Risks Related to the Contractual Arrangement

We rely on the Contractual Arrangements with the PRC
Contractual Entities for our operations in China, which may
not be as effective in providing operational control as direct
ownership.
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We have relied and expect to continue to rely on the
Contractual Arrangements with the PRC Contractual
Entities to operate our program production business
in China. The Contractual Arrangements may not be
as effective in providing us with control over the PRC
Contractual Entities as direct ownership. If we had direct
ownership of the PRC Contractual Entities, we would
be able to exercise our rights as a shareholder to effect
changes in the board of directors of those entities, which
in turn could effect changes, subject to any applicable
fiduciary obligations, at the management level. However,
under the Contractual Arrangements, we rely on the
performance by the PRC Contractual Entities and their
shareholders of their obligations under the contracts
to exercise control over the PRC Contractual Entities.
Therefore, the Contractual Arrangements with the PRC
Contractual Entities may not be as effective in ensuring our
control over our operations in China as direct ownership
would be.

Any failure by the PRC Contractual Entities or their
respective shareholders to perform their obligations under
the Contractual Arrangements with them would have
a material adverse effect on our business and financial
conditions.

If a PRC Contractual Entity or its shareholders fail
to perform their obligations under the Contractual
Arrangements, we may have to incur substantial costs and
resources to enforce our rights under the contracts, and
rely on legal remedies under PRC law, including seeking
specific performance or injunctive relief and claiming
damages, which may not be effective. For example, if the
shareholders of a PRC Contractual Entity were to refuse to
transfer their equity interest in such Contractual Entity to us
or our designee when we exercise the call option pursuant
to the Contractual Arrangements, or if they were otherwise
to act in bad faith toward us, then we may have to take
legal actions to compel them to perform their contractual
obligations.
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We conduct a substantial portion of our business
operations in the PRC through the PRC Contractual Entities
by way of the Contractual Arrangements, but certain of
the terms of the Contractual Arrangements may not be
enforceable under PRC laws.

All of these Contractual Arrangements are governed
by PRC laws and provide for the resolution of disputes
through arbitration in China. Accordingly, these contracts
would be interpreted in accordance with PRC laws and any
disputes would be resolved in accordance with PRC legal
procedures. The legal system in China is not as developed
as in other jurisdictions. As a result, uncertainties in the
PRC legal system could limit our ability to enforce these
contractual arrangements. Under PRC law, rulings by
arbitrators are final, parties cannot appeal the arbitration
results in courts, and the prevailing parties may only
enforce the arbitration awards in PRC courts through
arbitration award recognition proceedings, which would
incur additional expenses and delay. In the event we are
unable to enforce these contractual arrangements, we
may not be able to exert effective control over our the PRC
Contractual Entities, and our ability to conduct our business
may be negatively affected.

The Contractual Arrangements contain provisions to the
effect that the arbitral body may award remedies over
the shares and/or assets of the PRC Contractual Entities,
injunctive relief and/or winding up of the PRC Contractual
Entities. These agreements also contain provisions to the
effect that courts of competent jurisdictions are empowered
to grant interim remedies in support of the arbitration
pending the formation of an arbitral tribunal. However,
under PRC laws, these terms may not be enforceable.
Under PRC laws, an arbitral body does not have the power
to grant directly injunctive relief or to issue a provisional or
final liquidation order for the purpose of protecting assets of
or equity interests in the PRC Contractual Entities in case of
disputes. In addition, interim remedies or enforcement order
granted by overseas courts such as Hong Kong and the
Cayman Islands may not be recognisable or enforceable in
China. Therefore, in the event of breach of any agreements
constituting the Contractual Arrangements by the PRC
Contractual Entities and the Relevant Shareholders, and if
we are unable to enforce the Contractual Arrangements,
we may not be able to exert effective control over the PRC
Contractual Entities, which could materially and adversely
affect our ability to conduct our business.
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Material Change

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, there
is no material change in the Contractual Arrangements
and/or the circumstances under which they were adopted.

Unwinding of Contractual Arrangements

As at the date of this report, there is no unwinding of any
of the Contractual Arrangement or failure to unwind when
the restrictions that led to the adoption of the Contractual
Arrangements are removed.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into the transactions set out
below which will be regarded as continuing connected
transactions under the GEM Listing Rules. Unless otherwise
defined, capitalised terms below has the same meanings as
those defined in the Prospectus.

As disclosed in the section headed “Contractual
Arrangement” in this report, the business operations of the
PRC Contractual Entities constitute a business prohibited
to foreign investment in the PRC, therefore, the Company
cannot directly acquire equity interests in the PRC
Contractual Entities. As a result, the Group has entered
into Contractual Arrangement to exercise and maintain
control over the operations of the PRC Contractual Entities,
obtain their entire economic benefits and prevent leakage
of the assets and values of the PRC Contractual Entities
to their shareholders in the PRC. Under the Contractual
Arrangements, the Group supervises and controls the
business operations of the PRC Contractual Entities and
derives economic benefit from the PRC Contractual Entities
through New Talent Media.

The transactions under the Contractual Arrangements
constitute continuing connected transactions for the
Company under the GEM Listing Rules and are subject
to the requirements of reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval under Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules following the Listing.
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The table below sets forth the connected persons of the
Company involved in the Contractual Arrangements and

the nature of their connection with the Group:

Name of connected person

TREINEHNLHMINARBFEA L REERE
BEEE

o

Connected relationship

BREALHE BEBEF

Mr. Yang Mr. Yang is the Controlling Shareholder of the Group and is therefore our

BoE connected person pursuant to Rule 20.06 of the GEM Listing Rules.
BRERB MR - FURIEGEM R BII520.061& R F1H)
BEAL -

Ms. Mu Ms. Mu is the Controlling Shareholder of the Group and is therefore our

B+ connected person pursuant to Rule 20.06 of the GEM Listing Rules.

PRC Contractual Entities
FEEHERE

Management Shareholders of Emphasis Media
ERENREEERE

Beijing New Element Consulting Co. Ltd.
(“New Element”)
RN EZFRAGRAB(FHHTE]D

Bt RBPIERAR - FIARRGEM £ R RI5520.06 16 i FIH0
RAEAL -

Each of the PRC Contractual Entities is indirectly controlled by the
Controlling Shareholders of the Group and is therefore an associate of
the controlling shareholders and the connected person of the Group,
among other factors, pursuant to Rule 20.10 of the GEM Listing Rules.
EHRRENE R AERRREEZES - B AR PIEIERAR R VBE A
KARIEGEM AR BII5220. 10168 (R 845 ) B MRBREA L -

The Management Shareholders of Emphasis Media are shareholders of
Emphasis Media and the Company, and directors of New Talent Media.
Therefore the Management Shareholders of Emphasis Media are the
connected persons under the GEM Listing Rules.
BREOKNEERRAERNK LA R BNRRRBER UL ERES -
Fit - |EREKEEERRABMINGEM LR AIE THBEA L -

New Element is owned as to 60% by Mr. Yang and 40% by Ms. Mu
respectively, and is therefore an associate of Mr. Yang and Ms. Mu, the
Controlling Shareholders and the connected person of the Group, among
other factors, pursuant to Rule 20.10 of the GEM Listing Rules.
MNTERGREREL LD RIFEF0%K%40% - Eit (KA E1E) R
GEM Em#3 BIIZ820.101% - REFIRIERARRIS o R AL THIE A
MEMWEEEAL -
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The Directors believe that the Company’s structure whereby
PRC Contractual Entities’ financial results are consolidated
into the Company’s consolidated financial statements as
if they were wholly-owned subsidiaries and the flow of
economic benefits from their business to the Company,
places the Group in a special position in relation to the
connected transactions rules. Accordingly, notwithstanding
that the transactions contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements technically constitute continuing connected
transactions for the purposes of Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules, the Directors consider that it would be
unduly burdensome and impracticable and would impose
unnecessary administrative costs on us to be subject to
strict compliance with the requirements set out under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules in respect of these
continuing connected transactions. Accordingly, the
Company has, pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules, applied
to the Stock Exchange for, and the Stock Exchange
has granted, a waiver from strict compliance with the
announcement requirements relating to these continuing
connected transactions under the GEM Listing Rules.
In addition, the Directors confirm that the Company has
complied and will continue to comply with the applicable
provisions under the GEM Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, there are no
services income regarding the services provided by New
Talent Media under Contractual Arrangements to the PRC
Contractual Entities (including technical and management
consulting services and other technology and consultancy
services requested by each of the PRC Contractual Entities
from time to time to the extent permitted under PRC
laws). Therefore, the Group did not incur any continuing
connected transaction during the year ended 31 December
2020 and accordingly did not engage BDO Limited,
the auditor of the Company to report on the continuing
connected transactions of the Group in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
“Assurance Engagements other than Auditors or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountant.

Creative China Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2020

ESHEARANRB(TEENEBNMBRESNAE
BHEEMBERRAEHARR  BER/ARTNEER
BAR - BEEBHLBERRRARRT)  EREEER
FEXZRUNFHRLE - At - BERBENLHEE
TR S EM EBRGEM E MR AE — + B8/ T HRHERE
BRG - HEERAUZEREMEIFBERETGEM L
MRAUB-TEMHORCTEBRTLENEERERT
AT XERARARERTILENITRER - Fit - RI%
GEMEMRA  ARBIDABIPIEE  MBRXAERA
RARHBEHRR  UHRERZSHERER ZEIEET
GEMEMRAATHRBAMAMRE - thHh - AARIELE
ST A A B STGEM E TR BN 2 BRARE

BE_ZT_THF+_A=1T—HLFE BEXLERY
EARRTEE OB RBREHNRSG (RERM L E AR
AR BB & KB BT 25K E iy S vk s ARk 7% (JA
PEDERAERR) ) EERG S - At - AEBEILE
RBE-Z-TF+ _A=+—HILFEELEEHEH
BER P WY BRE AR R ZBME B EERER
AMEBAERARIBIBEEESHMASEMNBTERESR
FEZE BI| 5 30005 [ E 52 1 75 B Kt & st S E B LA SN I RE S
A1 W2REBFHAE7405 BNEE TR RFT s
BRIER R EEN R AR BN ERER S ERR

=



CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 15 March 2019, Mr. Philip Jian Yang, as the landlord,
and Emphasis Media, as the tenant, entered into a tenancy
agreement (the “Tenancy Agreement”), pursuant to which
the Mr. Philip Jian Yang agreed to lease a property (the
“Property”) to Emphasis Media. Mr. Philip Jian Yang is an
executive Director and chairman and chief executive officer
of the Company. He is the son of Mr. Yang and Ms. Mu,
the controlling shareholders of the Company. Accordingly,
Mr. Philip Jian Yang is a connected person of the Company
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules). As the Property is
owned by Mr. Philip Jian Yang and he has material interest
in the transaction under the Tenancy Agreement, the
transaction contemplated under the Tenancy Agreement
constitute a connected transaction of the Company.
Pursuant to the Tenancy Agreement, the leasing period is 3
years from 15 March 2019 and the monthly rental payable
is RMB95,000. Emphasis Media is also required to pay
RMB190,000 to Mr. Philip Jian Yang as rental deposit.

The Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accounts
(the “HKFRS”) applicable to the Group include HKFRS
16 “Leases” which came into effect on 1 January 2019.
Under HKFRS 16, the Group, as the lessee, shall recognise
a lease as a right-of- use asset and a lease liability in
the consolidated statement of financial position of the
Group. The transaction contemplated under the Tenancy
Agreement will be regarded as an acquisition of asset under
the definition of transaction set out in GEM Listing Rules
19.04(1)(a). The right-of-use asset recognised under the
transaction contemplated under the Tenancy Agreement
shall be approximately to RMB2,938,000, which is the
present value of the lease payments payable by Emphasis
Media (discounted by the Group’s incremental borrowing
rate of 8%) under the terms of the Tenancy Agreement. The
amount of lease liability recognised under the transaction
contemplated under the Tenancy Agreement shall be same
as the amount of right-of-use asset recognised.

BEXS

RZZ-NF=A+HA  BRIELEWERET)BERED
FUERABEAN)ZITHERZ((HERR]) - Bt - BRI
RERBRERNSEBE—ME(ZME]D - BRTER
ARFRTEZR T ERITBAE - TREARAHERBR
BRERGLZLTZET - At - BRITERAARNEEE
AL (RIZEGEM EMRAMER) - HRZMERBRITE
BFAEMPHEERRE N2 XBHAEAER - HEHRR
THETNRZBRARBTNEER S - REBEERZ
HEFHAB _T-NFZATHREFN=F " kBAE
EviEE R ARE95,0007T - FEERERFZMHH T
XA ARBE190,000TTERIZ S ©

BARARE B ESMASHEMNBTEU KRS E
AT EEMBHREENDERER -_F-NF-A—HEX
MEEMBRELENE16EEE ] - RESEVBRELE
AIF165% - AEB(ERABEAN)FSERHERAKE 24
BMBARRAERAERSEREEERBERE - WCGEM L
MR AE19.0401)@QEERHHEE - WEHRATZR
HRGIERBEE - MEWZIE N 2R 5T R ERAE
BEARARE2,938,0007T © HERMRIRHE 2 15K
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The Property is used as the head office and principal
place of business of the Group in the PRC. The Directors
considers that the change of head office and principal
place of business in the PRC was aligned with the
Group’s current operational requirements and business
development. The terms and the rental of the Tenancy
Agreement were determined after arm’s length negotiation
between the parties thereto and with reference to, amongst
other things, the current market rental for properties similar
to the Property and of comparable utility. The Directors
(including the independent non-executive Directors) are
of the view that the Tenancy Agreement is entered into
on normal commercial terms in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group and that the terms of the
Tenancy Agreement are fair, reasonable and in line with the
market level and in the interest of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.

Other than disclosed above, there was no other transaction
which needs to be disclosed as connected transaction in
accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules
during the year ended 31 December 2020.

AUDITOR

BDO Limited will retire and a resolution for their
reappointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Philip Jian Yang

Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 29 March 2021
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CREATIVE CHINA
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Creative China Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages
108 to 218, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters.
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Impairment assessment of serial program rights

We identified the impairment assessment of serial program
rights as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
carrying amounts of serial program rights of the Group to
the consolidated financial statements and the judgment
and estimation uncertainty involved in the management’s
assessment of the net realisable value of serial program
rights.

As disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount
of serial program rights amounted to RMB107,687,000. In
determining whether impairment are required, the Group
takes into consideration of the distribution and licensing
agreements entered into by the Group and the current
market environment to estimate the selling price from
licensing of the broadcasting rights to television channels
and online media platforms in the ordinary business and
related selling expenses. No impairment is recognised in
profit or loss in the year in which the net realisable value is
higher than the carrying amount.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s
assessment of net realisable value included:

- Understanding the process of how management
performs assessment of the net realisable value of
serial program rights;

- Evaluating the appropriateness of the methodology
used by management and its expert in determining
the net realisable value of serial program rights;

- Assessing the competency, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuation
expert by considering its qualification, relevant
experience and relationships with the Group;

- Evaluating and challenging the reasonableness of
the assumptions and judgments used in the future
cash flow projection, evaluating the management’s
assessment on the expected revenue to be
generated by the serial program rights by checking
the budget summary to the contracted amounts of
the distribution and licensing agreements and the
estimated revenue with reference to historical trend
and recent market forecasts; and

- Performing the recalculation of the management’s
assessment of net realisable value.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included
in the Company’s annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process. The Audit Committee
assists the directors in discharging their responsibility in this
regard.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

° evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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° conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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From the matters communicated with the directors, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Ng Wai Man
Practising Certificate no. PO5309

Hong Kong, 29 March 2021
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Consolidated Statement of C

for the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-Z-ZFTZA=Zt+—HLEE

2020 2019
= —TNF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BiEE ARET T AREF T
Continuing operations BEREEK
Revenue 1 ON 7 45,664 48,124
Direct costs IEREIDEIN (6,104) (30,497)
Gross profit EA 39,560 17,627
Other income E A A 8 413 1,022
Other gains and losses H b e M E518 9 37 3,338
Selling and distribution costs SHE R SR AR (978) (2,638)
Administrative expenses TR (13,642) (15,730)
Profit from continuing operations BEREEIE R 25,390 3,619
Finance costs BATS R AR 14 (5,258) (3,574)
Profit before income tax R S A0 AR A 10 20,132 45
Income tax expenses FriS iR = 15 (76) (260)
Profit/(loss) for the year from BEIREXEFENGRN,
continuing operations (E18) 20,056 (215)
Discontinued operation BRIEEEER
Loss for the year from discontinued operation 4% 1F48 & 15 F N &8 - (1,118)
Profit/(loss) for the year FRmF, (E8) 20,056 (1,333)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that BEEAIEEEH D EEREBRZ
may be reclassified subsequently to H2mEWKE A (BE) :
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating foreign &GN TEHY
operations fEH =58 698 (124)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year FFAREEUE (518 ) E%8 20,754 (1,457)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to:  FE{LFR%EF,(EE) :
Owners of the Company RABERA
— from continuing operations —FHEICE T 20,003 (95)
— from discontinued operation —ERIEEEER - 1,710
20,003 1,615
Non-controlling interests IR
— from continuing operations —FHEISE T 53 (120)
— from discontinued operation — BRI R T - (2,828)
53 (2,948)
20,056 (1,333)
FEAEERARAT T -TEEEHE




nt of Comprehensive Income

2020 2019
= —TNF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BfaE ARET T AREFTT
Total comprehensive income/(loss) EBiEEREZEWE
for the year attributable to: (E51E )44 %8 -
Owners of the Company RAREBA 20,694 1,493
Non-controlling interests P e 60 (2,950)
20,754 (1,457)
Earnings/(loss) per share attributable to A2 F#H AELER
owners of the Company ER(Ei8) 16
- Basic and Diluted (RMB cents) —ERREE(ARES)
— from continuing operations —ISEEETS 1.27 (0.01)
— from discontinued operation — BRI TS - 0.12
1.27 0.11
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Consolidated Stateme

R=

as at 31 December 2020
E-EF+-A=1+—H

2020 2019
= —TNF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
BaE ARET T AREFT
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment MIE - R MR 17 612 1,394
Right-of-use assets FREEE 29 1,890 2,507
Financial assets at fair value through BAREFT ABER
profit or loss TREE 19 5,000 5,000
Total non-current assets FRBEELE 7,502 8,901
Current assets REEE
Serial program rights EEBI N 18 111,976 107,687
Trade and other receivables E 5 K H b U GRIE 20 87,579 59,350
Amounts due from non-controlling interests ~ fEUWIEIZ RS #EZE 70
of subsidiaries 30(b) 4,639 1,339
Cash and bank balances Re MIRTT4E % 11,379 11,539
Total current assets RBEERE 215,573 179,915
Total assets EEHAE 223,075 188,816
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables g S e IR 21 24,596 45,881
Other payables Hh pE R ERIE 22 37,344 29,879
Contract liabilities BHEE 23 15,369 14,069
Current tax liabilities BVEAT IR B B 4,426 3,832
Lease liabilities HEAE 29 2,124 1,315
Loans due to shareholders JES FREERAE R 30(c) 21,237 8,105
Loans due to a director BT —RESHER 30(d) 1,178 1,254
Total current liabilities REEEREE 106,274 104,335
Net current assets REEEFE 109,299 75,580
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBER 116,801 84,481
Non-current liabilities FRBERE
Trade payables B SR 21 48,900 45,258
Lease liabilities HEaE 29 501 1,259
Total non-current liabilities FRBABHEE 49,401 46,517
Total liabilities BEHAE 155,675 150,852
NET ASSETS BEZRE 67,400 37,964

HEAIRZERERAR

T BEEERE
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nt of Financial Position

2020 2019
—E-EF —ZE-NEF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BiEE ARMT T ARBTT
Capital and reserves BEARK #E

Share capital A% A 25 13,188 11,788
Reserves G 27 54,306 26,330

Equity attributable to owners of the RATEEANELESR
Company 67,494 38,118
Non-controlling interests Pl 26 (94) (154)
TOTAL EQUITY R 67,400 37,964

On behalf of the board of directors

Philip Jian Yang
gl
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Consolidated Statemen

Reserves
fife
Equity
attributable
Foreign to owners Non-
Share Share Other Merger  exchange Accumulated ofthe  controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve losses  Company interests Total
27
2N
& RGEE  HtRE  A0BE  EXRE  ZHEE EEER  HERES @t
RMB'OO0O ~ RVB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB'000
ARETL  ARBTL ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETn ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2019 R=F-nE-A-H
thitsh 178 158096 532 9300 (02 (47819 %665 316 074
Derecognition of non-controling A ENBARIER
interests upon disposal of a DFERER
subsidary - - - - - - - (320) (320)
Profitloss) for the year Engfl/ (BR) - - - - - 1615 1615 (2,949 (1,339
Other comprehensive loss E2EFE - - - - (122) - (122) () (124)
Total comprehensive (loss)fincome ERZTE (E8) /i
for the year B8 - - - - (122) 1615 1,493 (2,950) (1457)
Balance at 31 December 2019 R-E-NET-F
and 1 January 2020 “t-ARZEZ%E
—F-BHgH 11,788 158,096 5362 9,300 (224)  (146,204) 38,118 (154) 37,94
lssue of shares under placing,  IREEERTRI -
net of issuing expenses TREART
(note 25(a) (Hi256) 1,400 7282 . - . - 8,662 - 8,662
Proft for the year il - - - - - 20,008 20,008 53 20,056
Other comprehensiveincome~ E o2 ME - - - - 691 - 691 7 698
Total comprehensiveincome.~~~ FRZANGEE
for the year - - - - 691 20,008 20,694 60 20,754
Balance at 31 December 2020 W=E-EFF-A
=+-RHisH 13,188 165,378 5,362 9,300 467 (126,201) 67,494 (94) 67,400
Nature and purpose of reserves are disclosed in note 27. RS kAR EERH 27 -
FEAEERERATE —T_TFEFEHRS
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BE-Z_THI-A=1+—HLEFE

nt of Cash Flows

2020 2019
—E-EF —ZE-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBET T
Cash flows from operating activities RETHELERERE
Profit before income tax BRET1S T AT & FI
— Continuing operations —FELEET 20,132 45
— Discontinued operation — BRI - (1,118)
Adjustments for: TSR
Interest income FBUA 9) (©)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEYWE  BENMRIEES
equipment 518 - 70
Finance costs B TSR AR 5,258 3,574
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment loss) & 5 & E g Y 5018 > Rl (E 518,
of trade and other receivables (B EVFEEE) 412 (3,328)
Depreciation of property, plant and Y% - R NREETE
equipment 822 1,384
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 1,524 1,365
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & — KB A E e (34) (2,678)
Amortisation of serial program rights BB BN 5 - 20,789
Operating profit before working BIEEAREB P L&
capital changes gl 28,105 20,094
Increase in serial program rights BB AR N - (79,902)
Decrease in inventories FeRd - 53
Increase in trade and other receivables H 5 K FoAth E UK ERIEE hin (34,930) (18,492)
Increase in amounts due from FEUIHT B A B 2 eI AR M 2 SR TR
non-controlling interests of subsidiaries (3,300) (1,150)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables B EMNZECHD ),/ hn (17,643) 33,005
Increase in other payables HoAh e RIE I AN 3,275 18,044
Increase in contract liabilities EHaEEN 1,300 14,973
Cash used in operations LEFARS (23,193) (13,375)
Income taxes paid BT ETSH (337) -
Net cash used in operating activities LESEB TR SRR (23,530) (13,375)
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Consolidated Sta

December 2020

BE-Z-ZFTZA=+—HLFE

2020 2019
—E-EF —ZE-hEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBET T
Cash flows from investing activities REFHELERERE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BB « HE LB 37) (1,454)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - BEKEREMEHRIE
plant and equipment - 209
Net proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary ~ H&E —EHEB R TS T %8 2,000 13,014
Interest received BUF B 9 9
Net cash generated from investing activities & EENAT1EIE %58 1,972 11,778
Cash flows from financing activities RMETBEERERE
Proceeds from shareholders’ loans AR R E RS 5RIE 26,856 14,259
Repayment of shareholders’ loans EERRER (12,750) (10,300)
Proceeds from director’s loans RINEZEER - 1,240
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHERR (1,072) (1,577)
Proceeds from loan from non-controlling IR B AT FUR
interests - 600
Proceeds from issue of shares under placing, 1R IEAL & 21TAR 5 FR1S 3018 -
net of issuing expenses MBREEITER 8,682 -
Net cash generated from financing activites ~ R & /EZENFTSIR & /558 21,716 4,222
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents Re MBS EYILINFEE 158 2,625
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes GNEE[EE Rt B s & (318) 17
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning REVHIRENESEEY
of year 11,539 8,897
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year -  RERWIES RIS EE Y —
represented by cash and bank balances only {E{t &I & RIRTTAEER 11,379 11,539
FEHAIEERERLAE T oTFEFERE
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for the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-ZEH A=+ —-ALFE

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Creative China Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands on 1 November 2013. The address
of its registered office is at the offices of Codan
Trust Company (Cayman) Limited, Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. Its principal place of
business in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
is located at Room 1901, 19/F, Yulin Building, No. 5A
Xiangjun Nanli 2nd Alley, Chaoyang District, Beijing,
the PRC, and its principal place of business in Hong
Kong is located at 23/F, Yue Thai Commercial
Building, 128 Connaught Road Central, Sheung
Wan, Hong Kong. Up to the date of approval of the
consolidation financial statements, Youth Success
Holdings Limited and Guang Rui Investments Limited
are its immediate and ultimate parent respectively.
Guang Rui Investments Limited is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Yang Shaogian and his
spouse, Ms. Mu Sufang.

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding while its subsidiaries are principally engaged
in the provision of film and television program original
script creation, adaptation, production and licensing
and related services, concert and event organisation
services, mobile live broadcasting services and
e-commerce services and artist management. The
Company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred
as the “Group” hereafter.

The World Health Organisation declared global health
emergency over new coronavirus outbreak on 30
January 2020. The following segments have been
affected:

° postponement of the negotiation of licensing
the broadcasting rights under the program
production segment;

° postponement of concert organisation.

The directors of the Company are continuing to
assess the implications of COVID-19 pandemic to the
business in which the Group operates. Depending
on the duration of the COVID-19 pandemic and
continued negative impact on economic activity,
the Group might experience further negative results
in the concert and event organisation segment and
impairments on its assets in 2021. However, the
exact impact in the remainder of 2021 and thereafter
cannot be predicted.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

(@) Adoption of revised HKFRSs - effective on
1 January 2020

In the current year, the Group has applied the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards and the
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective from the Group’s
financial period beginning on 1 January 2020.

Amendments to HKAS Definition of Material

1 and HKAS 8

Amendments to Definition of a Business
HKFRS 3

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39  Reform
and HKFRS 7

The application of the Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in
HKFRS Standards and the amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

Notes to the Consolidate

December 2020
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for the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-_Z_THFt-A=+—HLFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(@) Adoption of revised HKFRSs - effective on
1 January 2020 (continued)

A

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 -
Definition of Material

The amendments provide a new definition
of material that states “information
is material if omitting, misstating or
obscuring it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those
financial statements, which provide
financial information about a specific
reporting entity”. The amendments also
clarify that materiality depends on the
nature or magnitude of information, either
individually or in combination with other
information, in the context of the financial
statements taken as a whole.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 - Definition
of a Business

The amendments clarify that while
businesses usually have outputs, outputs
are not required for an integrated set
of activities and assets to qualify as a
business. To be considered a business,
an acquired set of activities and assets
must include, at a minimum, an input
and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(@) Adoption of revised HKFRSs - effective on
1 January 2020 (continued)

B.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 - Definition
of a Business (continued)

The amendments remove the assessment
of whether market participants are
capable of replacing any missing inputs
or processes and continuing to produce
outputs. The amendments also introduce
additional guidance that helps to
determine whether a substantive process
has been acquired.

In addition, the amendments introduce
an optional concentration test that
permits a simplified assessment of
whether an acquired set of activities
and assets is not a business. Under
the optional concentration test, the
acquired set of activities and assets is
not a business if substantially all of the
fair value of the gross assets acquired
is concentrated in a single identifiable
asset or group of similar assets. The
gross assets under assessment exclude
cash and cash equivalents, deferred
tax assets, and goodwill resulting from
the effects of deferred tax liabilities.
The election on whether to apply the
optional concentration test is available on
transaction-by-transaction basis.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS
39 and HKFRS 7 - Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform

The amendments modify specific hedge
accounting requirements to allow hedge
accounting to continue for affected
hedges during the period of uncertainty
before the hedged items or hedging
instruments affected by the current
interest rate benchmarks are amended
as a result of the on-going interest rate
benchmark reform.
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for the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-Z_THI-A=1+—HLEFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially
relevant to the Group’s financial statements,
have been issued, but are not yet effective and
have not been early adopted by the Group.
The Group’s current intention is to apply these
changes on the date they become effective.

Amendment to COVID-19-Related Rent

HKFRS 16 Concessions*
Amendments to Reference to the Conceptual
HKFRS 3 Framework?®
Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 9, Reform — Phase 2°

HKAS 39, HKFRS
7, HKFRS 4 and

HKFRS 16
Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture®
Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)"
Amendments to Property, Plant and Equipment
HKAS 16 — Proceeds before Intended
Use?
Amendments to Onerous Contracts — Cost of
HKAS 37 Fulfiling a Contract?
Amendments to Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs HKFRSs 2018-2020°
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023

? Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2022

¢ Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after a date to be determined

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 June 2020

o Effective for annual periods beginning on or

after 1 January 2021

Amendment to HKFRS 16 - COVID-19
Related Rent Concessions

The amendment introduces a new practical
expedient for lessees to elect not to assess
whether a COVID-19-related rent concession
is a lease modification. The practical expedient
only applies to rent concessions occurring as
a direct consequence of the COVID-19 that
meets all of the following conditions:

o the change in lease payments results
in revised consideration for the lease
that is substantially the same as, or less
than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

o any reduction in lease payments affects
only payments originally due on or before
30 June 2021; and

° there is no substantive change to other
terms and conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient
accounts for changes in lease payments
resulting from rent concessions the same way
it would account for the changes applying
HKFRS 16 Leases if the changes are not a
lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of
lease payments are accounted for as variable
lease payments. The related lease liabilities
are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven
or waived with a corresponding adjustment
recognised in the profit or loss in the period in
which the event occurs.
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for the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZETTA=+-ALFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 - Reference to

the Conceptual Framework

The amendments:

° update a reference in HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations so that it refers to the
Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018
(the “Conceptual Framework”) instead
of Framework for the Preparation and
Presentation of Financial Statements
(replaced by the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting 2010 issued in

October 2010);

° add a requirement that, for transactions
and other events within the scope of
HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets or HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 Levies, an acquirer applies HKAS
37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the
Conceptual Framework to identify the
liabilities it has assumed in a business

combination; and

° add an explicit statement that an acquirer
does not recognise contingent assets
acquired in a business combination.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 -
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 2

The amendments relate to the modification
of financial assets, financial liabilities and
lease liabilities, specific hedge accounting
requirements and disclosure requirements
applying HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures to accompany the amendments
regarding modifications and hedge accounting.

o Modiification of financial assets, financial
liabilities and lease liabilities

A practical expedient is introduced for
modifications required by the reform
(modifications required as a direct
consequence of the interest rate
benchmark reform and made on an
economically equivalent basis). These
modifications are accounted for by
updating the effective interest rate. All
other modifications are accounted for
using the current HKFRSs requirements.
A similar practical expedient is proposed
for lessee accounting applying HKFRS
16;

e  Hedge accounting requirernents

Under the amendments, hedge
accounting is not discontinued solely
because of the interest rate benchmark
reform. Hedging relationships (and
related documentation) are required to
be amended to reflect modifications to
the hedged item, hedging instrument
and hedged risk. Amended hedging
relationships should meet all qualifying
criteria to apply hedge accounting,
including effectiveness requirements; and

o Disclosures

The amendments require disclosures in
order to allow users to understand the
nature and extent of risks arising from
the interest rate benchmark reform to
which the Group is exposed to and how
the entity manages those risks as well
as the entity’s progress in transitioning
from interbank offered rates to alternative
benchmark rates, and how the entity is
managing this transition.
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2.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 -
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments deal with situations where
there is a sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture.
Specifically, the amendments state that gains
or losses resulting from the loss of control of a
subsidiary that does not contain a business in a
transaction with an associate or a joint venture
that is accounted for using the equity method,
are recognised in the parent’s profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investors’
interests in that associate or joint venture.
Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the
remeasurement of investments retained in any
former subsidiary (that has become an associate
or a joint venture that is accounted for using
the equity method) to fair value are recognised
in the former parent’s profit or loss only to the
extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in
the new associate or joint venture.

Amendments to HKAS 1 - Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and
additional guidance on the assessment of right
to defer settlement for at least twelve months
from reporting date for classification of liabilities
as current or non-current, which:

° specify that the classification of liabilities
as current or non-current should be
based on rights that are in existence
at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the amendments clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be
affected by management intentions
or expectations to settle the liability
within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the
compliance with covenants, the
right exists if the conditions are met
at the end of the reporting period,
even if the lender does not test
compliance until a later date; and
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 - Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) (continued)

° clarify that if a liability has terms that
could, at the option of the counterparty,
result in its settlement by the transfer of
the entity’s own equity instruments, these
terms do not affect its classification as
current or non-current only if the entity
recognises the option separately as an
equity instrument applying HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was
revised as a consequence of the Amendments
to HKAS 1 to align the corresponding wordings
with no change in conclusion.

Amendments to HKAS 16 - Property,
Plant and Equipment - Proceeds before
Intended Use

The amendments specify that the costs of any
item that were produced while bringing an
item of property, plant and equipment to the
location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by
management (such as samples produced when
testing whether the relevant property, plant
and equipment is functioning properly) and the
proceeds from selling such items should be
recognised and measured in the profit or loss
in accordance with applicable standards. The
cost of the items are measured in accordance
with HKAS 2 Inventories.
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 37 - Onerous
Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify that, when an entity
assesses whether a contract is onerous
in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets,
the unavoidable costs under the contract
should reflect the least net cost of exiting from
the contract, which is the lower of the cost of
fulfilling it and any compensation or penalties
arising from failure to fulfil it. Costs of fulfilling
the contract include incremental costs and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to
fulfiling contracts (for example, an allocation of
the depreciation charge for an item of property,
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the
contract).

Amendments to HKFRSs - Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 -
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose
of assessing whether modification of terms of
original financial liability constitutes substantial
modification under the “10 per cent” test, a
borrower includes only fees paid or received
between the borrower and the lender, including
fees paid or received by either the borrower or
the lender on the other’s behalf.

Amendments to HKFRSs - Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 -
HKFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to lllustrative Example 13
accompanying HKFRS 16 removes from the
example the illustration of reimbursement
relating to leasehold improvements by the
lessor in order to remove any potential
confusion.
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BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. In addition, the financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the GEM
Listing Rules.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis and measured
under historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments, which are measured at fair values at
end of each reporting period as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company and its major
subsidiaries, and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@) Business combination and basis of
consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries. Inter-company transactions and
balances between group companies together
with unrealised profits are eliminated in full in
preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of impairment on
the asset transferred, in which case the loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income from the dates of acquisition or up to
the dates of disposal, as appropriate. Where
necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
their accounting policies into line with those
used by other members of the Group.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (continued)

The Group accounts for business combinations
using the acquisition method when the acquired
set of activities and assets meets the definition
of a business and control is transferred to the
Group. In determining whether a particular
set of activities and assets is a business, the
Group assesses whether the set of assets and
activities acquired includes, at a minimum, an
input and substantive processes and whether
the acquired set has the ability to produce
outputs.

The cost of an acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value
of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and
equity interests issued by the Group, as the
acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed are principally measured
at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
re-measured at acquisition-date fair value and
the resulting gains or losses are recognised
in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on a
transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure
the non-controlling interests that represent
present ownership interests in the subsidiary
either at fair value or at the proportionate share
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other non-controlling interests are measured at
fair value unless another measurement basis is
required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs
incurred are expensed unless they are incurred
in issuing equity instruments in which case the
costs are deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-
date fair value. Subsequent adjustments to
consideration are recognised against goodwiill
only to the extent that they arise from new
information obtained within the measurement
period (a maximum of 12 months from the
acquisition date) about the fair value at
the acquisition date. All other subsequent
adjustments to contingent consideration
classified as an asset or a liability are
recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (continued)

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount
of non-controlling interests that represent
present ownership interests in the subsidiary
is the amount of those interests at initial
recognition plus such non-controlling interest’s
share of subsequent changes in equity. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position
within equity, separately from equity attributable
to owners of the Company. Profit or loss and
each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests.
Total comprehensive income is attributed
to such non-controlling interests even if this
results in those non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance.

Change in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group’s loss of control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transaction. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s relevant components of equity and the
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant
reserves between the Group and the non-
controlling interest according to the Group’s
and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted,
and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to the owners of the Company.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the gain or loss on disposal is calculated as
the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest
and (i) the previous carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interest. Amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to the
subsidiary are accounted for in the same basis
as would be required if the relevant assets or
liabilities were disposed of.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the
Company is able to exercise control. The
Company controls an investee if all three of
the following elements are present: (i) power
over the investee, (ii) exposure, or rights, to
variable returns from the investee, and (jii) the
ability to use its power to affect those variable
returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts
and circumstances indicate that there may be a
change in any of these elements of control.

De-facto control exists in situations where the
Company has the practical ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee without holding
the majority of the voting rights. In determining
whether de-facto control exists, the Company
considers all relevant facts and circumstances,
including:

° the size of the Company’s voting rights
relative to both the size and dispersion of
other parties who hold voting rights;

° substantive potential voting rights held by
the Company and other parties who hold
voting rights;

° other contractual arrangements; and

° historic patterns in voting attendance.
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4.

*

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Subsidiaries (continued)

Subsidiaries arising from a series of
contract agreements signed on 18 May
2015 (the “Contractual Arrangements”)

The wholly-owned subsidiary of the company,
New Talent Media Company Limited (“New
Talent Media”), has entered into the Contractual
Arrangements with Beijing Emphasis Media
Co. Ltd.*, Beijing New Image Media Co. Ltd.*,
Starry Knight Entertainment Co., Ltd.*, Beijing
Joy Star Production Co., Ltd.* and Beijing Great
Wise Media Co., Ltd.” (collectively defined as
“PRC Contractual Entities”) and their respective
equity holders, which enable New Talent Media
and hence the Company to:

- exercise effective financial and operational
control over PRC Contractual Entities;

- exercise equity holders’ voting rights of
the PRC Contractual Entities;

- receive substantially all of the economic
interest returns generated by the PRC
Contractual Entities in consideration
for the business support, technical and
consulting services provided by New
Talent Media, at New Talent Media’s
discretion;

- obtain an irrevocable and exclusive
right with an initial period of 10 years
to purchase the entire equity interest
in the PRC Contractual Entities from
the respective equity holders. The right
automatically renews upon expiry until
New Talent Media specifies a renewal
term;

- obtain a pledge over the entire equity
interest of the PRC Contractual Entities
from their respective equity holders
as collateral security for all of the PRC
Contractual Entities’ payments due
to New Talent Media and to secure
performance of PRC Contractual Entities’
obligations under the Contractual
Arrangements.

For identification purpose only
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Subsidiaries (continued)

Subsidiaries arising from a series of
contract agreements signed on 18 May
2015 (the “Contractual Arrangements”)
(continued)

The Group does not have any equity interest
in PRC Contractual Entities. However, as a
result of the Contractual Arrangements, the
Group has rights to variable returns from its
involvement with the PRC Contractual Entities
and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the PRC Contractual
Entities and is considered to control the
PRC Contractual Entities. Consequently, the
Company regards the PRC Contractual Entities
as the indirect subsidiaries under HKFRSs. The
Group has included the financial positions and
results of the PRC Contractual Entities in the
consolidated financial statements during the
years.

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements
may not be as effective as direct legal
ownership in providing the Group with direct
control over the PRC Contractual Entities
and uncertainties presented by the PRC legal
system could impede the Group’s beneficiary
rights of the results, assets and liabilities of the
PRC Contractual Entities. The Group believes
that the Contractual Arrangements among New
Talent Media, the PRC Contractual Entities and
their respective equity holders are in compliance
with relevant PRC laws and regulations and are
legally enforceable.

In the Company’s statement of financial
position, investment in a subsidiary is stated
at cost less impairment loss, if any. The
results of subsidiary are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(c)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment
includes its purchase price and the costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. Al
other repairs and maintenance are recognised
as an expense in profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated
SO as to write off their cost or valuation net of
expected residual value over their estimated
useful lives on a straight-line basis. The useful
lives, residual value and depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period. The useful lives
are as follows:

Leasehold improvements  Over the remaining

lives of the
leases but not
exceeding
10 years
Office equipment 3-5 years
Computer equipment 3-5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Motor vehicles 4 years

An asset is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if its carrying amount is
higher than the asset’s estimated recoverable
amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of
property, plant and equipment is the difference
between the net sale proceeds and its carrying
amount, and is recognised in profit or loss on
disposal.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(d) Serial program rights

These represent (i) serial program rights
investment with legal and contractual rights held
in respect of serial programs under co-financing
arrangements entered into by the Group, and
(i) exclusive adaptation right of serial program.
These rights are stated at lower of cost and net
realisable value. Net realisable value of serial
program rights is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary business, less estimated costs of

completion and selling expenses.

The amount of serial program rights recognised
as direct costs for a given period is determined
using the revenue forecast computation
method. Under this method, the amortisation
of serial program rights and the accrual of
participations and residuals are based on the
proportion of the revenue recognised for such
period for each individual drama series to the
estimated total revenue of that drama series (i.e.
the total revenue to be received throughout the

life cycle of the drama series).
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

Government grant

Government grants are not recognised until
there is reasonable assurance that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to
them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or
loss on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise
acquire non-current assets (including property,
plant and equipment) are recognised as
deferred income in the statement of financial
position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful
lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable and
are recognised as other revenue, rather than
reducing the related expense.

The benefit of a government loan at a
below-market rate of interest is treated as a
government grant, measured as the difference
between proceeds received and the fair value
of the loan based on prevailing market interest
rates.

Notes to the Consolidate

for the year 31 December 2020
BE-Z-ZHETSA=F+—ALFE

BUS&ESB

BT AR A B REARE K ETRTED
Z MRt SIS AR A BN 7 THERR

BT & B A S B RE R & B B VE R (EAERA A AR
ZRAXZHEE RSN IBRER - A8Mm
5 ONMBAENAKREARE  BEXRTT
WRIFRBDEE(BEME  BEMERE) /AT
R - AR A BB R R SET
A ARBEEEZ AIERFHAR RGHE
BEREE -

BNEIMERD EEXRXEIR CRELR
A AN 5 4R (B S SR T R MR B A s R
KABRERRA - A H U EU BN R S RS
HAWA - T 3E B ERRF STHUR ©

RIERT SN X BB A E R R EBUAT
BB - e WA SR ERIRIRITH S K
AENERRREZHENERTE

FERAISERERAT T _TEFERS

134



135

s

for the year ended 31 December 2020
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

U]

Leasing
The Group as a lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the
statement of financial position as right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, but accounting
policy choices exist for the Group to choose
not to capitalise (i) leases which are short-term
leases and/or (ji) leases for which the underlying
asset is of low-value. The Group has elected
not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for low-value assets and leases for
which at the commencement date have a
lease term of less than 12 months. The lease
payments associated with those leases have
been expensed on straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is initially recognised at
cost and would comprise: (i) the amount of the
initial measurement of the lease liability (see
below for the accounting policy to account for
lease liability); (ii) any lease payments made
at or before the commencement date, less
any lease incentives received; (iii) any initial
direct costs incurred by the lessee; and (iv) an
estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee
in dismantling and removing the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease, unless those costs
are incurred to produce inventories.

Except for right-of-use asset that meets the
definition of an investment property or a class
of property, plant and equipment to which the
Group applies the revaluation model, the Group
measures the right-of-use assets applying a
cost model. Under the cost model, the Group
measures the right-to-use at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liability.

The Group has leased a number of properties
under tenancy agreements which the Group
exercises its judgement and determines that it is
a separate class of asset. As a result, the right-
of-use asset arising from the properties under
tenancy agreements are carried at depreciated
cost.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

)

Leasing (continued)
Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid
at the date of commencement of the lease.
The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can
be readily determined. If that rate cannot be
readily determined, the Group uses the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use
the underlying asset during the lease term that
are not paid at the commencement date of the
lease are considered to be lease payments: (i)
fixed lease payments less any lease incentives
receivable: (i) variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, initially measured
using the index or rate as at commencement
date; (iii) amounts expected to be payable by
the lessee under residual value guarantees; (iv)
exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise that option
and (v) payments of penalties for terminating
the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee
exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date,
the Group measures the lease liability by: (i)
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability; (i) reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made;
and (iii) remeasuring the carrying amount to
reflect any reassessment or lease modification,
or to reflect revised in-substance fixed lease
payments.

Notes to the Consolidate

for the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—Z-ZFTSHA=T—HIEFE

HE (&)
HERRE

HERBERZYIFINEERG RN 2HE
MR ERER - HEMNRERAHEERSH
A RBEIR (WA MR AT E SHEEE) © sz A R &
FEZETE - AKESRAAEARIEEER
A o

THALIENEER S B EE AL E
PR EER N N FIRE SEERNK : ()
Bl HE M FORE M K HEESE ¢ ()RR
BHIZ BN TR ENFHHENK
(BURRR R B A X)) : (i) # M ARIERISREE
ERTEER AT FIE - (VEAEASIRREE
TTHEREEERE - R FENITER - RV
HERRBAEAITEEERRILHEE - &1E
HERMSFAR

KR BEHE - AEERKER T AFER
ERE  (PEMREENRREERENHE
(i)} A AR B DA R BR(E R VR B 30+ R &
et EFRmMENRREMNEHIBEEEH - &
RGBT EERERENK -

FERAISERERAT T _TEFERS

136



137

=}
:i\‘\/'.l'\/lfl\/\

for the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-ZEH A=+ —-ALFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(9)

Leasing (continued)
Lease liability (continued)

When the Group revises its estimate of the
term of any lease (because, for example, it re-
assesses the probability of a lessee extension
or termination option being exercised), it adjusts
the carrying amount of the lease liability to
reflect the payments to make over the revised
term, which are discounted using a revised
discount rate. The carrying value of lease
liabilities is similarly revised when the variable
element of future lease payments dependent on
a rate or index is revised, except the discount
rate remains unchanged. In both cases, an
equivalent adjustment is made to the carrying
value of the right-of-use asset, with the revised
carrying amount being amortised over the
remaining (revised) lease term. If the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset is adjusted
to zero, any further reduction is recognised in
profit or loss.

When the Group renegotiates the
contractual terms of a lease with the lessor,
if the renegotiation results in one or more
additional assets being leased for an amount
commensurate with the standalone price
for the additional rights-of-use obtained, the
modification is accounted for as a separate
lease, in all other cases, where the renegotiated
increases the scope of the lease (whether
that is an extension to the lease term, or one
or more additional assets being leased), the
lease liability is remeasured using the discount
rate applicable on the modification date, with
the right-of-use asset being adjusted by the
same amount. If the renegotiation results in
a decrease in the scope of the lease, both
the carrying amount of the lease liability and
right-of-use asset are reduced by the same
proportion to reflect the partial or full termination
of the lease with any difference recognised in
profit or loss. The lease liability is then further
adjusted to ensure its carrying amount reflects
the amount of the renegotiated payments over
the renegotiated term, with the modified lease
payments discounted at the rate applicable on
the modification date and the right-of-use asset
is adjusted by the same amount.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

(a) Financial assets

The Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at fair value
through profit or loss are expensed in
profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of
financial assets are recognised on the
trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

() Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of
debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset.
There are three measurement
categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that
are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal
and interest are measured at
amortised cost. A gain or loss
on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at
amortised cost and is not
part of a hedging relationship
is recognised in profit or
loss when the asset is
derecognised or impaired.
Interest income from these
financial assets is included
in finance income using the
effective interest rate method.
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for the year ended
BHE-Z-_ZETTA=+-ALFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(h)

Financial instruments (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

()

Debt instruments (continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held
for collection of contractual
cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the
assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal
and interest, are measured
at FVOCI. Movements in the
carrying amount are taken
through other comprehensive
income (“OCI"), except
for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses,
interest revenue and foreign
exchange gains and losses
which are recognised in profit
or loss. When the financial
asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCI
is reclassified from equity to
profit or loss and recognised
in “other gains and losses”.
Interest income from these
financial assets is included
in finance income using the
effective interest rate method.

FVPL: Assets that do not
meet the criteria for amortised
cost or FVOCI are measured
at FVPL. A gain or loss on
a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at fair
value through profit or loss
and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognised in
profit or loss and presented
net in “other gains and losses”
in the period in which it arises.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4., ERGFHEEGE)
(CONTINUED)
(h) Financial instruments (continued) (hy £RIE(HE)

(a) ZHEEHE)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

(i) Equity investments (i) #EmILA
The Group subsequently measures REBEZRA BT EMEIRE
all equity investments at fair value. RE - WASBEEREEDEEMA
Where the Group’s management hEEREREREZTANE
has elected to present fair value Wz RkEE - TedAnBERER
gains and losses on equity BEEN D ERER TREWD
investments in OCI, there is BZH - EHMESWEP BT
no subsequent reclassification NESERBEQAA B (T
of fair value gains and losses )5 - EHER - ARERECH
to profit or loss. The amount ATHEE) R RET R B AR
accumulated in OCI remains in the 1% o & 7N B YKHR A R O HE R 7 2
fair value reserve (non-recycling) B LRI EMRBEET] Ei
until the investment is disposed Was PR - MAEMBRATA
of. At the time of disposal, the DERRASEFAEE - MAR
amount accumulated in the fair BEE  RERFERAHRER
value reserve (non-recycling) is PR o
transferred within equity. Dividends
from such investments continue
to be recognised in ‘other income’
when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established. All other
equity investments are classified
as FVPL, whereby changes in fair
value, dividend and interest income
are recognised in profit or loss.
Changes in the fair value of financial EREFABRNEREEZAR
assets at fair value through profit or BEFR Bl R EE ] BR
loss are recognised in “other gains (%EA) »
and losses” as applicable.

(i) Derecognition of financial assets (i) ZBEELIHER
The Group derecognises a financial WALBEEEeREEKIRERE
asset when the contractual rights HERENER  IEBBRERRZ S
to the cash flows from the financial PG HRSRENERN - EF
asset expire, or it transfers the DERSREEREENB RN
rights to receive the contractual [BLfg K2 B3R - AN R EBLTE B IR
cash flows in a transaction in MREHEBRENB RIS R K E
which substantially all of the risks AW MREZ S BE E I
and rewards of ownership of the B BIRIFFERZ S REE -
financial asset are transferred or in
which the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all of the
risks and rewards of ownership
and it does not retain control of the
financial asset.
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BE-_Z_THFt-A=+—HLFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(h) Financial instruments (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets

The group assesses on a forward
looking basis the ECL associated
with its debt instrument carried at
amortised cost and financial assets
at fair value through OCI. The
Group impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there
has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

The ECL is measured on either
a lifetime or a 12-month basis.
Lifetime ECL represents the ECL
that will result from all possible
default events over the expected
life of the relevant instrument. The
maximum period considered when
estimating ECL is the maximum
contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk. In
contrast, 12-month ECL represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default
events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date.

For trade receivables from third
parties, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by
HKFRS 9, which requires a lifetime
ECL to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables.

For all other financial instruments,
the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL,
unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood
or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition instead of on
evidence of a financial asset being
credit-impaired at the reporting date
or an actual default occurring since
initial recognition.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(h)

Financial instruments (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

()

Impairment of financial assets
(continued)

In assessing whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking
information that is available without
undue cost or effort. Forward-
looking information considered
includes the future prospects of
the industries in which the Group’s
debtors operate, obtained from
financial analysts and governmental
bodies (if available), as well as
consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast
economic information that relate to
the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following
information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly since
initial recognition:

° an actual or expected
significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external
(if available) or internal credit
rating;

° significant deterioration in
external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread
the credit default swap prices
for the debtors;
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BE-Z_THI-A=1+—HLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets
(continued)

o existing or forecast adverse
changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the
debtor's ability to meet its
debt obligations;

° an actual or expected
significant deterioration in
the operating results of the
debtor; and

° an actual or expected
significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic,
or technological environment
of the debtor that results in
a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the
above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on
a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due,
unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group
assumes that the credit risk on
a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(h)

Financial instruments (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

(iv)

v)

Impairment of financial assets
(continueq)

A financial instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if i) the
financial instrument has a low risk
of default (i.e. no default history), ii)
the borrower has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and iii)
adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer
term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers
a financial instrument to have low
credit risk when it has an internal or
external credit rating of “investment
grade” as per globally understood
definition.

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase
in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

Measurement of ECLs

The measurement of expected
credit loss, either on a lifetime
or 12-month basis, is a function
of the probability of default, loss
given default (i.e. the magnitude
of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default taking
into consideration for time value
of money. The assessment of
the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward looking
information. As for the exposure at
default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross
carrying amount at the end of each
reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(h)

Financial instruments (continued)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

(i)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following
as constituting an event of default
for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience
indicates that receivables that meet
either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable.

° when there is a breach of
financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

° information developed
internally or obtained from
external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking
into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that
a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidate

for the year 31 December 2020
BE-Z-ZHETSA=F+—ALFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EBEREFHEEGE)
(CONTINUED)
(h) Financial instruments (continued) (hy S£RIE(HE)

(a) Financial assets (continued)

(a) ZHEEE)
i) BEEERENEHEE

(vii)  Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group
assesses on a forward looking
basis whether financial assets
carried at amortised cost are credit-
impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-
impaired’” when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes the
following observable data:

o significant financial difficulty of
the borrower or issuer;

° a breach of contract such as
a default or past due event.

REREMR - NREEIZFEEE
EEIREHR AN RS REE
ERCDHRLEEERE - EHE—E
SZEERETREENRERS
MENEFTE TN ERE - ASH
BESCDHLERFEERE -

HEMEERFERENREREEN
THERNBUE

o  BITASERARAREY
;

s ERAH PIMELHLEB
ESE

(viij) - Presentation of allowance for ECL (vii) ARSI R ZSTEAEE
in the consolidated statement of EER
financial position
Loss allowances for financial assets LR AT EN SR EEMNER
measured at amortised cost are BEMEENRMATES R -
deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets.

(ix)  Write-off (x) Mz
The gross carrying amount of a I EERR AR B RIS » &8E
financial asset is written off (either ERXAHNEENIRMERE (DK
partially or in full) to the extent that 2ER) @AY o W IIAREBRRA
there is no realistic prospect of B AN A E I AR EA
recovery. This is generally the case IR &R AEE S FHEE AR
when the Group determines that TH —IENR o Rifn - REFEE
the debtor does not have assets WHEHNTHEESHBEBINEEN
or sources of income that could T LABFAREENE ERSEE
generate sufficient cash flows to HIRFE o
repay the amounts subject to the
write-off. However, financial assets
that are written off could still be
subject to enforcement activities in
order to comply with the Group’s
procedures for recovery of amounts
due.
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for the year ended
BHE-Z-_ZETTA=+-ALFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

(b) Financial liabilities and equity

instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued
by a group entity are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of
the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

) Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract
that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by a group entity
are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

(i) Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities
are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the
effective interest method except
for contingent consideration
recognised by the Group in a
business combination, which shall
subsequently be measured at fair
value with changes recognised in
profit or loss.

(i) Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial
liabilities when, and only when, the
Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or expire. The difference
between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable,
including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers in the
Group’s ordinary activities are recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to
the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to
be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value
added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and
the laws that apply to the contract, control of
the goods or service may be transferred over
time or at a point in time. Control of the goods
or service is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

° provides all of the benefits received
and consumed simultaneously by the
customer;

° creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs;
or

° does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the goods or services transfers
over time, revenue is recognised over the
period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of
that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the goods or
service.
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for the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-Z_THI-A=1+—HLEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i)

Revenue recognition (continued)

When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the customer a
significant benefit of financing the transfer of
goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the
present value of the amounts receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would
be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at
contract inception.

Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant
financing benefit to the Group, revenue
recognised under that contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method.

For contracts where the period between the
payment and the transfer of the promised
goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(a) Program production and related
services

() Licensing of broadcasting rights of
serial programs

Revenue from licensing of
broadcasting rights of serial
programs are recognised at the
point in time when the customer
obtains the physical possession
of master tape of the completed
program. Generally, the Group
does not have an enforceable
right to payment for performance
completed to date until when the
master tape is delivered.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(i) Revenue recognition (continued)

(a) Program production and related
services (continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iv)

Provision of distribution agency
service

Income from the distribution
agency service is recognised when
the serial programs have been
distributed to TV channels or online
media platforms and the amounts
can be measured reliably, which is
generally at the point in time when
the Group is notified of its share of
profit entitlement.

Production income

Production income is recognised at
the point in time when the customer
obtains the physical possession
of master tape of the completed
program. Generally, the Group
does not have an enforceable
right to payment for performance
completed to date until when the
master tape is delivered.

Sale of script copyright and
program

Revenue from sale of script
copyright and program is
recognised at the point in time when
the script or program is delivered
and title of script or program
has passed to the customers.
Generally, the Group does not have
an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date
until when the script or program is
delivered.
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for the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-_Z_THFt-A=+—HLFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Revenue recognition (continued)

(b)

Concert and event organisation and
related services

The Group is responsible for organising
concerts and earns revenue from ticket
sales. Revenue from concert ticket sales
is recognised over the period when the
relevant concerts are held by the Group as
the customers simultaneously receive and
consume the benefits provided by the
Group’s performance of its performance
obligations.

The Group is also responsible for
private event organisation and related
services. Revenue from service income
is recognised over the period when the
relevant events are held by the Group as
the customers simultaneously receive and
consume the benefits provided by the
Group’s performance.

Revenue from sales of concert souvenirs
are recognised at point in time at time
of payment by customer, at which time
control of goods are transferred to the
customer.

When another party is involved in
providing goods or services to its
customer, the Group determines whether
it is a principal or an agent in these
transactions by evaluating the nature of
its promise to the customer. The Group
is a principal and records revenue on a
gross basis (i.e. for concerts primarily
responsible to conduct by the Group) if it
controls the promised goods or services
before transferring them to the customer.
However, if the Group’s role is only to
arrange for another entity to provide the
goods or services, then the Group is an
agent (i.e. program production income)
and will need to record revenue at the
net amount that it retains for its agency
services.

Creative China Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2020

4.

BEX

(i)

ated Financial Statements

SETECR(])

WaErEsR ()

(b) EIESRZEENRIEERE
AEEBEENEES RN RFEER
RS o &2 F R UER 2 E FE AN S
ERTEBAHSERENTRERE - KA
CESERAEEEeNEREEREES

FIRHE N E -

REETREELAESDEN MEBR
% - BREPRKERFBERAEEE
WIRHMMER - RAEERRERE
B0 MR R IR B IRTS AP S RO UL ES ©

BEEEARHERAENES KLY
Y T A T PR R 25 o

Hﬂu]:

A H2EAETFREAEMAR
% AEBBEBFFEERTPAENE
ﬁ%*ﬁm%%&% 2 EEAZK
c HAKERATFEBARNE
mY%WZmTﬁE@EﬁXWF Al
HRETEARIR@REEER Y (A3
I£m$%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁgﬁi)
CRARENAEERSS HRE
k%hf%%%%ﬁ AIAREERRIE
A (BNES B BB K BIR B g IR

Eﬁﬁ&ﬁ% /-Ir*%iﬁgwm”&ﬁn



4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Revenue recognition (continued)

(c) Mobile live broadcasting and
e-commence related services

) Online program production services

There was no income generated
from online program production
during the year. If the Group has
entered into the same terms of
contract with customers for online
program production during current
year, revenue would be recognised
at point in time as detailed in note
4(i)(@) above.

(i) E-commerce services

E-commerce services primarily
comprised commission, based on a
fixed percentage of the transaction
amount, earned by the Group when
transactions between buyers and
merchants are completed in the
online platform operated by the
Group. The Group is neither subject
to inventory risk nor primarily
responsible for fulfilling the promise
to provide the specified good or
service. The merchants has the
discretion in establishing the prices
of specified good or service.

Commission income from
e-commerce services is recognised
when the Group has a present right
to receive the commission from
merchant, which is generally the
point in time when the transactions
between buyers and merchants are
completed.
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for the year ended

BE-Z_THI-A=1+—HLEFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(i)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(c) Mobile live broadcasting and

e-commence related services
(continued)

(ii)

Mobile live broadcasting services

The Group operates self-developed
live broadcasting platform. The
Group’s platform is free to visit and
watch. Everyone is free to join the
platform as a broadcaster. Visitors
can purchase credits which are
virtual currency for acquisition of
in-platform virtual items. Visitors
can show their support to live
broadcasters by transferring/gifting
the ownership of in-platform virtual
items to broadcasters. Upon the
sales of credits or in-platform virtual
items, the Group typically has an
implied obligation to provide the
services which enable the credits
or in-platform virtual items to be
displayed, used or converted into
other in-platform virtual currencies/
items in the platform. As a result,
the proceeds received from sales
of credits or in-platform virtual
items are initially recorded as
contract liabilities or receipt in
advance in current liabilities prior
to initial application of HKFRS 15.
The attributable portion relating to
values of the credits consumed and
in-platform virtual items converted
are able to be reliably estimated.
Broadcasters can sell those in-
platform virtual items back to the
Group at a pre-determined discount
or transferring/gifting those virtual
items to another broadcaster.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(i)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(c) Mobile live broadcasting and

e-commence related services
(continued)

(ii)

(iv)

Mobile live broadcasting services
(continued)

There was no revenue generated
from mobile live broadcasting
business during the year. If there
is any in-platform virtual items
sell back to the Group from
broadcasters, the Group would
transfer the monetary value of in-
platform virtual items net of the
pre-determined discount to the
broadcasters, and recognise the
pre-determined discount as revenue
at the point of time redemption
made by broadcasters.

Online advertising services

The Group has the exclusive
operational rights of “Aiwoo” (an
APP to provide online fans and
celebrities with the tools necessary
to engagement and interaction).
Aiwoo allows customers to place
advertisements in particular areas
of Aiwoo at fixed prices.

Revenue from online advertising
services is recognised ratably
over the period in which the
advertisement is agreed to be
displayed.
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for the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZETTA=+-ALFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(d) Entertainment on demand system

and related services

The Group provides customers
access to on demand entertainment
content through its self-developed
entertainment system “Fengtingxun”.
Users of Fengtingxun can enjoy unlimited
access to entertainment content during
annual subscription period (normally
one to two year), or access to particular
entertainment content at the time it
demand for the content (i.e. usage-
based). The Group also sell related digital
equipment to its customers, which could
be used in conjunction with Fengtingxun
for better entertainment experience.

Revenue from annual subscription for
access to entertainment content is
determined at fixed annual fee basis, and
recognised over time commencing once
the access right is activated and accepted
by customers until the end of subscription
period as the Group is granting a right
to access to entertainment content
as it exists throughout subscription
period which requires, or the customer
reasonably expects, that the Group
will undertake activities (e.g. maintain
the server which enable the streaming
of content) that significantly affect the
content to which the customer has rights.
Management considers recognising the
revenue from annual subscription for
access to entertainment content ratably
over the subscription period would
faithfully depict how the customers
simultaneously receive and consume the
benefits from the Group’s performance
over the subscription period.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(i) Revenue recognition (continued)

(d)

(e)

"

Entertainment on demand system
and related services (continued)

Revenue from subscription of particular
entertainment content on usage-based is
recognised over time during the playing
time of that particular entertainment
content.

Revenue from sale of digital equipment
is determined at fixed fee basis, and
recognised at a point in time when
customers obtain control of the promised
good, which is usually when the physical
delivery and possession of the devices
accepted by customers.

Artist management income

When another party is involved in
providing services to a customer, the
Group determines whether the nature of
its promise is a performance obligation to
provide the specified services itself (i.e.
the Group is a principal) or to arrange
for those services to be provided by the
other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the
specified good or service before that
service is transferred to a customer.
The Group is an agent if its performance
obligation is to arrange for the provision
of the specified service by another party.
The Group applies judgment to determine
control under the principal-versus-agent
as well as which of the indicators are
more relevant depending on the facts and
circumstances of the specific transaction.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time
basis on the principal outstanding at the
applicable interest rate.

(i)
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for the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-Z_THI-A=1+—HLEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

0

(k)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with a
customer, the Group obtains rights to receive
consideration from the customer and assumes
performance obligations to transfer goods
or provide services to the customer. The
combination of those rights and performance
obligations gives rise to a net asset or a net
liability depending on the relationship between
the remaining rights and the performance
obligations. The contract is an asset and
recognised as contract assets (if any) at end
of reporting period when the measure of the
remaining rights exceeds the measure of the
remaining performance obligations. Conversely,
the contract is a liability and recognised as
contract liabilities when the measure of the
remaining performance obligations exceeds the
measure of the remaining rights.

The Group recognises the incremental costs
of obtaining a contract with a customer, within
contract assets (if any) if the Group expects to
recover those costs.

Income tax

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax
and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from
ordinary activities adjusted for items that are
non-assessable or disallowable for income tax
purposes and is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of reporting period. The amount of
current tax payable or receivable is the best
estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid
or received that reflects any uncertainty related
to income tax.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of
temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the corresponding
amounts used for tax purposes. Except for
goodwill not deductible for tax purposes and
initial recognition of assets and liabilities that
are not part of the business combination which
affect neither accounting nor taxable profits,
taxable temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future, deferred
tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be
utilised, provided that the deductible temporary
differences are not arises from initial recognition
of assets and liabilities in a transaction other
than in a business combination that affects
neither taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates
appropriate to the expected manner in which
the carrying amount of the asset or liability is
realised or settled and that have been enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of reporting
period, and reflects any uncertainty related to
income taxes.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income tax
levied by the same taxation authority and the
Group intends to settle its current tax assets
and liabilities on a net basis.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at each reporting date and reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the assets to be recovered.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss
except when they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income in which
case the taxes are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or when they relate
to items recognised directly in equity in which
case the taxes are also recognised directly in
equity.
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BE-Z_THI-A=1+—HLEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

U]

Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by group entities
in currencies other than the currency of the
primary economic environment in which they
operate (the “functional currency”) are recorded
at the rates ruling when the transactions
occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and
liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the
end of reporting period. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the translation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are
included in profit or loss for the period except
for differences arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items in respect of which
gains and losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income, in which case, the
exchange differences are also recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

U]

Foreign currencies (continued)

On consolidation, income and expense items
of foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB) at
the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the rates approximating
to those ruling when the transactions took
place are used. All assets and liabilities of
foreign operations are translated at the rate
ruling at the end of reporting period. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity as foreign exchange reserve (attributed
to minority interests as appropriate). Exchange
differences recognised in profit or loss of group
entities’ separate financial statements on the
translation of long-term monetary items forming
part of the Group’s net investment in the
foreign operation concerned are reclassified to
other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity as foreign exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative exchange differences recognised
in the foreign exchange reserve relating to
that operation up to the date of disposal are
reclassified to profit or loss as part of the profit
or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on
identifiable assets acquired arising on an
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation
and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the end of reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in the foreign
exchange reserve.
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for the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-_Z_THFt-A=+—HLFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(m) Employee benefits

(n)

(i)  Short-term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are
employee benefits (other than termination
benefits) that are expected to be settled
wholly before twelve months after the
end of the annual reporting period in
which the employees render the related
service. Short term employee benefits
are recognised in the year when the
employees render the related service.

(i)  Defined contribution retirement plan

Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans are recognised as
an expense in profit or loss when the
services are rendered by the employees.

(iij) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised
on the earlier of when the Group can
no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment
of termination benefits.

Impairment of non-financial assets other
than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of the following
assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may
have decreased:

° property, plant and equipment; and
° investment in a subsidiary.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of
the fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use) of an asset is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(n)

(0)

(p)

Impairment of non-financial assets other
than goodwill (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, to the extent that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss immediately.

Value in use is based on the estimated future
cash flows expected to be derived from
the asset or cash-generating unit (“CGU”),
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group
has a legal or constructive obligation arising as
a result of a past event, which it is probable, will
result in an outflow of economic benefits that
can be reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the
existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events, are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and
prepares segment information based on the
regular internal financial information reported
to the executive directors for their decisions
about resources allocation to the Group’s
business components and for their review of
the performance of those components.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

() Related parties

(@)

A person or a close member of that
person’s family is related to the Group if
that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the
Group; or

(i) is a member of key management
personnel of the Group or the
Company’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of
the following conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Group are
members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of
the same third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of the
employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vij  The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in

(@).
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

() Related parties (continued)

(vij A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity
or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(vii) The entity, or any member of a
group of which it is a part, provides
key management personnel
services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or
domestic partner;

(i)  children of that person’s spouse or
domestic partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that
person’s spouse or domestic partner.
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for the year ended

BE-Z_THI-A=1+—HLEFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

U]

Non-current assets held for sale and
discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the
Group (i.e. the operations and cash flows of
which can be clearly distinguished from the rest
of the Group) that either has been disposed
of, or is classified as held for sale, and which
represents a separate major line of business
or geographical area of operations, or is part
of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a
separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired
exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation
occurs upon disposal or when the component
meets the criteria to be classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5, if
earlier. It also occurs when the component is
abandoned.

When an operation is classified as discontinued,
a single amount is presented in the statement
of profit or loss, which comprises:

(@ The post-tax profit or loss of the
discontinued operation; and

(o) The post-tax gain or loss recognised
on the measurement to fair value less
costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the
assets or disposal group constituting the
discontinued operation.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
the managements are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Management has also exercised
judgment in determining the timing of realisation
of the assets and settlement of the outstanding
payables and committed contractual payments
during the operation of the Group and preparation
of cash flow forecasts. However, because not all
future events or conditions can be predicted, and the
COVID-19 pandemic has created and may continue
to create significant uncertainty in macro economic
conditions, actual results might differ from these
judgments and estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.
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for the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-Z_THI-A=1+—HLEFE

5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainties

(M)

Impairment of receivables

The provision rate of receivables is made based
on assessment of their recoverability and
aging analysis of receivables as well as other
quantitative and qualitative information and
on management’s judgment and assessment
of the forward-looking information. At end of
reporting period, the historical observed default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between
historical observed default rates, forecast
economic conditions and ECLs is a significant
estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and of forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical
credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of
customer and counterparties’ actual default in
the future.

The economic downturn and uncertainties that
have arisen as a result of COVID-19 pandemic
have made these estimates more judgemental,
which the Group has taken into account in its
determination of applicable expected credit
losses. Further information on the impairment
assessment on receivables are provided in note
33(a).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainties
(continued)

(i)

(iii)

Fair value measurement of financial asset
at FVYPL

The fair value measurement of financial assets
at FVPL are categorised within Level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy and determined by
referencing to the latest market transactions
involving the financial assets. The fair value of
the financial asset at FVPL are disclosed in note
32.

Amortisation of serial program rights

The amount of serial program rights recognised
as direct costs for a given period is determined
using the revenue forecast computation
method. Under this method, the amortisation
of serial program rights and the accrual of
participations and residuals are based on the
proportion of the revenue recognised for such
period for each individual drama series to the
estimated total revenue of that drama series (i.e.
the total revenue to be received throughout the
life cycle of the drama series).

The management of the Group regularly
reviews the basis of the amortisation and will
adjust the amortisation method when the
expected changes in the revenue of the drama
series arise.
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for the year ended

BE-Z_THI-A=1+—HLEFE

5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainties
(continued)

(iv) Impairment of serial program rights

The Group carries out a serial program rights
review on a project-by-project basis at the end
of each reporting period and makes provision
for obsolete projects. Net realisable value of
serial program rights is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary business, less estimated
costs of completion and selling expenses.
These estimates are made with reference to
both internal and external market information,
for example, future income to be received from
licensing of the broadcasting rights to television
channels and online media platforms taking into
consideration of the distribution and licensing
agreements entered into by the Group and
the current market environment. Changes in
assumptions used in this assessment, including
the estimated future income, may result in
impairment being made in the consolidated
financial statements. The management of the
Group reassesses the estimation at the end of
each reporting period.
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SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group determines its operating segments based
on the reports reviewed by the chief operating
decision maker that are used to make strategic
decisions.

The Group has the following reportable segments
which are managed separately as each business
offers different products and services and requires
different business strategies. The following summary
describes the operations in each of the Group’s
reportable and operating segments:

- Program production and related services
(“Program Production”)

Program Production segment provides film
and television program original script creation,
adaptation, production and licensing and
related services.

- Concert and event organisation and related
services (“Concert and Event Organisation”)

Concert and Event Organisation segment
provides organisation services, such as
music concerts, prize presentation ceremony,
automobile shows, university alumni and other
performance events.

- Mobile live broadcasting and e-commerce and
related services (“Mobile Live Broadcasting and
E-Commerce”)

Mobile Live Broadcasting and E-Commerce
segment provides an electronic platform
for entertainment contents consumption
and e-commerce, such as online store.
This segment also provides online program
production, online advertising services and
related services.

Notes to the Consolidate

December 2020
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SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

Entertainment contents on demand system and
related services (“Entertainment on Demand
System”)

Entertainment on Demand System segment
provides entertainment content through an
entertainment on demand system named
“Fengtingxun” which are installed in hardware
placed within various karaoke boxes, mini-
cinemas, hotels and internet cafes in the PRC.
This segment was discontinued during the year
ended 31 December 2019.

Artist management and related services (“Artist
Management”)

Artist management segment provides agency
service for the artists for arrangement of
different performance activities.

Inter-segment transactions are priced with
reference to prices charged to external parties
for similar order. Central revenue and expenses
are not allocated to the operating segments
as they are not included in the measure of
the segments’ profit that is used by the chief
operating decision maker for assessment of
segment performance.
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6.

SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(a)

Notes to the Consolidate

6. ZE®|E(E)

-
RIN=

for the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—Z-ZFTSHA=T—HIEFE

Business segments (a) EBII
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE-Z-_ZSF+-A=+—HLEE
Continuing Discontinued
operations operation
FELSEER BRILEEER
Mobile Live
Concert Broadcasting Entertainment
Program  and Event and Artist on Demand
Production Organisation E-Commerce Management Sub total System Total
REER B8 ) ; BREHE ;
GREE  EHER EEREE 0 EALRE Nt BERE @it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR  ARBTR ARETR ARETn ARMTR ARETR ARETn
Revenue from contracts with EPANNE
customers 18,276 1,156 13,632 12,600 45,664 - 45,664
Represented by: DANTES-F
Recognised over time H-BEEERD
- Provision of event organisation ~ —REEHERRH
services - 1,156 - - 1,156 - 1,156
- Provision of artist management  —REEALLRE
services - - - 12,600 12,600 - 12,600
-Provision o onine advertisng ~ — A LES
services - - 13,632 - 13,632 - 13,632
Recognisedatapointintime  M-AEELED
- Sale of script copyright — RN R 18,276 - - - 18,276 - 18,276
Reportable segment revenue from ~ RENMIZPZA2R
exteral customers Al 18,216 1,156 13,632 12,600 45,664 - 45,664
Reportable segment profitfloss) ~ I2HAIER/(5E) 5,205 (330) 11,139 10829 26,843 - 26,843
Interest income HEHA 4 - 3 1 8 - 8
Interest expense eSS (5,182) (25) - (25) (5,232) - (5,232)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ (EEEENE (979) (181) - (181) (1,341) - (1,341)
Depreciation of property, plantand 1% * BERRERE
equipment (607) - (1) (179) (781) - (787)
Reportable segment assets EEE GRS 165,410 23,647 26,904 1,363 27,314 - 217,314
Addition to non-current assets (note 1) FERETEETRE (M1 - 315 5 315 635 - 635
Reportable segment liabiities BEX pE-N (108,427) (0,442 (6,533) (5,180) (129,589 - (120582
FEAEERERATE —T_TFEFEHRS
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for the year ended

BE-Z_THI-A=1+—HLEFE

6.

SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(a)

Business segments (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

6. ZE®|E(E)

ated Financial Statements

(@) H=HBoE(H)

HE"Z-NF+-A=+—HLFE

Continuing Discontinued
operations operation
BELEEE BAHEEEE
Mobile Live
Concert  Broadcasting Entertainment
Program and Event and Artist on Demand
Production ~ Organisation ~ E-Commerce ~ Management Sub total System Total
REER ) RENE
HERE  ERER  ERREE  EMNIRG Nt BREG )
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETr  ARETR
Revenue from contracts with BPalbE
customers 34,862 9,489 - 3,713 48,124 11,005 59,179
Represented by: WMFIRIBET -
Recognised over time R-Bk iﬁ%
- Sale of concert tickets -HERRS - 7,566 - - 7,566 - 7,566
- Provision of event organisation ~ — 12 /E@J #Jfﬁﬁi%
services - 1,650 - - 1,650 - 1,650
- Subscription of content S - - - - - 6474 6,474
- Provision of artist management  —REEASLHH
services - - - 3173 3,773 - 3173
Recognised at apointintime A (AREHED
- Sale of concert souvenirs -fEERELAR - 73 - - 73 - 273
- Licensing of broadcasting rights~~ — T EBA BETHRH
under co-financing arangements  ERERTE 25,991 - - - 25,991 - 25,091
- Provision of distribution agency ~ —REEBTRERHE
senvices 7,645 - - - 7,645 - 7,645
- Production services - e 1,226 - - - 1,226 1,20
- Sale of devices -HERE - - - - - 4581 4581
Reportable segment revenue from ~ RENNIEF 2 2%
extemal customers Ele 34,862 9,489 - 3,773 48,124 1,065 59,179
Reportable segment profitloss) ~ AI2HAHER/ () 12,538 (1,199) 2.99) 2414 10,761 (1,118) 9,643
Interest income LN 3 1 - - 4 2 6
Interest expense f8Hx (3313 - - - (3313) (340) (3,659)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FFREEENE (775) (393) - - (1,168) - (1,169)
Depreciation of property, plantand 1% « BERRERE
equipment 649) 31) - %) 917) (326) (1249
Amortisation of serial program BEEIRESS
rights (20,789) - - - (20,789) - (20,789)
Reportable segment assets 2RI HEE 1295553 16,781 33743 621 180,698 - 180698
Addtion to non-curent assets (note 1) ERBEERE M) 4249 - - - 4209 - 4049
Reportable segment liabilties EEEHr L (109,579 (16,725) (9,632) (3,245) (139,181) - (139,181)
Note: iz

(1) Non-current assets include property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets.
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6.

SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment (b)

Notes to the Consolidate

for the year

31 December 2020

BE-Z-ZFTZA=+—HLFE

6. ZE®|E(E)

revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities

2K WWE - B  EEREBEZHE

2020 2019
B —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Revenue &
Reportable segment and consolidated A 2H B RiRE W
revenue 45,664 59,179
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
Profit before income tax RRETSBLATR R
Reportable segment profit from REFELEES ] 2
continuing operations P2kl 26,843 10,761
Other income: EAA -
— Interest income —F BUA 1 3
Other gains or losses: Hft iz R E1E -
- Exchange (loss)/gain — & X (E18), W (12) 80
Unallocated corporate expenses: RN ARIAY
— Auditor’s remuneration — 1% A 5 B (845) (757)
— Directors’ emoluments —E=e (2,650) (2,641)
— Legal and professional fee —EERBXEER (959) (1,962)
— Salaries and other benefits for key —FTEEBERITHAE
management and administration staff e REAMER (1,519) (1,380)
— General operating expenses ——MEERE (727) (4,059)
Consolidated profit before income tax from B E TS 2 BrETSF AT
continuing operations “RE A 20,132 45
CEASERERAT T -TEEEHS
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BE-Z_THI-A=1+—HLEFE

6.

SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(b)

Reconciliation of reportable segment

ated Financial Statements

6. ZE®|E(E)

(b) AE2HIBUE B BEREBEZIHEK

revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities (')
(continued)
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Assets EE
Reportable segment assets AI2H/HIAEE 217,314 180,698
Unallocated corporate assets: RAORRAFNEE :
— Property, plant and equipment — % BB ME 284 174
— Cash and bank balances — IR & MIRITAE R 298 2,629
— Financial assets at fair value through —RARBEFFAEBRZ
profit or loss SREE 5,000 5,000
- Others —HAth 179 315
Consolidated total assets REEEBE 223,075 188,816
2020 2019
—ECEF —ZE-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Liabilities =R
Reportable segment liabilities AE2WmHEaE 129,582 139,181
Unallocated corporate liabilities: AOBARIAE :
— Accruals and other payables — A ERREAMER
A 3,678 2,312
— Loans due to shareholders —RIGBRERHER 21,237 8,105
— Loans due to a director — R —BEENER 1,178 1,254
Consolidated total liabilities e aEeE 155,675 150,852
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Notes to the C

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(c)

onsolidate

December 2020
BE—Z-_ZF+ZA=T+—HLFE

6. ZE®|E(E)

Geographic information (c) HEEHR
The following table provides a geographical TREHAEEIINEE PR AIOE ST
analysis of the Group’s revenue from external
customers:
2020 2019
B —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBT T
(note) (note)
(Hiat) (Hi7t)
Hong Kong BE
— Sale of script copyright — BB AR ki 7,427 -
— Sale of concert tickets —HEBEEEME - 6,026
— Sale of concert souvenirs —HEEEELSMm - 253
— Provision of event organisation services —RLEBE RS - 1,122
PRC ==
— Licensing of the broadcasting rights under ~ —1B{E & gl & ZTHEK
co-financing arrangements B B T ] - 25,991
— Provision of distribution agency services —REHEITRIERT - 7,645
— Production services — SUERRTS - 1,226
— Sale of script copyright — BB AR hin i 10,849 -
— Provision of event organisation services — RSB E IR 1,156 -
— Sale of devices —IHER - 4,581
— Provision of online advertising services — Rt _E E S RS 13,632 -
— Provision of entertainment on demand —RIIREN BERERR
system services AR - 6,474
— Provision of artist management services —REE AL LIRS 12,600 3,773
Other countries in Southeast Asia REnHEMER
— Sale of concert tickets —HEEEEMRE - 1,540
— Sale of concert souvenirs —HEREELSM - 20
— Provision of event organisation services — RSB EIRS - 528
45,664 59,179

Note: Geographical region of customers is based on
the location at which the goods and services
are provided.

Hiet - BRI B TRE MmN R R RS -

FERAISERERAT T _TEFERS



(d)

ated Financial Statements

SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 6. DEImE(E)
Information about major customers (d EBEXEEFMNEHR
For the year ended 31 December 2020, BE-_T-_ZTF+-_A=1+—RHIEFE KB
revenues from four customers (2019: one NERF(ZZE—NTF  — 2P )Nk=ZE 8
customer) with whom transactions have BASERFRWEAI10% © FIBNT -
exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue for the
year. Details were as follows:
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBT T
Revenue from the customer: REABFRME
Customer I: =S
— Artist management —BALL 9,387 N/ATE O
Customer II: ZPI
— Mobile live broadcasting and e-commerce  — B E1E N EE KA
and related services P 75 10,318 N/AAE RO
Customer Ill: ZAI -
— Program Production — & B &E 10,849 N/AT~ i FO
Customer IV: BRIV :
— Program Production —HIE &k 7,427 N/AE A0
Customer V: BPV:
— Program Production — & &k N/ATE RO 33,636
37,981 33,636

Notes:
(i) The corresponding revenue in the year ended
31 December 2019 for Customer |, II, Ill and
IV did not contribute over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group.

(ii) The corresponding revenue in the year ended
31 December 2020 for Customer V did not
contribute over 10% of the total revenue of the
Group.
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REVENUE

Revenue of the Group represents revenue generated
from (i) program production and related services, (ii)
concert and event organisation and related services,
(i) mobile live broadcasting and e-commerce and
related services, (iv) entertainment contents on
demand system and related services (discontinued
during the year ended 31 December 2019), and (v)
artist management and related services. The amounts
of each significant category of revenue recognised
during the year are as follows:

Notes to the Consolidate

December 2020
BE—Z-_ZF+ZA=T+—HLFE

W 58

R B 1R ()80 B BUE RARBEIRTS - ()REE

BB N AR R - (BB EENRE Fﬁ&*ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ

% (VIRRAR T BB RS ARG (REE

T-NFT_A=Z+T-RLEFELKLILE)  kvE
AR EB L BEREEE 2 BB KD - RFERRE
RH)E R USRI MR T

2020 2019
—ECEE —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Continuing operations FEARE R
Program production and related income £ B RE R ABRW A
— Licensing of the broadcasting rights — IR A RVE TR R R
under co-financing arrangements REFT A - 25,991
— Provision of distribution agency services ~— — 123 ITHRIZIRG - 7,645
- Production services — BIERRTE - 1,226
— Sale of script copyright — & BI AR W 18,276 -
Concert and event organisation and EREE MEEE N RAEREWA
related income 1,156 9,489
Mobile live broadcasting and e-commerce BEEE LB RAEBIA
and related income 13,632 -
Artist management and related income ANEE A2 AR 12,600 3,773
45,664 48,124
Discontinued operation EARIFAZEER
Entertainment contents on demand system RN BN B EE XL L
and related income 1ERE RS - 11,055
45,664 59,179
FENERRARAT —T-TEEEHS
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8.

ated Financial Statements

OTHER INCOME 8. HlkA
2020 2019
—ECEE —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Continuing operations TSR
Interest income from bank deposits RITIF R Z A EWA 9 7
Sundry income WA 13 855
Rental income FEEAON 127 160
Government subsidy BRT 48 264 -
413 1,022
Discontinued operation EARIAEEERE
Interest income from bank deposits RITIF R Z A EWA - 2
Sundry income WA - 9
- 11
413 1,033
OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 9. HihkBEREE
2020 2019
—ECEE —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARYET T ARETT
Continuing operations TR
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BERRE 2 EIE
equipment - (70)
Exchange gain RN 3 80
Reversal of provision of impairment loss of 8 5 K H b e IR B & 18
trade and other receivables R mREl - 3,328
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—EIB ARz e 34 -
37 3,338
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Notes to the Consolidate

10. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 10. BRETEHADEF
2020 2019
—ECEE —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETTT
Continuing operations FEARE R
Profit before income tax is arrived PR TS EL B 2 AT )

at after charging: KRR -

Staff costs (note 11) BIRAHZTT) 7,744 9,816
Auditor’s remuneration %S0 BT B 845 757
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BB MBI E (MitE)

equipment (note (a)) 822 1,058
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE (Hit29)

(note 29) (note (a)) (H15# @) 1,524 1,365
Amortisation of serial program rights (note 18) E4EBIRE#E S (H1:£18)

(note (b)) (Htatm)) - 20,789
Short-term lease expenses (note 29) REARER S (Hi729) - 709
Notes: MEE
(@)  Included in “administrative expenses” for the year. @ FAFEMTERAL] -

(b)  Included in “direct costs” for the year. ) BEEFREZKAR -
FEAEERERAT T TEEEES
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for the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-Z_THI-A=1+—HLEFE

11.

ated Financial Statements

STAFF COSTS 11. BEIRA
2020 2019
—E-EF —nEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT

Continuing operations TSR

Staff costs (including directors) comprise: BINAN(BIEER)BIE
Wages and salaries ITERS® 7,287 8,515
Short-term non-monetary benefits REAFEEEER 111 131
Social insurance and housing fund HeRRMEEAES 346 1,170
7,744 9,816

The Group operates/participates in the following
pension and post retirement plans:

0

)

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and
regulations in the PRC, the Group participates
in defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes (the “Schemes”) organised by the
local government authorities whereby the
Group is required to make contributions to
the Schemes based on certain percentages
of the eligible employee’s salaries. The local
government authorities are responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to the retired
employees. The Group has no other obligations
for payments of retirement and other post-
retirement benefits of employees other than the
contributions described above.
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12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Notes to the Consolidate

Directors’ emoluments are disclosed as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2020:

12. EEFHM
WEZEEEHMOT -

BE_Z-ZF+-A=+T—-HILEFE:

Contributions
Salaries to retirement
and other benefit
Fees benefits schemes Total
#FeR BIKER
Be Hitt g F FHEIf @gt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R AR®T R AR%F AR%T
Executive directors HITEE
(note (i) below) (X))
Mr. Philip Jian Yang BRI%E
(note (iv) below) (FXHiEHY) - 1,117 - 1,117
Ms. Yang Jianping BTt - 504 - 504
Non-executive directors HHITEE
(note (i) below) (TFXHiz2()
Mr. Ge Xuyu BEFEE - 320 16 336
Mr. Wang Yong TBEE - 213 - 213
Mr. Yang Shiyuan BittEAE - - - -
Independent non-executive BUIHTESE
directors (note (iij) below) (FXHT )
Mr. Tan Song Kwang BRIDE A& - 160 - 160
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen ERRR A - 160 - 160
Ms. Fu Yuehong BRI+ - 160 - 160
- 2,634 16 2,650
FHABERERAT T -TEFERS
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Notes:

12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) 12. EEFM(E)
Year ended 31 December 2019: BE-—ZE—hAE+-—A=+—RHILEE":
Contributions
Salaries to retirement
and other benefit
Fees benefits schemes Total
ek RIRER
we HAEH FHEIfR faEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT ARBEF T ARBFT
Executive directors HITEE
(note (i) below) (X))
Mr. Philip Jian Yang HRIEAE
(note (iv) below) (FXHiEHy) - 1,112 - 1,112
Ms. Yang Jianping Yzt - 509 - 509
Non-executive directors FHITEE
(note (i) below) (T X))
Mr. Ge Xuyu BEFEE - 317 16 333
Mr. Wang Yong TEEE - 211 - 211
Mr. Yang Shiyuan BHREE
(note (v) below) (TFXHz# () - - - -
Independent non-executive BUHHTEE
directors (note (iij) below) (TFXH a2 i)
Mr. Li Fei FRTE
(note (vi) below) (TFXHiat)) - 84 - 84
Mr. Tan Song Kwang BRAD S - 158 - 158
Mr. Yau Yan Yuen BB RIR S 4 - 158 - 158
Ms. Fu Yuehong BRIt
(note (vii) below) (TFxXHizz (i) - 76 - 76
- 2,625 16 2,641

(i)

(i)

(iv)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were mainly for their services as directors of
the Company or its subsidiaries.

The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services as directors of the Company.

Mr. Philip Jian Yang is also the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company.
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12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) 12.

13.

14.

Notes: (continued)

Notes to the Consolidate

(v) Re-designated as non-executive director on 25

March 2019.

(vij  Ceased as independent non-executive director on 10

EEHM ()

Hred - (%)

for the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-Z-ZFTZA=Zt+—HLEE

v RZZE-NF=ZA-THBAERkHITES -

V) RIZB-NFLATATBEEBLIFNTES -

July 2019.
(viij  Appointed as independent non-executive director on i) R-ZE—NFLAT+BEZTABIIFNTES -
10 July 2019.
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 13. EEBEHFMAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments TEBRAEERFMALH  =R(ZZ—NF: =
in the Group, three (2019: three) were directors of BIRARFESE  BEZHHME HN L XHE126
the Company whose emoluments are included in the BER - HEBME(ZT—NF : ME) AL 25
disclosures in note 12 above. The emoluments of the LU
remaining two (2019: two) individuals were as follows:
2020 2019
i —E-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREEFTT
Wages and salaries TERFG 1,224 1,332
Mandatory provident fund BHMEATES 28 32
1,252 1,364
Their emoluments were within the following band: %55 2 BN IA T 48R
2020 2019
—ECEE —E-NF
No. of No. of
individuals individuals
AE AH
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 = %1,000,000/8 70 2 2
FINANCE COSTS 14. B
2020 2019
—E_EHF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
Continuing operations TSR
Imputed interest on trade payables B RENFIEZEETE 5,005 3,313
Interest on lease liabilities (note 29) HEAER B (H229) 253 261
5,258 3,574

HEAIRZERERAR

T BEEERE



=
for the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-ZEH A=+ —-ALFE

15. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

ated Financial Statements

15. FRSHMAX

2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMET T ARBT T
Continuing operations FEERE R
Current tax — HK BUEATRIE — &
— provision for the year — F AR 30 -
Current tax — the PRC BN EARR IR —
— provision for the year — FAEE 31 459
— under/(over) provision in respect of —BEFERETRS
prior years (FRERRE) 15 (199
Income tax expenses R8s 76 260

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, Hong
Kong profits tax of the qualifying group entity is
calculated at 8.25% (2019: 8.25%) on the first HK$2
million of the estimated assessable profits and 16.5%
(2019: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
above HK$2 million during the year. Hong Kong
profits tax of group entities not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax regime will be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%. PRC enterprise income tax is calculated at

HE

25% (2019: 25%) on the estimated assessable profits
during the year. The income tax expenses can be
reconciled to the profit before income tax expenses
from continuing operations per the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income as follows:

RBFESHRMAS  GEREEETEEZEEF
BEDBAFANEWEE BT 2 ARG FIZ
8.25%(—ZF— N : 8.25%) ANMAEBB T LZ
T ER B HEFIZ16.5% ( Z B — N F : 16.5%) 5
Ho NEFBHMAHERNEBETEE 2HE
REFBNHLE — T R16.5% 1 o PEIDEMER T
AR 2 (et E RS AL 25% ( — T — N4F 1 25%)
FrisfifZ Al A 2 MmN RATRAK B
SECEEBBR AR AR TS RN T

2020 2019
—ECEF —ZE-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T ARETT
Continuing operations B ER
Profit before income tax expenses: BR TS EL B 2 AT ) 20,132 45
Tax expense calculated at the AR MR R 25%
domestic tax rate of 25% (2019: 25%) (ZZ—NF : 25% )58
MIHEEY 5,033 11
Effect of different tax rates of companies REMBERELLERFTME
operating in other jurisdictions R -7 (845) 631
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax AT HIFR B2 2 TR iE o &
purposes 518 909
Tax effect of revenue not taxable for tax BARBIN S 2 g &
purposes 3) _
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised RERTIEB B BB 2 2,238 1,117
Under/(over) provision in prior years BEFERETR(BREEE) 15 (199)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax loss &) F 5t il K HERR 15 TE 5 18 (6,880) (2,209)
Income tax expenses FrisBiFR < 76 260
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Notes to the Consolidate

December 2020

BE-Z-ZFTZA=+—HLFE

16. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 16. SREF,(FE)
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) ARREBREZREABREERERNLEERT
per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of (E18) TR A T8UERTE -
the Company is based on the following data:
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBTIT
Profit/(loss) for the purposes of basic HERBEXEF(FE)MEZ
earnings/(loss) per share BA(EE)
- Continuing operations —FHEISE T 20,003 (99)
- Discontinued operation —ERIEEEER - 1,710
20,003 1,615
2020 2019
— —E-hEF
’000 ‘000
T T
Number of shares REH
Issued ordinary shares of 1 January R—A—BMBE %7 ER 1,423,513 1,423,513
Effect of issuance of shares under RIBBLE TR < &
placing (note 25(a)) (Ka£25(a) 148,132 -
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 3% i F 152 1,571,645 1,423,513
Note: No diluted earnings/(loss) per share is presented as Mzt EETRES R (5E)  BEE_T_TF
there were no potential ordinary shares in issue for F—E-NF+ A=+ BLFEIEEECET
the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019. el
FENERRARAT —T-TEEEHS
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

17. Y% BMERRE

ated Financial Statements

Leasehold Office Computer Furniture Motor
improvements  equipment  equipment  and fixtures vehicles Total
RENEEE T EfRE GAREE RE a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
Cost: RE
At 1 January 2019 RZZ-hE-A-H 7,352 2,739 9,329 1,002 4,424 24,846
Additions hE 1,311 - - 143 - 1,454
Written off i (6,855) - - - - (6,855)
Disposal e - (115) (125) (40) (600) (880)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-HHBLA (59) (1,063) 1) (187) - (1,400
At 31 December 2019 and RZE-NE+ZA=T-ARK
1 January 2020 “$-Z%-A-H 1,749 1,561 9,113 918 3,824 17,165
Additions HE - - 3 - - 37
Exchange realignment BB (19 2 - - - 1)
At 31 December 2020 RIZZFF+-A=1-H 1,730 1,559 9,150 918 3,824 17,181
Accumulated depreciationand ~ ZiHFERFEEE :
impairment loss:
At 1 January 2019 RZE-hE-A-A 6,970 2,253 9,008 892 3,843 22,961
Charge for the year FRZH 565 356 107 9 257 1,384
Witten off ke (6,855) - - - - (6,855)
Disposal e - (109) (119) (31) (342) (601)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-REHEAR (59) 939) 78 () - (1,118
At 31 December 2019 and RZE-NETZA=+-AR
1 January 2020 —F-F5-A-H 621 1,561 8,913 918 3,758 15,771
Charge for the year FRFE 603 - 153 - 66 822
Exchange redlignment A% (22) Q) - - _ 4)
At 31 December 2020 RZE-EET-A=1-H 1,202 1,559 9,066 918 3,824 16,569
Net carrying amount: REFE
At 31 December 2020 RZFZTE+ZA=1-H 528 - 84 - - 612
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NET-A=+-A 1,128 - 200 - 66 1,304
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Notes to the Consolidate

18. SERIAL PROGRAM RIGHTS 18. EEBIMFE
Serial program Adaptation
rights right Total
BIEBINRE N imRE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFIT ARETIT
At 1 January 2019 RZZE—NF—H—H 48,574 - 48,574
Addition for the year FARE 79,902 - 79,902
Recognised as direct costs for  FRIER B E ERA
the year (20,789) - (20,789)
At 31 December 2019 and RZZT—hF
1 January 2020 +=—A=+—HxK
—E-TF—H—H 107,687 - 107,687
Transfer from prepayment AT R - 4,533 4,533
Exchange realignment ME 5 R - (244) (244)
At 31 December 2020 =
+=-A=+—H” 107,687 4,289 111,976

The serial program rights shown above included two
television drama series obtained by the Group under
co-financing arrangements and belonging to the
Program Production segment, with carrying amounts
of RMB27,785,000 and RMB79,902,000 respectively
as at 31 December 2020 and 2019.

The Group did not recognise any serial program rights
as direct costs for the year ended 31 December
2020 (2019: RMB20,789,000) in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

XA RBEERRERERAEBRER S ME
ZHRESNMAEREES BHERBRE B &1E
DE - RZBEZEFR T -NFF+ZA=1+—
HRERMEES B A ARE27,785000 T & A R#
79,902,0007T °
HE_ZT-_ZTFEF+_A=ZF+—HLFE  A£ET
ERRE 2RI RERITMEES RESEEK
K(ZZ—hF : AR¥20,789,0007T) °

FERAISERERAT T _TEFERS
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for the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-Z_THI-A=1+—HLEFE

18.

19.

SERIAL PROGRAM RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

The Group carries out a net realisable value review
on a project-by-project basis at the end of each
reporting period and make provision for obsolete if
necessary. The Directors the Company assessed that
the net realisable value of each of the serial program
rights are higher than their carrying amounts, hence
no impairment (2019: Nil) was recognised during the
year.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, one of the
broadcasting right had already been sold to a
customer for first round broadcasting in television
station. The remaining one is still negotiating with
different television stations and platforms.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

ated Financial Statements

18. EEBIRHE (&)

AEBRESERSHERFZERBETIZEREA
BEHN  MELBRABRERRB (FEBHHE - ~AARE
FHEREERRE TR FESNEREE
BEAL BERETFABE(ZFT—NF  £) -

@I—?—?i&—? jlfﬁ—f—_ﬂz—f—_a ’ ﬁ
h-IREERECHE AT EERAER - R T
—IRDERTENERES LT afTHA -

19. RAABEHABENEREE

2020 2019

g St 83 —E-NF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ETT ARBFIT

Unlisted equity investment (note (a)) SE L TRRIEIR & (K75 (@) 5,000 5,000

Note:

(@  As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the balance
represented the remaining 6.25% equity interest of
Capital Land Digital Entertainment Co. Ltd. (“Capital
Land”), after the loss of control from disposal during
the year ended 31 December 2019. Management
classified the investment on its initial recognition at fair
value through profit or loss as management considers
the investment is held for sale in the near term.

In April 2020, the Group entered into an equity
transfer agreement to dispose of the remaining 6.25%
of Capital Land to a shareholder of Capital Land (the
“Buyer”). Due to the pandemic led to tightening of
capital flow, the Group and the Buyer unanimously
agreed to terminate the transaction in December
2020.
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(@) #_7_?$& —NFE+ZA=+—H  5EHIE
REE ﬂ¢+_ﬂ T—BIEFERETHE
%%#ﬁ%é?l@%ﬁﬁhﬂﬂ&ﬁ@ al([5T
ﬁQﬁT%G%%%% MR ERERSAERE S
RIS E - HEREN SRR RS H A
BASER AR

RZZ_ZTFMA  AEBEETEER KRR
(CAR ] B 77 1) 25T i i es 2 13 1 & I8R6.25%
M RTRERE - HREBEREARBBE - A6H
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Notes to the Consolidate

December 2020
BE—Z-_ZF+ZA=T+—HLFE

20. EZREMEWRFIE

2020 2019

—ECEF —E-NF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARBT T

Trade receivables, gross B S W GRIA R 9,171 1,414
Less: impairment allowance B ORERE (1,110) (1,351)
Trade receivables, net B 5 EGRIEFER 8,061 63
Prepayments and deposits (notes (i) to (i) AR B RIE® (B0 2 (i) 66,828 38,463
Other receivables, gross HAtbEUGRIA AR RE 12,753 20,824
Less: impairment allowance R ERE (63) -
Other receivables, net H b pe I G IE 558 12,690 20,824
87,579 59,350

Notes:

At end of reporting period, the balances of prepayments
and deposits are mainly represented by the following:

(i) The balance included prepayment to event
organisers of approximately RMB15,711,000 (2019:
approximately RMB11,399,000) under Concert
and Event Organisation segment for the purpose of
concert to be held in the coming years.

(ii) The balance included prepaid service fees to actors
and performers of approximately RMB16,781,000
(2019: approximately RMB16,781,000) in relation to
performing in the Group’s mobile live broadcasting
platform.

(i) ~ The balance included prepaid service fees of
approximately RMB28,710,000 in relation to program
production (2019: Nil).

The Directors of the Company assessed that there is
no material recoverability issue for the prepayments and
deposits and the Group did not record any impairment
of prepayments and deposits during the year ended 31
December 2020 (2019: Nil).

MEE

RNMEHR - BNRBERRE UL EBERIBENAERE
AT EIA

) REREEEEEKESHEN D AR FZRITH
EEEMEHERARAXMOEMNKBOARE
153711,000ﬁ<:§fﬂ$ # AR 11,399,000
5T o

iy HHBEEERAEEBRHERFERENEER
A ZEMRGE Y ARE16,781,000T( —Z— N,
F W ANR#16,781,0007T) °

(i) HHEEEUEDNERIECEMNREERAOARE
28,710,0007C(—Z—FLF &) -

RAREEHEANRERES T EEAAIWEBIME -
AEBWERNEE S -_SF+ _A=-+—HIFEHNE
MREREES I RE(ZZ—AF ) o

FERAISERERAT T _TEFERS
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for the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE-Z-_ZETTA=+-ALFE

ated Financial

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20.

(CONTINUED)

The aging analysis of trade receivables (net of
impairment losses), based on invoice dates, as of the

end of year, is as follows:

Statements

B 5 R HEAERFER ()

RERE 5 RUKFIRERRERR) RE R B K

FRECDATINTE -

2020 2019

—ECEF —E-NEF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T T ARBT T

Within 30 days 30 KA 7,760 -
31 to 90 days 31E90K - -
91 to 180 days 91E180K - 63
181 to 365 days 181E365K 301 -
Over 365 days 365K E - -
8,061 63

The Group recognised impairment loss based on the
accounting policy stated in note 4(h)(a)(iv). The credit
period granted to trade debtors ranges 0-90 days
from the invoice dates. No significant change in the
gross carrying amounts of trade receivable during the
year contributed to changes in the loss allowance.
Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit
risk management are set out in note 33(a).

75 55 B AR BE Y 5T 4(h)(@)(iv) BT it & 51 IR T ROR (B S
18 BUERZEEMEHRAREN FOEI0X -
FR - EFHRUGENETARTESAEHME
HEERENEE  BRAKEEERRREER

e IR A — S B E K EES3() ©

21. TRADE PAYABLES 21, BEZEMARE
The aging analysis of trade payables, based on RERE FENFIBERERE ARNRE ST -
invoice dates, as of the end of year is as follows:
2020 2019
—E-EF —ZE-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBT T
Within 30 days 30K - 79,896
91-365 days 91E365K - 1,577
Over 365 days (note) 365K A (H1at) 73,496 9,666
73,496 91,139
Represented by: b=
Current portion BIHEAER > 24,596 45,881
Non-current portion FERNHAES 48,900 45,258
73,496 91,139

Creative China Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2020




21. TRADE PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

Note:

Included in trade payables over 365 days as at 31
December 2020 was the remaining balances of
RMB71,604,000 in respect of purchase of serial
program rights which was payable by instalments until
end of 2020. At the date of approval of these financial
statements, the Group is still negotiating with different
TV stations and platforms for initial broadcasting of
the serial program, the Group has obtained consent
from the vendor to defer the settlement of certain
payables but no later than 31 December 2022 in
case distribution of broadcasting right is delayed.

22, OTHER PAYABLES

21.

Notes to the Consolidate

December 2020
BE—Z-_ZF+ZA=T+—HLFE

B2 ENAFOR(R)

ikt -

R-ZE-ZTF+-A=+—H  RKABSKU LD
ZHSEMNFERERBEAEEERENREARE
71,604,0007C - BEZIEENREZ T _TF KD
Y - RSB HREIUERS - AEEDEEN

ITEI‘J SR G T BARRERERI &R - AR
SHERRE - HEITEREES - AR

%:F‘é’%ﬁﬁmlﬁﬁ TER B —F+-_A=+—
B A e

22, HAtEMNRIEA

2020 2019
TEF ZE-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREFTT
Accruals and other payables (note) FEETE A R E AT IE (M 5E) 37,207 29,742
Deposit received Bdze 137 137
37,344 29,879
Notes: Kt -

At end of reporting period, the balance of accruals and
other payables mainly represented the following:

@

(i)

An amount of approximately RMB9,047,000
(2019: RMB9,047,000) included in other payables
represented payable to other investors of serial
program rights in relation to licensing of broadcasting
right under Program Production segment.

An amount of approximately RMB5,951,000
(2019: RMB6,333,000) included in other payables
represented payable to creditor in relation to concert
organisation.

?iﬁl&i%,ﬁﬁ?ﬁ CEETEAREMENIENESRERIEAT
18

U

(i)

FFUIB B FE 4 A R 159,047,000 (
R #9,047,0007T ) K208 ?E. HER
15 P H A = ) 3 A B LA 5

it

ﬁ
A
o

&
S A
o

i d/ -H?‘Iﬂi

HEMEMZIERENARKES951 ,0007t<:2
F : AR#6,333,00070) KA - HEELE RS
PR EREARFIE

FERAISERERAT T _TEFERS
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ated Financial Statements

23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 23. GHAE
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Contract liabilities arising from Program HEREEEZEHARE
Production 12,650 12,650
Contract liabilities arising from Concertand ~ JEE& KM REhEREL
Event Organisation BH8aE 1,333 1,419
Contract liabilities arising from Mobile Live BEHEBEREEELEZAHNAR
Broadcasting and E-commerce 881 -
Contract liabilities arising from Artist BARKEEZENEE
Management 505 -
15,369 14,069
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount FECWARSHEN—RAFTEFTNT
of contract liabilities are as follows:
Program Production EEEE
Deposits received by the Group in respect of the REBREBENE —RIFE SR BRBHERERD
second round non-prime time broadcasting right of ReMARANEE BEEERAEERTA LHE
serial program is recognised as contract liabilities until ZENEEBRETAERIERLE -

such right is eligible to be shown on platform after the
first round showings on TV platform.
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-
RIN=

for the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—Z-ZFTSHA=T—HIEFE

The first round broadcasting on TV platform was
delayed as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Therefore, the deposits received by the Group in prior
year in respect of the second round non-prime time
broadcasting right was not recognised as revenue
during the year ended 31 December 2020.

23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 23. EHERE(E)
Concert and Event Organisation BEESREBER
A deposit is received by the Group before organising AEERENTMBEEE REBATMEIZS -
any concert and event.
As at 31 December 2020, the aggregated amount RZEZEF+_A=+T—H DBEEAEEHES
of the transaction price allocated to the remaining GHETHHRBHETNZHERNEASEAAR
performance obligations under the Group’s #15,369,0007C ( ZFE — N F : AR % 14,069,000
existing contracts is RMB15,369,000 (2019: 7)o e A KRIEE A& (FEHAR R IR361E A3 4E)
RMB14,069,000). This amount represents revenue R H I ES ©
expected to be recognised in the future which is
expected to occur over the next 36 months.
2020 2019
—ECEF —E—NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Movements in contract liabilities EHEBEEH
Balance as at 1 January N—A—BZ#&#% 14,069 3,826
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of ~ EAAFEEHERTAFENE L
recognising revenue during the year that BENRRBIREOEERD
was included in the contract liabilities at
beginning of year - (1,764)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of MEFUEETE & AEE
receipt of subscription fee from customers BHBEE - 2,667
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of MEFPKEUEIRS KIEBIEN
receipt of concert and event organisation BERBHSNRELM
fee from customers - 1,419
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of MEPFINEGEESIMREEEE
receipt of serial program right transfer fee BREHANBEEM
from customers - 12,650
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of WEA RS EREREL
receipt of online advertising fee B & 881 -
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of IWEREE A 40 BB BAE L
receipt of artist management fee B &M 505 -
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HEMBAE - (4,729)
Exchange realignment b 3 5% (86) -
Balance as at 31 December RTZA=+—H2%&% 15,369 14,069

BREERTA LMEZBMER Bt - AEE
MEERNE b SR BIERUERN = F IS
BE THERABEE2020F12 A31 B IFFEHIES -

FERAISERERAT T _TEFERS
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for the year ended
BHE-Z-_ZETTA=+-ALFE

24. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the movements are as follows:

ated Financial Statements

EEBIREE

Eﬁ PHARNEKERNECHBEE R B BHERK
DREZSEINT

Tax loss

HIEEE

RMB’000

AREFIT

At 1 January 2019 A\—E—-h&F—H—H 1,449

Disposal of a subsidiary LEHEAT (1,449)
At 31 December 2019, 1 January 2020 E/\\_f hi‘l— —A=+—H —Z-ZF—Af—H

and 31 December 2020 —ECEF+-RA=+—H -

At end of the reporting period, the Group has
not recognised deferred tax assets totaling
RMB10,754,000 (2019: RMB16,061,000) in
respect of certain accumulated tax losses as it
is not probable that future taxable profits against
which the losses can be utilised will be available in
the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. Tax losses
amounting to approximately RMB10,591,000 (2019:
RMB14,244,000) may be carried forward indefinitely.
The remaining tax losses will be expired as follows:

RAREEAR » AEBWERE TR R EFER®
RIBEFIBEELFT ARK10,754,0000t(ZZF— 1
F: AR¥16,061,0007T) @ REBRABRTHE A
SRR N EEE o TJREN B R R E R B A I AT B A IS
18 - FIAEEY ARE10,591,00070 (20194 : AR
#614,244,00070) FJ SRR BB A5 62 o SR T RLTEE 1B M
ERAT

At At
31 December 31 December
2020 2019

R-ZB-BF H-ZT-NE
+=g=+—-8 +t=-A=+—~

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T AR¥ETT

Year 2020 20204 - 256
Year 2021 20214 1,700 12,972
Year 2022 20224 11,880 28,724
Year 2023 20234 15,509 15,509
Year 2024 20244 539 540
Year 2025 20255 6,402 -
36,030 58,001
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December 2020
BE—Z-_ZF+ZA=T+—HLFE

25. SHARE CAPITAL 25, JRA
Authorised and issued share capital EERBBITRAE
2020 2019
ZEIERE —TNE
Equivalent to Equivalent to
Number HK$'000 RMB’000 Number HK$'000 RMB’000
HBER BER
L= TEr AR%ETR #H TEr  ARBTE
Authorised EE
Ordinary shares of BRAEBNBTLZ
HK$0.01 each L@k 8,000,000,000 80,000 67,024 8,000,000,000 80,000 67,024
Issued and fully paid ERTREBEHHZE
Ordinary shares Lidlk
Atbeginning of year ~ FAEA) 1,423,513,043 14,235 11,788 1,423,513,043 14,235 11,788
Issue of shares under  RIEAEETRNR
placing (note ) (Hista) 158,064,516 1,581 1,400 - - -
At end of year PER 1,581,577,559 15,816 13,188 1,423,513,043 14,235 11,788
Note: et -

(@)

Pursuant to the Company announcement dated
on 10 January 2020, the Company entered into
the subscription agreement with the subscriber
in relation to the subscription of shares. Pursuant
to the subscription agreement, the Company has
conditionally agreed to allot and issue 158,064,516
shares to the subscriber at the subscription price of
HK$0.062 per share. The above subscription was
completed on 23 January 2020. The net proceeds
from the subscription amounted to approximately
HK$9,790,000.

BEARBBHAZ-_TF-A+HZRAE AR
RIERE A RRBROI L RB RS - RERER
# o ARRIE AR RERE K E17158,064,5160%
D FRES - REEBETRREIZMD.0625T -
FHREEECOR T EFE—A-+=H%K - R
MEE18 7 TS ZIBF584)/59,790,000/8 7T °
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26. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 26. FFIERER
Beijing Yiju Creative Technology Limited (“Yiju IR SBAERBEARA( SHBEE ) (AEAEE
Creative”), 80% owned by the Group has material HH80%) A EAI TR ER ([ FEERER=]) - B
non-controlling interests (“NCI”). Summarised SRR EEE RN HE A S ER 25
financial information in relation to Yiju Creative before N

intra-group elimination are presented below:

ated Financial Statements

Yiju Creative ZRAE
2020 2019
—ECEE —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBTFIT
Revenue Wz 23,749 16,571
Profit for the year FREF 21,129 13,610
Total comprehensive income for the year FRNE2ERZLEE 21,129 13,610
Loss and total comprehensive income NEEEIEREENEEREE
allocated to NCI (note) Wk B ([ 5E) - -
Cash flows (used in)/generated from e EB) (FTA),/FTig
operating activities WenE (1,461) 622
Cash flows (used in)/generated from WEES(FTA),/Fig
investing activities Rene 2 1
Net cash (outflows)/inflows Be (Rt RAFE (1,463) 623
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26.

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes to the Consolidate

for the year 31 December 2020
BE-Z-ZHETSA=F+—ALFE

26. SRR ()

2020 2019
—E_EF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREFIT

As at 31 December W+=—A=+—8
Non-current assets EMENEE 4 -
Current assets MBEE 28,029 33,743
Current liabilities mENaE (94,265) (121,105)
Net liabilities AfEF5E (66,232) (87,362)

Accumulated non-controlling interests (note)

Note:

As Yiju Creative had suffered losses in operation in prior
years and needed additional capital to sustain its business,
the Group had continuously provided the additional capital
contribution to Yiju Creative since 2016. The Group had
agreed with the NCI that the NCI had no obligation to
contribute additional capital to Yiju Creative for the losses
incurred, in return, the NCI confirmed not to share any
profits arising from Yiju Creative until the additional losses/
capital contribution borne by the Group had been fully
recovered (the “Arrangement”).

As at 31 December 2019, the accumulative losses
attributable to the NCI were RMB19,014,000. Under
the Arrangement, the Group had made additional
capital contribution to Yiju Creative and borne solely the
accumulative losses, including those attributable to NCI of
RMB19,014,000.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the profit for the
year attributable to the NCI was RMB4,226,000. Under
the Arrangement, the Group had been compensated from
the profits, including the profit attributable to the NCI of
RMB4,226,000.

During the year, no dividend was paid to non-controlling
shareholders (2019:Nil). The proportion of equity interest
and voting rights held by non-controlling interest is 20% as
at 31 December 2020.

RA SRR (A7) - -

Bet -

HRZRAENETFRE LB EP EXEE - m&ERE)
AR BEEEY  AEEBE T NFRTE RS RE
BRHBEINELRNE - $’§l§ﬁiéﬁ PetE s e - FEIE
P 5 SRR TS B T EE A VB 1R T (A1 5 B A BE L BN B
AHE - FRON  FERESERTEDE S RAEE
EREREN - EEREBEAENEIMNGEBALER
BEWE S ([ZBEREE])

—NE+ZA=+—8  HERESEERTEE
EAEfiﬁw,om,oooE RIEZBELZE  A&EEERSHE
BIBEEHEINNEARATE  WBAAREZREE - BIEE
PR RS FE AN Va2 Z 518 A R #519,014,0007T ©

REE_Z-_TFT_A=+—-HLLFE FEEER
%fﬁimmﬂ%}\ﬁ?ﬁ%mzeoooﬁ RIEZ ALY K
SEBEHENESHE  SEFERERREENAARYE
4,226,0007T °

FA - WEFAFERBREMENRE(ZT—hE
) R-T-EE+-A=+—H - FERESFAENR
MR R Z DI 20% ©
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27. RESERVES

(a)

Reserves of the Group

The following describes the nature and purpose
of each reserve within owners’ equity:

Share premium

Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter
22 of the Cayman Islands, share premium
of the Company is available for paying
distributions and dividends to shareholders
subject to the provisions of its Memorandum
and Articles of Association and provided that
immediately following the distributions or
dividend payments, the Company is able to pay
its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business.

Other reserve

It represents the fair value of the share-based
payments over the consideration received.

Merger reserve

It represents the difference between the
nominal value of shares issued by the Company
and the aggregate fully paid registered
capital of subsidiaries pursuant to the Group
Reorganisation.
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27. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Reserves of the Company

Notes to the Consolidate

27. ()
(b) AATfE
AATGHEZ BBT -

Movements in the Company’s reserves are as

follows:

Share Accumulated

premium losses Total
BB E =40 F et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARBETIT ARBT T
Balance at 1 January 2019 RZZE—-hF—HA—H
k=13 158,096 (116,989) 41,107
Loss for the year FAEE - (4,328) (4,328)
Balance at 31 December 2019 W -ZT—HAF+_F
and 1 January 2020 —t+—ARZZETF
—B—Bz&H% 158,096 (121,317) 36,779
Loss for the year FRHEF - (4,808) (4,808)
Issue of shares under placing RIBEREEEITRG
(note 25(a)) (H15#25(a) 7,282 - 7,282
Balance at 31 December 2020 W_ZT-ZH+_F
=t+—Hz &% 165,378 (126,125) 39,253
FEAEERERATE —T_TFEFEHRS
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for the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-ZEH A=+ —-ALFE

28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

ated Financial Statements

28. AQFHMEMRRE

THE COMPANY
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Hiat ARET T AREFIT
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—RENBRARNERE —* =*
Right-of-use asset EREEE - 115
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG SR 70,342 61,365
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 70,342 61,480
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E bW ERIE 6,145 -
Prepayment TERTEIR 179 191
Cash and bank balances HE MIRTTHEH - 166
Total current assets REEEHLE 6,324 357
Total assets EEHLE 76,666 61,837
Current liabilities REaE
Accruals and other payables FERTE A R E AR FRIE 2,287 10,896
Current tax liabilities BIHATR I & & 28 -
Loans due to shareholders e FRRERAER 21,237 1,657
Loans due to a director BT —REZEENER 673 717
Total current liabilities RBAERAE 24,225 13,270
Net current liabilities REBEEFEE (17,901) (12,913
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBEE 52,441 48,567
NET ASSETS BEEFRE 52,441 48,567
Equity attributable to owners of AAREEAELER
the Company
Share capital [ 25 13,188 11,788
Reserves G 27 39,253 36,779
TOTAL EQUITY AR 52,441 48,567

*

On behalf of the board of directors

=P
5 %

Philip Jian Yang
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29. LEASES

The Group leases offices in several places. The
leases typically run for a period of one to three years.
Lease payments are renegotiated every one to three
years to reflect market rentals. For certain leases, the
Group is restricted from entering into any sub-lease
arrangements.

Information about leases for which the Group is a
lessee is presented below.

Notes to the Consolidate

29. HE

-
RIN=

for the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—Z-ZFTSHA=T—HIEFE

AEBRETHHEERAE - HH—KNF—

—F - HENFE—E=

FTENER o RET

MEME - AREERFFILEM DAL

BRAASEAREAZHEFB27/MT -

(i) Right-of-use assets (i) FERAEEE
Properties
LYES
RMB’000
AR%T T
Balance at 1 January 2019 R—H— B4 934
Additions nNE 2,938
Depreciation charge for the year (note 10) FRITEIH(MEE10) (1,365)
Balance at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 #— A —H®& 2,507
Additions nNE 944
Depreciation charge for the year (note 10) FATESZH(H77E10) (1,524)
Exchange realignment M 4 8 B (37)
Balance at 31 December 2020 R+ A=+—H8&ER 1,890
(i) Lease liabilities (i) HEAE
At 31 December 2020 At 31 December 2019
R-EEF RZZE—NF
+=ZRA=+—H +=-—A=+—~H
Present Present
value of value of
minimum  Minimum minimum Minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
BREHAE RBREEAE HEHE KEHEE
HREE =% HFERE (DB
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR¥TFR ARETIT ARETIT
Within one year —&FR 2,124 2,215 1,315 1,522
After one year but within —FREMER
2 years 501 532 1,259 1,378
2,625 2,747 2,574 2,900
Less: total future interest BT ARRH BRI
expenses “asE (122) (326)
Present value of lease liabilites ~fFAEBEIRE 2,625 2,574
Analysed for reporting BRERBI
purpose as:
Current liabilities mENaE 2,124 1,315
Non-current liabilities EMBEE 501 1,259
2,625 2,574
FEHAIEERERLAE T oTFEFERE
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29. LEASES (CONTINUED) 29. HE(E)
(iii) Amount recognised in profit or loss (i) RIBFHPREEZKE
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREF T
For continuing operations: PIEAEEBEME -
Interest on lease liabilities (note 14) HEBENE(Hit14) 253 261
Expenses relating to short-term leases HEAEEEENHAX
(note 10) (Hiz10) - 709
253 970
For discontinued operation: BERIBELERENE -
Expenses relating to short-term leases ~ ER%E EAFE &S ARIHIR - 673
253 1,643
(iv) Amounts recognised in statement of cash (ivy RESRERTERAZNE
flows
2020 2019
—B-EHF —E-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREF T
Total cash outflow for leases HERSMIL LT 1,072 1,577
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30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@)

In addition to the transactions and balances
disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the
following significant transactions with related
parties during the year:

30.

Notes to the Consolidate

-
RIN=

for the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—Z-ZFTSHA=T—HIEFE

RELTRS

@)

FRUESHEEMBERRAMBOAEERS RE
BTN REARRERAESEATEAKX
5

2020 2019
% _—TNF
Related party relationship Type of transaction RMB’000 RMB’000
BESEF REER ARETT AREKTT
Shareholder A (note) ~ BRRA(H1E) Salaries e 75 75
Shareholder B (note) ~ BxEB(#7:t) Salaries e 75 75
Director A BEA Lease payment MENK 570 912
Director A EEA Rental Deposit HEZe - 190
Non-controlling —HEREARZ Sales HE
interests A of a FEIE R ZRA
subsidiary 3,226 3,593
Non-controlling —EREARZ Purchase REE
interests A of a IR A
subsidiary 3,981 -

Note: The shareholders are the controlling
shareholders of the Group

The amounts due from non-controlling interests
of subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand or due within 1
year. The balance includes the receivable from
trade of RMB4,450,000. No ECL provision
was recognised as management assessed the
effect is immaterial.

The loans due to the controlling shareholders
are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand or due within 1 year.

The loans due to a director are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand or due
within 1 year.

The remuneration of directors and other

Hiet  IRRRAR R BHEARPR -

F& WS /B8 1 A 2 FEAE B s SRR S R
EEREXRFEELN—FREH - ZEHE
BB PR HRIEANR4,450,0007T © AT
ETEEXN  VEEREW EMEEEERR

ﬁo

(© RNEERBRREFSERA - 28 NMNELE

BRI —FAZH -

() RNEY—REZFEFLEET - 2ERREXRE

BEIN—FAZH -

© BEERHEMIZEBEKENFAZIFTMNM

members of key management during the year ™
was as follows:
2020 2019
i —E-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARETTT
Wages and salaries TENES 4,119 4157
Social insurance and housing fund tERBEEFEAES - 119
Mandatory provident fund BHEIEATES 52 48
4171 4,324
FEASERERAE —ToTEEEHRE 204



BE-Z_THI-A=1+—HLEFE

31.

SUBSIDIARIES

The particulars of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020 are as follows:

ated Financial Statements

31. MELF

= —=

PiN/NYST) St
AIFFBIT ¢

Particulars of

FTZA=+t—HANZENBL

issued and
paid up
Country share capital/
and date of Place of operation and registered Percentage of
Name incorporation principal activity capital ownership interests
AL ERK EEWRR BRTRES
£8 A TEEH HEMBRAFE RERRDL
Directly Indirectly
B i
New Talent Media Company PRC PRC, Investment holding HK$71,270,000 - 100%
Limited 25 Dec 2013
I REE L ERBRAA REZE-=F hEl - REER 71,270,000/ 7T
+-A-+%A
Starry Knight Entertainment PRC PRC, Program production RMB3,000,000 - 100%
Co., Ltd.* 3 Sep 2009 and event organisation
I RAERG BRI E R HEZZETNE R - B BEREE AR #3,000,0007T
AR A NLR=H i
Beijing Joy Star Production PRC PRC, Program production RMB3,000,000 - 100%
Co., Ltd.* 27 Dec 2006 and event organisation
I RAFEBTE L EE HEIZZTREF R - B BEREE AR #3,000,0007T
BRLA +ZRA=++A i
Beijing New Image Media PRC PRC, Program production RMB3,000,000 - 100%
Co. Ltd.** 23 Feb 2005
IERE B AU ERE HEZEThE I - B E B AR #3,000,0007T
BRLA —“A=t+=8
Beijing Great Wise Media PRC PRC, Program production RMB3,000,000 - 100%
Co., Ltd.* 17 Jul 2003
IERRBEE X EE HEZET=4F - B E BE AR #3,000,0007T
BRLA +tA++A
Beijing Emphasis Media Co. Ltd.* PRC PRC, Program production RMB6,000,000 - 100%
17 Jul 2002 and event organisation
IRERDREHEER LR HEZETF R - B BEREE AR #6,000,0007T
+tA++H i
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December 2020

BE-Z-ZFTZA=+—HLFE

SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 31. KMEAR(E)
Particulars of
issued and
paid up
Country share capital/
and date of Place of operation and registered Percentage of
Name incorporation principal activity capital ownership interests
A L ERK EEWER ERITRES
% A TEXK MR FrERBD
Directly Indirectly
E# LE:3
Beijing Yiju Creative Technology ~ PRC PRC, Provision of mobile RMB1,260,000 - 80%
Limited* 3 Nov 2014 live broadcasting,
e-commerce services
and program production
IR FBREBERRARAF BT —mE PR RAEBEER AR #1,260,0007T
+—A=H BEERBREE RE
CCH Entertainment Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong, Event HK$10,000 - 100%
9 May 2018 organisation and artist
management
PR EREFR AR BEE_T-N\F BB EBERREA 10,0007 7T
LANE &
Creative China Concerts Limited ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong, Concert and HK$100 - 90%
4 Jul2018 event organisation
PEAIEEERRAR BEE_T-N\F R ORERNEBEM 100 7T
+RAmA
. For identification purpose only. . EHER -
¢ The entities are the PRC Contractual Entities which ‘ ERATEANER  BRAARZEMNBLE R

are deemed to be and accounted for as wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company, details of which
are set out in the Report of the Directors of the Annual
Report and Note 4(b) to the consolidated financial

statements. These entities constitute the whole of
the Group’s operations in 3 operating and reportable
segments of the Group: (i) program production, (i)
mobile live broadcasting and e-commerce and (iii)
artist management during the years.

4() °
WA ERERS ¢ (V6P B BUE - (VBB E R R BB (i)
NS

It

AR HBRAFHEFSRE REAMBWMEMTE

SERBFABNAER 2L = (AL ERAT2

HEAIRZERERAR

T BEEERE
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for the year ended
BHE-Z-_ZETTA=+-ALFE

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

ated Financial Statements

32. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32. ERMIARAAREFEZHE

The following table shows the categories of financial TRITHMEARERN SR T AR
instruments recognised at end of reporting period:

2020 2019
—s-%F —T AF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT ARETT

Financial assets

Financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss
— Unlisted equity investment measured

TEMEE
AR EG AR BEE

—RAREF ARSI LT

at FVPL R & 5,000 5,000
At amortised cost FLEERE S R
— Cash and bank balances —IR& RIRTTHEH 11,379 11,539
— Trade and other receivables — B 5 R EMEWFIR 20,751 20,887
Financial liabilities S@Aas
At amortised cost R A D R
— Trade payables —BSEMNFIE 73,496 91,139
— Other payables —HMhfET5RIE 37,344 27,060
— Loans due to shareholders —RIFBRRHER 21,237 8,105
- Loans due to a director —RIN—RBREZEENER 1,178 1,254
— Lease liabilities —HEaE 2,625 2,674
Financial instruments not measured at fair value WHEARBEFENEM T ARFERE MIRITA
include cash and bank balances, trade and other th B REMERFIE  EHMEMEFKIE -
receivables, trade and other payables, loans due RNBRER RS —2EZERRAEEE -
to shareholders, loans due to a director and lease
liabilities.
Due to their short-term nature, the carrying value of BRRECEHAME  ZEem T AZREERER
these financial instruments approximates to its fair NAERSE
value.
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for the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—Z-ZFTSHA=T—HIEFE

32. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32, SRTEARAAEBENEZBREGE)

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements AREFE

The following tables provide an analysis of financial TRERTEVSBRERAAEFENERIA

instruments that are measured at fair value on a BT RIBALNBEAEBEENEESAE—RESE

recurring basis subsequent to initial recognition at =RBEZ_EFRFE-NFTZA=T—

fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the HIEFE -8 F-RARE=HEAWEES o

degree to which the fair value is observable. There is

no transfer between level 1, level 2 and level 3 during

the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

- Level 1 fair value measurements are those — BHAnEFEARBHEREELEEGENE
derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in BHin 2 MECREHAR)BE -
active market for identical assets or liabilities.

- Level 2 fair value measurements are those — BIRARERERREE —RFAEHRE N
derived from inputs other than quoted prices ZABREES BB ASURERE (BIER) K
included within Level 1 that are observable for A (AHREREE S -
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices)
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

- Level 3 fair value measurements are those — B=HAnERERREBELIEATERM
derived from valuation techniques that include SHIERERZEEXNABEH ASECIAE
inputs for the asset or liability that are not RZBASE) 2 AERMEL -
based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).

Fair value as at  Fair value as at
31 December 31 December Fair value
2020 2019 hierarchy
RIEZEFE RIZNF
+=ZH=+-B +=-A=+—H
ZANRE ZRANE DRAEBR
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREFTT
Financial assets TRIEE
Unlisted equity investment BARERTABENIELT
measured at FVPL feiEIR & 5,000 5000 Level 3E=4

FERAISERERAT T _TEFERS
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for the year ended

BE-Z_THI-A=1+—HLEFE

32.

33.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements (continued)
Unlisted equity investment measured at FVPL

As at 31 December 2020, the unlisted equity
investment represents retained interests in Capital
Land. The fair value is determined by reference to
the latest market transaction involving the financial
instrument which is also the consideration from the
Group’s disposal in subsequent period. At such,
the Directors of the Company considered that the
fair value of the retained interest is approximately
to RMB5,000,000 as at 31 December 2020 (2019:
RMB5,000,000).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments in the normal course of the Group’s
business are credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk
and currency risk.

(@) Creditrisk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not
meet its obligations under a financial instrument
or customer contract, leading to a financial loss.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is primarily
attributable to its trade and other receivables
and bank deposits.
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32.

33.

EMIARAABEFEZHEGE)
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AENRIEMMSERS  AEERRENBZIHE
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

In respect of trade and other receivables, the
Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of
each debtor and significant concentrations of
credit risk primarily arise when the Group has
significant exposure to individual customers. At
the end of reporting period, 66% (2019: 80%)
and 83% (2019: 100%) of trade receivables
was due from one debtor and two largest
debtors respectively. 46% (2019: 45%) and
100% (2019: 99%) of other receivables was
due from one debtor and five largest debtors
respectively.

Trade receivables

Management measured the credit risk of
these balances by making ECLs provision,
which trade receivables were assessed based
on respective credit risk characteristics and
the days past due, and the ECLs calculation
reflects the probability-weighted outcome,
the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at
the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions. The maximum exposure of these
balances to credit risk at the reporting date
is the carrying value of each class of financial
assets disclosed in note 20. The Group does
not hold collateral as security.

33.

Notes to the Consolidate

for the year 31 December 2020
BE-Z-ZHETSA=F+—ALFE

Bt R B ()

(a)

FERR ()

AEZMEMERRENS  AEENEER
REEZREEFAMAFEOZE M
SEUENEFPEEARRE  TEELE
REEETRR - RBEHR - EHEUFIA
B66%(—F—NF : 80%) &k83%(=ZFE—N
F 1 100%) DRI A —REHALMEHRAE
BA - MEAMEYFRIENI6%(—F—NF :
45%) K 100%( ZZ—NF : 99%) H Rl E —
HEBARABRRAEBA -

BESEUSE

EEERET TR EEBRREEELHRER
MEERE - RESENEERREFE AL
AYFHEE S REGR - BHEERENGE
RERBEE ISR - ERHSHEEENLR T
ERHAESHRNEBEEN - BRI RY
ARG BRI TN AR R A SEER - R
TR ZFERYEERRNS KA S
F2OMMBE BN S REREENRAE - A5H
I R A AR G VR R R

FERAISERERAT T _TEFERS
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for the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-_Z_THFt-A=+—HLFE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

Other receivables

Management measured the expected credit
loss of other receivables by using 12-month

expected credit loss.

The below table reconcile the movement in the

ated Financial Statements

33. MBEBREE(HE)
(@ FERREGE
At ER 7R
EEERA12EA AR EREERTEEMERK
RIENTRHEEERE -

TRBFNE F EUGRIA N A R IR 2R

impairment loss of trade and other receivables BEEEE 2 4k :
for the year:
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREF T
At beginning of year REH] 1,351 4,589
Impairment for the year FARIAE 412 -
Reversal for the year FREL - (3,238)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—fNBAR (590) -
At end of year RER 1,173 1,351

Management has a credit policy in place where
individual credit evaluations are performed on
all customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s background, past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific
to the customers as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the customers
operate. Generally, debtors with balances
that are more than 30 days past due are
requested to settle all outstanding balances
before any further credit is granted. With strict
credit control and monitoring of exposures of
trade and other receivables to credit risks on
an ongoing basis, management believe the
Group’s credit risk exposure to trade and other
receivables has been appropriately mitigated.

Bank deposits are held in major financial
institutions which management believes are of
high credit quality with no significant exposure
to credit risk.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management,
including the short term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands, subject to approval
by the parent company’s board when the
borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels
of authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor its liquidity requirements and its
compliance with lending covenants, to ensure
that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

The following tables detail the Group’s
remaining contractual maturity for its non-
derivative financial liabilities. The tables reflect
the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The tables
include both interest and principal cash flows.

Notes to the Consolidate

=]
AR
for the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—Z-ZFTSHA=T—HIEFE

33. MBEBREE(HE)

(b)

RBETER

$%@73ﬁ’21l%%&%§%%%§§ ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
 BRETEHRSBMIRERBEETA

J?EH?E,HJ%EEiHEA HE e 55 Aﬁ_iﬂfﬁﬁ‘ﬁfimz

ETERBEKFER  ARSBARESFS 2
o AEBNBRRREHRERERBESHFR
REBEZHNNEREBENR - ﬁﬁ{%ﬁ?ﬁﬁ%%‘fﬁ
THRBMIGIECHBBEAABEER
B AENREHRBESFER -

TRAMAEETESRABGEZRHRELE
HER - RERRRIEAEEAEEEZRFH
HAEESRAGBEIARTRRERE - RBE
?E%'JE\&$§EE§MLE ©

Total Within More than
contractual 1 year or 1 year but
Carrying undiscounted repayable less than
amount cash flow  on demand 2 years
ENRITE —FRG —F%
REE HERELE REXREE BRER
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR%TR AR%TR AR%T=x
At 31 December 2020 R-E-F&+-B=+-H

Trade payables B IENFIE 73,496 73,496 24,596 48,900
Other payables HibEfsua 37,344 37,344 37,344 -
Lease liabilities HEEE 2,625 2,747 2,215 532
Loans due to shareholders ERTRENER 21,237 21,237 21,237 -
Loans due 1o a director B F—2EZHNER 1,178 1,178 1,178 -
135,880 136,002 86,570 49,432

FRAZERERAT —T-TEFEHRE
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for the year ended

BE-Z_THI-A=1+—HLEFE

(b)

ated Financial Statements

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 33. HMERRERE(E)
Liquidity risk (continued) (b) REESEM(E)
Total Within More than
contractual 1 year or 1 year but
Carrying  undiscounted repayable less than 2
amount cash flow on demand years
BNFRITE —FA% —Fi&
FEE BReRsERs® REkEEER BRER
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®TT AR®Tr  AR%®T
At 31 December 2019 RZZE-hLE+ZA=+-H
Trade payables B ENFE 91,139 96,143 47,243 48,900
Other payables HioEfz0a 27,060 27,060 27,060 -
Lease liabilities HEEE 2,574 2,900 1,522 1,378
Loans due to shareholders FERTRRMER 8,105 8,105 8,105 -
Loans due to a director ERT—2EZNER 1,254 1,254 1,254 -
130,132 135,462 85,184 50,278
Interest rate risk (c) FZEER

(¢)

(d)

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets and liabilities, the Group’s income
and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rate.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk on
certain of its financial instruments which are
denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the operations to which
they relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk
is primarily HK$ and USD and their principal
amounts in the foreign currency are stated
below.

(d)

AR S L A AR B AR A - A
KBA WA BALER S REBTATSFIR
B8 -

EWER

AEEmENEERBRAEEETERTA
REEZEEMINEEE AN 2 EHEEHE -
ELSREBRNEE TR /BITRET - MRS
KAHENTIZSBIIRAT -

2020 2019
—ECEE —E-hE

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT

Assets BE 7,889 637
Liabilities afE (4,415) (11,676)
3,474 (11,039)
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for the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—Z-ZFTSHA=T—HIEFE

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 33. HMERRERE(E)
Currency risk (continued) BEERE (&)

2020 2019

gt 222 —T-hEF

US$’000 US$'000

ExTr ErxTr

Assets 4 15

Liabilities (850) (1,820)

(846) (1,805)

The following table indicates the approximate
change in the Group’s profit for the year and
accumulated losses in response to reasonably
possible changes in the foreign exchange rates
to which the Group has significant exposure at
the end of reporting period. A negative number
below indicates a decrease in profit and
increase in accumulated losses where the RMB
weakens against the relevant currency. For a
strengthening of the RMB against the relevant
currency, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the profit and accumulated losses,
and the balances below would be positive.

TRIRAEBEFNR A R Rt EBRANEE
EHERREARLEAINEE RS IER]EE S
MELNRNES) - TRABBBERMHEARS
AEMEBRE BHERS MR EESE
me MAREEEBERETHE - ¥EM K Rat
EBEEEBERRNSEZE M FR2EHRER
L2 -

At 31 December 2020 As at December 2019
RZBZZF+ZA RZZ-NF+ZA

Effect on Effect on
profit for profit for
Increase in the year Increase in the year
foreign and foreign and
exchange accumulated exchange  accumulated
rate losses rate losses
HER HER
AR it I
HEER REER HMNE Sy
&0 V%8 B 32 M2
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBF T AREFT
HKD BT 5% 146 5% (494)
usb ET 5% (276) 5% (630)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined
assuming that the change in foreign exchange
rates had occurred at the end of the reporting
period and had been applied to each of the
group entities; exposure to currency risk for
both derivative and non-derivative financial
instruments in existence at that date, and that
all other variables, in particular interest rates,
remain constant.

BUBE DT TR 35000 35 65 HIREE R B 2 (1,
BEA  FOERMRAEESERE - MEER
HTE RIEHTE S BT A2 W AR %A BE
A VBT R R (R R R IR ) e

N

= e

FERAISERERAT T _TEFERS
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for the year ended 31 December 2020
BE_Z-ZEH A=+ —-ALFE

33.

34.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(d) Currency risk (continued)

The stated changes represent management’s
assessment of reasonably possible changes
in foreign exchange rates over the period until
the next annual reporting date. Results of
the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the effects on
each of the group entities’ profit or loss for the
year and equity measured in the respective
functional currencies, translated into RMB at
the exchange rate ruling at the end of reporting
period for presentation purposes.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objective of managing capital is to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to reduce cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue
new shares or sell assets to reduce debts.

The capital structure of the Group consists of
equity attributable to owners of the Company of
RMB67,494,000 only, comprising share capital and
reserves.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts,
which includes the loans due to shareholders and the
loans due to a director, cash and cash equivalents
and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising share capital and reserves. The Group’s
risk management reviews the capital structure actively
and regularly. As part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of gearing
ratio. The ratio is calculated as net debt divided by
total equity. Net debt is calculated as total debt less
cash and cash equivalents.

The Group was in a net debt position as at 31
December 2020. The Group’s gearing ratio, as
calculated by dividing the Group’s net debt by the
Group’s total equity, as at 31 December 2020 is
approximately 16.35% (2019: N/A).
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Bt R B ()
(d) E¥EkERE)

PRl EiEE R BN EE NFERRA IS
BEXEREHIRAIBEE) 2 ¥ E o LR
ROMZ EREHEEE TS ERIZEENEE
ERAEURBERRERBESAREIA
T2z BOFRBE MR P EERT

34. EXERE

AEBEZEAERBRDRENSENFESE -
LA 75 PSSR HR £ [0 % 2 /45 EL A ) a5 AR B & SR AR 2
HRREENEBAURDERKA

RRFTRABREARE  AEEX G FHABIRMNIIR
MRS  RREADTR  BRITHRIHEEE
PARL A BT o

AEBEARBETEARNT A AREERZAR
#67,494,000 T (BRI A K ) -

AEBERRBEEER(REEMN TRRNER R
BNT—REZENEHR) R RRSFEBYMULAE
REEA ANEGED(BRBRARER) - NEED
RREReRE R ERRagEEARE  EHERE
BeEREARAREREARBBALR -

AEERBEEANBBLREREANRN - BEAR
LR ERFRRAE R BB E - EFRRE
BRBRRE MRS EYE -

R-F-FF+-_A=1+—8  AKEBRESEHKF
BMoR_TTFE+_RA=+—RH KrEENEE
BEER(RARENESFERARNEENESE
BT E)AR16.35%(ZF—NF : TEA) °




34. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes to the Consolidate

34. EFXREE(H)

The gearing ratio at the end of reporting period was as RRERR - EEBELERNT ¢
follows:
2020 2019
—ECEF —ZE-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREFIT
Debt B 22,415 9,359
Cash and cash equivalents Be MREEEY 11,379 11,539
Net debt BEBIFRE 11,036 (2,180)
Equity s 67,494 38,118
Net debt to equity ratio B FREE s L R 16.35% N/AZT 3@
FEAEERERATE —T_TFEFEHRS
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FROM FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES

35. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

ated Financial Statements

35. BMEEDELANESEHR

Amount due
to non-
Other Shareholders’  Director’s Lease  controlling
borrowing loans loans liabilities interest Total
B
HipfER BREER BEEEX HEEE MWERRE Ehb
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT AR%ETR
(note 29)
(Hiit29)
At 31 December 2018 RZZ-\$+-_A=1—H 5,000 4,084 - - - 9,084
Initial adoption of HKFRS 16 ERFAA BRI R 2£8
F16% - - - 934 - 934
At 1 January 2019 RZE-145—A-AH 5,000 4,034 - 934 - 9,968
Changes from cash flows; BEmERT
Proceeds from shareholders' ~ 1REURE &
loans - 14,259 - - - 14,259
Repayment of shareholders’ EERRER
loans - (10,300) - - - (10,300)
Proceeds from director’s ROEZEH
loans - - 1,240 - - 1,240
Repayment of lease liabiities ~ EEMEEE - - - (1577) - (1577)
Proceeds from loan from REGEHERER 2 B3
non-controlling interests - - - - 600 600
Total changes from financing &R £ HE 2804
cash flows - 3,959 1,240 (1,577) 600 4,222
Effect of foreign exchange rate ~ [EREE) 2 ¥/ 2
changes - 112 14 18 - 144
Other changes: EEE
Interest expenses SR - - - 261 - 261
Addition of lease liabiliies IEHESE - - - 2,938 - 2,938
Derecognised upon disposal of  tHE—RIMBAT% K LRER
a subsidiary (5,000) - - - (600) (5,600)
Total other changes A2 e)ias (5,000) 112 14 3,217 (600) (2,257)
At 31 December 2019 and RZF-NF+-R=1-H
1 January 2020 R=E-FF-f-H - 8,105 1,254 2,574 - 11,933
Changes from cash flows: RENEED:
Proceeds from shareholders’  RIUREER
loans - 26,856 - - - 26,856
Repayment of shareholders’ EERRER
loans - (12,750) - - - (12,750)
Repayment of lease liabiities ~ EBEEEEE - - - (1,072) - (1,072)
Total changes from financing &R £ 2804
cash flows - 14,106 - (1,072) - 13,034
Effect of foreign exchangerate ~ [EXEE v F/&
changes - 974 (76) (74) - (1,124)
Other changes: i)
Interest expenses iy - - - 253 - 253
Addition of lease liabilties MERERE - - - 944 - 944
Total other changes Hin2e)ias - (074) (76) 1,123 - 73
At 31 December 2020 WZEZZF+-A=1—H - 21,237 1,178 2,625 - 25,040
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36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 36. BEARRIE
The Group had the following commitments at the end REERmEREEB AT EARAE :
of the reporting period:

2020 2019
—E-BHF —T-hEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥EF T ARETT
Contracted, but not provided BRT4) - R ARETIE R R 52,300 -
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A summary of the consolidated results and assets, AEBBETARMBRFEENGAEEEREE  BF  #x
liabilities, equity and non-controlling interests of the Group PE ST e Eay sl N
for the last 5 financial years is set out below:
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=t+—-HLEE
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
—E—RF ZE2—+tF Z=-N\F ZT-hF ZBIEF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000
ARETITT ARBTRT ARETT ARBTT AR¥TR
Continuing
operations
RESULTS ES
Turnover BT 78,435 20,085 15,365 48,124 45,664
Profit/(loss) before BRETSRATE R,
income tax (E18) (22,378) (79,980) (68,014) 45 20,132
Income tax (expense)/credit  FTSR(FIs),”
i) 4,669 189 (4,627) (260) (76)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREH, (E8) (17,709) (79,791) (72,641) (215) 20,056
Attributable to: FEML -
Owners of the Company RATHEB A (16,138) (73,292) (72,286) (95) 20,003
Non-controlling interests FEIERE (1,571) (6,499) (355) (120) 53
(17,709) (79,791) (72,641) (215) 20,056
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—H
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
—E-RF —T—+tF —T-)\F —TNF ZB-EE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTFIT ARETRT ARETT ARBTT AR¥TxR
ASSETS, LIABILITIESAND X% - 8K
NON-CONTROLLING FrER R
INTERESTS
Total assets BERE 168,187 129,965 130,299 188,816 223,075
Total liabilities BfERsE (29,568) (24,389) (90,558) (150,852) (155,675)
Net assets EEFE 138,619 105,576 39,741 37,964 67,400
Non-controlling interests FERE A T (9,682) (3,179) (3,116) 154 94
Equity attributable to the ZIN/NCIEZ SN
owners of the Company JE(E =S 128,937 102,397 36,625 38,118 67,494

The above summary does not form a part of the

consolidated financial statements of the Company.
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